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Section 2—Financial Information

Item 2.01. Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.

On July 26, 2012, United Technologies Corporation (“UTC”) filed a Current Report on Form 8-K (the “Initial Form 8-K”) with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) reporting that on July 26, 2012 UTC consummated the merger contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as
of September 21, 2011 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among UTC, Charlotte Lucas Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of UTC (“Merger Sub”), and
Goodrich Corporation (“Goodrich”), which resulted in the merger of Merger Sub with and into Goodrich (the “Merger”), with Goodrich continuing as the
surviving corporation of the Merger and a wholly owned subsidiary of UTC. The description of the Merger and other transactions contemplated by the Merger
Agreement contained herein does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Merger Agreement which was filed
as Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 23, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference.

This Current Report on Form 8-K/A is being filed to amend and supplement the Initial Form 8-K to provide the financial statements described in Item 9.01
below which were not previously filed with the Initial Form 8-K, and which are permitted to be filed by amendment no later than 71 calendar days after the date
the Initial Form 8-K was required to be filed with the SEC.

Section 9—Financial Statements and Exhibits

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.
 

(a) Financial Statements of a Business Acquired.

Goodrich’s audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended, and as of, December 31, 2011 and unaudited consolidated financial
statements for the quarter ended, and as of, March 31, 2012, which were included in Goodrich’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2011 and Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2012, respectively, are attached as Exhibit 99.1 and Exhibit 99.2 to
this Form 8-K/A and incorporated herein by reference.
 
(b) Pro Forma Financial Information.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information related to the Merger is attached as Exhibit 99.3 to this Form 8-K/A and incorporated
herein by reference.
 
(d) Exhibits
 
Exhibit
Number   Description

Exhibit 15.1   Letter Re Unaudited Interim Financial Information

Exhibit 23.1   Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

Exhibit 99.1   Goodrich Corporation audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011.

Exhibit 99.2   Goodrich Corporation unaudited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2012

Exhibit 99.3   Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information



Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Statements in this report that are not historical are forward-looking statements made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “believe,” “expect,” “expectations,” “plans,” “strategy,”
“prospects,” “estimate,” “project,” “target,” “anticipate,” “will,” “should,” “see,” “guidance,” “confident” and other words of similar meaning in connection with
a discussion of future operating or financial performance. It is uncertain whether the events anticipated will transpire, or if they do occur what impact they will
have on the results of operations and financial condition of UTC, Goodrich and their affiliates. These forward looking statements involve significant risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated, including but not limited to risks that the transactions contemplated by the
Merger Agreement disrupt plans and operations of UTC, UTC’s ability to realize anticipated synergies, UTC’s ability to achieve anticipated financial results, the
amount of costs, fees, expenses and charges incurred by UTC and Goodrich related to the transaction, the risks associated with international business operations,
the risks associated with governance and control matters, and changes in vendor, payer and customer relationships and terms. Other important economic, political,
regulatory, legal, technological, competitive and other uncertainties are identified in the SEC filings submitted by UTC from time to time, including its Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Annual Reports on Form 10-K, and Current Reports on Form 8-K. The forward looking statements included in this Report are made only
as of the date of this Report. UTC does not undertake any obligation to update the forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent events or circumstances.



SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Dated: October 11, 2012
 

UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

By:  /S/ GREGORY J. HAYES            

 Gregory J. Hayes
 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit
Number   Description

Exhibit 15.1   Letter Re Unaudited Interim Financial Information

Exhibit 23.1   Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

Exhibit 99.1   Goodrich Corporation audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011.

Exhibit 99.2   Goodrich Corporation unaudited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2012

Exhibit 99.3   Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information



Exhibit 15.1

October 11, 2012

The Shareholders of United Technologies Corporation
 

We are aware of the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement of United Technologies Corporation on Form S-3 (No. 333-167771) as amended by
Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 on Form S-3 (No. 333-167771), Registration Statement on Form S-4 (No. 333-77991) as amended by Post-Effective
Amendment No. 1 on Form S-8 (No. 333-77991) and Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-177520, 333-177517, 333-175781, 333-175780, 333-
156390, 333-150643, 333-125293, 333-110020, 333-100724, 333-100723, 333-100718, 333-82911, 333-77817, 333-21853, 333-21851, 033-51385 and 333-
183123) of our report dated April 26, 2012 relating to the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of Goodrich Corporation that are
included in its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012.
 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
 

Charlotte, North Carolina
October 11, 2012



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in United Technologies Corporation’s Registration Statement Form S-3 (No. 333-167771) as amended by Post-
Effective Amendment No. 1 on Form S-3 (No. 333-167771), Registration Statement on Form S-4 (No. 333-77991) as amended by Post-Effective Amendment
No. 1 on Form S-8 (No. 333-77991) and Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-177520, 333-177517, 333-175781, 333-175780, 333-156390, 333-
150643, 333-125293, 333-110020, 333-100724, 333-100723, 333-100718, 333-82911, 333-77817, 333-21853, 333-21851, 033-51385 and 333-183123) of our
reports dated February 23, 2012, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Goodrich Corporation and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting of Goodrich Corporation included in Goodrich Corporation’s Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2011, filed with
the Securities Exchange Commission.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
October 11, 2012



Exhibit 99.1

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Shareholders and Board of Directors of Goodrich Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Goodrich Corporation as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related
consolidated statements of income, cash flows, and equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2011. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Goodrich
Corporation at December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2011, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Goodrich Corporation’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 23, 2012 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
February 23, 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Shareholders and Board of Directors of Goodrich Corporation

We have audited Goodrich Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria).
Goodrich Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that
a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Goodrich Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2011, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
balance sheets of Goodrich Corporation as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of income, cash flows and
equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2011 of Goodrich Corporation and our report dated February 23, 2012
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
February 23, 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
 
   Year Ended December 31,  
   2011   2010   2009  

   
(Dollars in millions, except per share

amounts)  
Sales   $8,074.9   $6,966.9   $6,685.6  
Operating costs and expenses:     

Cost of sales    5,502.8    4,843.9    4,724.1  
Selling and administrative costs    1,236.3    1,124.7    1,032.3  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   6,739.1    5,968.6    5,756.4  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Operating Income    1,335.8    998.3    929.2  
Interest expense    (138.7)   (137.5)   (121.0) 
Interest income    0.9    1.2    1.1  
Other income (expense) — net    (33.5)   (57.1)   (25.2) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Income from continuing operations before income taxes    1,164.5    804.9    784.1  
Income tax expense    (346.0)   (220.5)   (207.8) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Income From Continuing Operations    818.5    584.4    576.3  
Income from discontinued operations — net of income taxes    0.3    2.2    34.5  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Consolidated Net Income    818.8    586.6    610.8  
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests    (8.4)   (7.9)   (13.5) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net Income Attributable to Goodrich   $ 810.4   $ 578.7   $ 597.3  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Amounts attributable to Goodrich:     
Income from continuing operations   $ 810.1   $ 576.5   $ 562.8  
Income from discontinued operations — net of income taxes    0.3    2.2    34.5  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net Income Attributable to Goodrich   $ 810.4   $ 578.7   $ 597.3  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Earnings per common share attributable to Goodrich:     
Basic Earnings Per Share     

Continuing operations   $ 6.39   $ 4.54   $ 4.47  
Discontinued operations    —    0.02    0.28  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net Income Attributable to Goodrich   $ 6.39   $ 4.56   $ 4.75  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted Earnings Per Share     
Continuing operations   $ 6.33   $ 4.50   $ 4.43  
Discontinued operations    —    0.01    0.27  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net Income Attributable to Goodrich   $ 6.33   $ 4.51   $ 4.70  
    

 

   

 

   

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2011 and 2010

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
 
   December 31,  
   2011   2010  

   
(Dollars in millions,

except share amounts)  
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 987.0   $ 798.9  
Accounts and notes receivable — net    1,343.2    1,102.7  
Inventories — net    2,876.6    2,449.4  
Deferred income taxes    197.8    158.3  
Prepaid expenses and other assets    60.0    68.1  
Income taxes receivable    —    93.7  

    
 

   
 

Total Current Assets    5,464.6    4,671.1  
    

 
   

 

Property, plant and equipment — net    1,633.2    1,521.5  
Goodwill    1,991.0    1,762.2  
Identifiable intangible assets — net    917.2    675.8  
Deferred income taxes    36.4    16.4  
Other assets    671.3    624.6  

    
 

   
 

Total Assets   $10,713.7   $9,271.6  
    

 

   

 

Current Liabilities    
Short-term debt   $ 25.0   $ 4.1  
Accounts payable    768.8    514.0  
Accrued expenses    1,211.1    1,041.8  
Income taxes payable    45.8    2.9  
Deferred income taxes    23.3    28.1  
Current maturities of long-term debt and capital lease obligations    1.6    1.5  

    
 

   
 

Total Current Liabilities    2,075.6    1,592.4  
    

 
   

 

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations    2,374.4    2,352.8  
Pension obligations    904.3    556.7  
Postretirement benefits other than pensions    286.2    296.9  
Long-term income taxes payable    174.0    150.7  
Deferred income taxes    560.5    431.2  
Other non-current liabilities    600.2    503.1  
Shareholders’ Equity    
Common stock — $5 par value    
Authorized 200,000,000 shares; issued 149,713,719 shares at December 31, 2011 and 148,213,331 shares at

December 31, 2010 (excluding 14,000,000 shares held by a wholly owned subsidiary)    748.6    741.1  
Additional paid-in capital    1,870.7    1,751.2  
Income retained in the business    3,190.3    2,527.2  
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    (1,011.2)   (676.1) 
Common stock held in treasury, at cost (24,422,527 shares at

December 31, 2011 and 23,259,865 shares at December 31, 2010)    (1,098.3)   (996.5) 
    

 
   

 

Total Shareholders’ Equity    3,700.1    3,346.9  
Noncontrolling interests    38.4    40.9  

    
 

   
 

Total Equity    3,738.5    3,387.8  
    

 
   

 

Total Liabilities And Equity   $10,713.7   $9,271.6  
    

 

   

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 

4



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2011   2010   2009  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Operating Activities     
Consolidated net income   $ 818.8   $ 586.6   $ 610.8  
Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net income to net cash provided by operating activities:     
(Income) loss from discontinued operations    (0.3)   (2.2)   (34.5) 
Restructuring and consolidation:     

Expenses    29.6    7.3    21.6  
Payments    (10.1)   (6.2)   (13.6) 

Pension and postretirement benefits:     
Expenses    102.1    180.2    199.5  
Contributions and benefit payments    (119.4)   (471.3)   (271.8) 

Depreciation and amortization    310.1    280.1    249.3  
Excess tax benefits related to share-based payment arrangements    (15.6)   (21.9)   (5.0) 
Share-based compensation expense    105.1    81.4    66.7  
Loss on extinguishment of debt    —    34.9    —  
Deferred income taxes    97.6    156.7    139.4  
Change in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and divestitures:     

Receivables    (197.0)   (15.8)   44.8  
Inventories, net of pre-production and excess-over-average    (81.1)   (11.2)   (42.3) 
Pre-production and excess-over-average inventories    (294.6)   (161.9)   (180.2) 
Other current assets    7.2    (12.9)   5.5  
Accounts payable    189.3    7.7    (142.7) 
Accrued expenses    104.5    28.3    2.5  
Income taxes payable/receivable    167.6    (75.9)   51.2  
Other assets and liabilities    (33.8)   (69.6)   (44.7) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities    1,180.0    514.3    656.5  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Investing Activities     
Purchases of property, plant and equipment    (317.5)   (222.3)   (169.0) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    1.8    0.9    1.3  
Net payments made for acquisitions, net of cash acquired    (503.3)   (342.6)   (392.1) 
Investments in and advances to equity investees    (2.0)   (2.0)   (2.0) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities    (821.0)   (566.0)   (561.8) 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Financing Activities     
Increase (decrease) in short-term debt, net    (17.7)   0.9    (35.0) 
Debt redemption premium    —    (37.4)   —  
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt    32.0    593.9    597.0  
Repayments of long-term debt and capital lease obligations    (17.5)   (258.3)   (120.5) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock    47.0    94.4    35.3  
Purchases of treasury stock    (101.8)   (179.5)   (23.8) 
Dividends paid    (111.0)   (173.1)   (125.6) 
Excess tax benefits related to share-based payment arrangements    15.6    21.9    5.0  
Distributions to noncontrolling interests    (10.9)   (13.6)   (27.8) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Financing Activities    (164.3)   49.2    304.6  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Discontinued Operations     
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities    (0.4)   (0.7)   34.1  
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    —    —    —  
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    —    —    —  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations    (0.4)   (0.7)   34.1  
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    (6.2)   (8.9)   7.3  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    188.1    (12.1)   440.7  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    798.9    811.0    370.3  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 987.0   $ 798.9   $ 811.0  
    

 

   

 

   

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
 

5



Consolidated Statement of Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY
 

  Common Stock   Additional
Paid-In
Capital  

 
Income

Retained
In The

Business 

 
Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)  

 
Treasury

Stock  

 Total
Shareholders’

Equity  

 
Noncontrolling

Interests  

 
Total

Equity    Shares   Amount        
  (In thousands)           (Dollars in millions)           
Balance December 31, 2008   143,611   $ 718.1   $ 1,525.3   $ 1,619.2   $ (978.1)  $ (793.2)  $ 2,091.3   $ 60.9   $2,152.2  
Consolidated net income      597.3      597.3    13.5    610.8  
Other comprehensive income (loss):          

Translation adjustments       119.2     119.2     119.2  
Pension and OPEB liability adjustment       37.2     37.2     37.2  
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow

hedges       148.5     148.5     148.5  
         

 
   

 
   

 

Total comprehensive income (loss)         902.2    13.5    915.7  
Distributions to noncontrolling interests          (27.8)   (27.8) 
Repurchase of common stock        (15.9)   (15.9)    (15.9) 
Employee award programs   1,631    8.1    27.4      (7.9)   27.6     27.6  
Share-based compensation     37.2       37.2     37.2  
Tax benefit from employees share-based

compensation programs     7.1       7.1     7.1  
Dividends declared (per share — $1.02)      (128.5)     (128.5)    (128.5) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance December 31, 2009   145,242   $ 726.2   $ 1,597.0   $ 2,088.0   $ (673.2)  $ (817.0)  $ 2,921.0   $ 46.6   $2,967.6  
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Consolidated net income      578.7      578.7    7.9    586.6  
Other comprehensive income (loss):          

Translation adjustments       (31.2)    (31.2)    (31.2) 
Pension and OPEB liability adjustment       36.8     36.8     36.8  
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow

hedges       (8.5)    (8.5)    (8.5) 
         

 
   

 
   

 

Total comprehensive income (loss)         575.8    7.9    583.7  
Distributions to noncontrolling interests          (13.6)   (13.6) 
Repurchase of common stock        (166.9)   (166.9)    (166.9) 
Employee award programs   2,971    14.9    79.7      (12.6)   82.0     82.0  
Share-based compensation     51.2       51.2     51.2  
Tax benefit from employees share-based

compensation programs     23.3       23.3     23.3  
Dividends declared (per share — $1.10)      (139.5)     (139.5)    (139.5) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance December 31, 2010   148,213   $ 741.1   $ 1,751.2   $ 2,527.2   $ (676.1)  $ (996.5)  $ 3,346.9   $ 40.9   $3,387.8  
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Consolidated net income      810.4      810.4    8.4    818.8  
Other comprehensive income (loss):          

Translation adjustments       (84.7)    (84.7)    (84.7) 
Pension and OPEB liability adjustment       (227.1)    (227.1)    (227.1) 
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow

hedges       (23.3)    (23.3)    (23.3) 
         

 
   

 
   

 

Total comprehensive income (loss)         475.3    8.4    483.7  
Distributions to noncontrolling interests          (10.9)   (10.9) 
Repurchase of common stock        (84.5)   (84.5)    (84.5) 
Employee award programs   1,501    7.5    39.6      (17.3)   29.8     29.8  
Share-based compensation     64.1       64.1     64.1  
Tax benefit from employees share-based

compensation programs     15.8       15.8     15.8  
Dividends declared (per share — $1.16)      (147.3)     (147.3)    (147.3) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Balance December 31, 2011   149,714   $ 748.6   $ 1,870.7   $ 3,190.3   $ (1,011.2)  $(1,098.3)  $ 3,700.1   $ 38.4   $3,738.5  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Goodrich Merger Agreement with United Technologies Corporation
On September 21, 2011, Goodrich Corporation and its majority-owned subsidiaries (“the Company” or “Goodrich”) entered into an Agreement and
Plan of Merger (Merger Agreement) with United Technologies Corporation (UTC). The Merger Agreement provides that, upon the terms and
subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, the Company will be acquired by UTC in a cash-for-stock transaction (Merger). The
Company has agreed to various covenants in the Merger Agreement, including, among other things:
 

 •  to conduct its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice during the period between the execution of the Merger
Agreement and the time of the Merger;

 

 •  to not grant new awards pursuant to employee share-based compensation plans after September 21, 2011 (except under certain
conditions in the event the Merger is not consummated prior to August 31, 2012); and

 

 •  to not incur or assume any indebtedness other than under the Company’s existing unsecured committed revolving credit facility.

At the time of the Merger, each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock will be converted into the right to receive $127.50 in cash,
without interest payable to the holder of such share. All outstanding share-based awards including stock options, restricted stock units and
performance units, whether vested or unvested, will be cancelled in exchange for a cash payment in accordance with the Merger Agreement.

The consummation of the Merger is expected to occur in mid-2012 and is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain closing conditions,
including (1) adoption of the Merger Agreement by the shareholders of the Company, for which the vote is currently scheduled for March 13, 2012,
(2) expiration or termination of any applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and
other consents and approvals required under applicable antitrust laws, (3) the absence of any law or order prohibiting the consummation of the
Merger, (4) subject to certain exceptions, the accuracy of representations and warranties of the Company and UTC and (5) the performance or
compliance by the Company and UTC with their respective covenants and agreements.

The Company incurred merger-related costs of $18.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. These costs are included in other income
(expense) — net in the Company’s consolidated statement of income. In addition, the Company incurred higher share-based compensation costs
of approximately $18 million as a result of the increase in its share price primarily related to the Merger Agreement. See Note 5, “Other Income
(Expense) — Net” and Note 6, “Share-Based Compensation”.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation.    The consolidated financial statements reflect the accounts of the Company. Investments in 20 to 50 percent-owned
affiliates are accounted for using the equity method. Equity in earnings (losses) from these businesses is included in other income (expense) —
net. Intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated.

Cash Equivalents.    Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.    The Company evaluates the collectability of trade receivables based on a combination of factors. The
Company regularly analyzes significant customer accounts and, when the Company becomes aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its
financial obligations to the Company, which may occur in the case of bankruptcy filings or deterioration in the customer’s operating results or
financial position, the Company records a specific reserve for bad debt to reduce the related receivable to the amount the Company reasonably
believes is collectible. The Company also records reserves for bad debts for all other customers based on a variety of factors including the length
of time the receivables are past due, the financial health of the customer, macroeconomic considerations and historical experience. If
circumstances related to specific customers change, the Company’s estimates of the recoverability of receivables could be further adjusted. See
Note 15, “Supplemental Balance Sheet Information”.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 
Inventories.    Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The costs of certain U.S. inventories were determined by the last-in, first-out
(LIFO) cost method. Costs for the remaining inventories were determined by the first-in, first-out (FIFO) cost method. See Note 9, “Inventories”.

Inventoried costs on long-term contracts include certain pre-production costs, consisting primarily of tooling and engineering design and production
costs, including applicable overhead. The costs attributed to units delivered under long-term commercial contracts are based on the estimated
average cost of all units expected to be produced and are determined under the learning curve concept, which anticipates a predictable decrease
in unit costs as tasks and production techniques become more efficient through repetition. This usually results in an increase in inventory (referred
to as “excess-over average”) during the early years of a contract. If in-process inventory plus estimated costs to complete a specific contract
exceed the anticipated remaining sales value of such contract, the excess is charged to cost of sales in the period identified.

In accordance with industry practice, costs in inventory include amounts relating to contracts with long production cycles, some of which are not
expected to be realized within one year.

Property, Plant and Equipment.    Property, plant and equipment, including amounts recorded under capital leases, are recorded at cost.
Depreciation is computed principally using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: buildings and improvements, 15 to 40
years; machinery and equipment, 5 to 15 years; and internal use software, 2 to 10 years. In the case of capitalized lease assets, depreciation is
recognized over the lease term if shorter. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. See Note 15, “Supplemental Balance Sheet
Information”.

Goodwill.    Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets of acquired businesses. Intangible assets
deemed to have indefinite lives and goodwill are not subject to amortization, but are reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently, if
indicators of potential impairment exist. See Note 10, “Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets”.

Identifiable Intangible Assets.    Identifiable intangible assets are recorded at cost or, when acquired as part of a business combination, at
estimated fair value. These assets include patents, trademarks, licenses, technology, customer relationships and non-compete agreements.
Identifiable intangible assets are generally amortized over their useful life utilizing the straight-line method or using undiscounted cash flows, a
method that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible assets are consumed.

Impairments of identifiable intangible assets are recognized when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
asset, or related groups of assets, may not be recoverable and the Company’s estimate of undiscounted cash flows over the assets’ remaining
useful lives is less than the carrying value of the assets. Measurement of the amount of impairment may be based upon an appraisal, market
values of similar assets or estimated discounted future cash flows resulting from the use and ultimate disposition of the asset. See Note 10,
“Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets”.

Revenue and Income Recognition.    For revenues not recognized under the long-term contract method of accounting or separately priced
extended warranty or product maintenance contracts, the Company recognizes revenues from the sale of products at the point of passage of title,
which is generally at the time of shipment. Revenues earned from providing maintenance service are recognized when the service is complete.

The Company has entered into long-term product maintenance arrangements to provide specific products and services to customers for a
specified amount per flight hour, brake landing and/or aircraft landings. Revenue is recognized for these arrangements as the service is performed
and the costs are incurred. The Company has sufficient historical evidence that indicates that the costs of performing the service under the contract
are incurred on other than a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 
For revenues recognized under the contract method of accounting, the Company recognizes sales and profits on each contract in accordance with
the percentage-of-completion method, generally using units-of-delivery as the basis to measure progress towards completing the contract and
recognizing revenue and profit. This method requires estimates that involve various assumptions and projections relative to the outcome of future
events, including the quantity and timing of product deliveries. Projected revenues over the contract period may include estimates of recoveries
asserted against the customer for delays, changes in specifications and designs or other unanticipated costs. Amounts related to contract claims or
change orders are included in projected revenues when they can be reliably estimated and realization is considered probable. The contract method
of accounting also involves the use of various estimating techniques to project costs at completion. Estimates include assumptions relative to
future labor performance and rates, and projections relative to material and overhead costs. These assumptions involve various levels of expected
performance improvements.

The Company updates its contract estimates periodically and reflects changes in estimates in the current period using the cumulative catch-up
method. A significant portion of the Company’s sales in its aerostructures business in the Nacelles and Interior Systems segment are long-term,
fixed-priced contracts, many of which contain escalation clauses, requiring delivery of products over several years and frequently providing the
buyer with option pricing on follow-on orders.

Consistent with industry practice, the Company classifies assets and liabilities, including unbilled receivables and deferred revenue related to
contracts accounted for under the long-term contract method of accounting, as current. Included in accounts receivable at December 31, 2011 and
2010, were receivable amounts under contracts in progress of $271 million and $206.6 million, respectively, that represent amounts earned but not
billable. These amounts become billable according to their contract terms, which usually consider the passage of time, achievement of milestones
or completion of the project. Of the $271 million at December 31, 2011, $132.5 million is expected to be collected after December 31, 2012.

The Company had no receivable balances that had been billed but not paid by customers under retainage provisions in contracts. The Company
also did not have any receivable balances, billed or unbilled, that represented claims or other disagreements with customers subject to uncertainty
concerning their determination or ultimate realization.

The Company’s aerostructures business is party to a long-term supply arrangement whereby it receives cash payments for its performance over a
period that extends beyond the Company’s performance period of the contract. The contract is accounted for using the percentage of completion
method of contract accounting. Unbilled receivables include revenue recognized that will be realized from cash payments to be received beyond
the period of performance. In estimating its revenues to be received under the contract, cash receipts that are expected to be received beyond the
performance period are included at their present value as of the end of the performance period.

Income Taxes.    Income tax expense for federal, foreign, state and local income taxes are calculated on reported financial reporting pre-tax
income based on current tax law and include the cumulative effect of any changes in tax rates from those used previously in determining deferred
tax assets and liabilities. The Company records interest (net of any applicable tax benefit) on potential tax contingencies as a component of its tax
expense. The Company recognizes benefits associated with uncertain tax positions that are more likely than not of being realized upon settlement
with a taxing authority. See Note 14, “Income Taxes”.

Rotable Assets.    Rotable assets are components, which are held for the purpose of exchanging with a customer for used components in
conjunction with an overhaul service transaction. Rotable assets are recorded as other assets and amortized over their estimated economic useful
life or the related contract term, as appropriate. Because rotable assets are generally overhauled during each cycle, the overhaul cost is charged to
cost of sales in the period of the overhaul. See Note 15, “Supplemental Balance Sheet Information”.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 
Participation Payments.    Certain businesses make cash payments under long-term contractual arrangements to original equipment
manufacturers (OEM) or system contractors in return for a secured position on an aircraft program. Participation payments are capitalized as other
assets when a contractual liability has been incurred, and are amortized as a reduction to sales, as appropriate. Participation payments are
amortized over the estimated number of production units to be shipped over the program’s production life which reflects the pattern in which the
economic benefits of the participation payments are consumed. The carrying amount of participation payments is evaluated for recovery at least
annually or when other indicators of impairment occur such as a change in the estimated number of units or the economics of the program. If such
estimates change, amortization expense is adjusted and/or an impairment charge is recorded, as appropriate, for the effect of the revised
estimates. No such impairment charges were recorded in 2011, 2010 or 2009. See Note 15, “Supplemental Balance Sheet Information”.

Sales Incentives.    The Company offers sales incentives to certain airline customers in connection with sales contracts. These incentives may
consist of up-front cash payments, merchandise credits and/or free products. The cost of these incentives is recognized as an expense in the
period incurred unless recovery of these costs is specifically guaranteed by the customer in the contract. If the contract contains such a guarantee,
then the cost of the sales incentive is capitalized as other assets and amortized to cost of sales, or as a reduction to sales, as appropriate, using
the straight-line method over the remaining contract term. The carrying amount of sales incentives is evaluated for recovery when indicators of
potential impairment exist. The carrying value of sales incentives is also compared annually to the amount recoverable under the terms of the
guarantee in the customer contract. If the amount of the carrying value of the sales incentives exceeds the amount recoverable in the contract, the
carrying value is reduced. No significant impairment charges were recorded in 2011, 2010 or 2009. See Note 15, “Supplemental Balance Sheet
Information”.

Flight Certification Costs.    When a supply arrangement is secured, certain businesses may agree to supply hardware to an OEM to be used in
flight certification testing and/or make cash payments to reimburse an OEM for costs incurred in testing the hardware. The flight certification testing
is necessary to certify aircraft systems/components for the aircraft’s airworthiness and allows the aircraft to be flown and thus sold in the country
certifying the aircraft. Flight certification costs are capitalized in other assets and are amortized to cost of sales, or as a reduction to sales, as
appropriate, over the projected number of aircraft to be manufactured. The carrying amount of flight certification costs is evaluated for recovery
when indicators of impairment exist. The carrying value of the asset and amortization expense is adjusted when the estimated number of units to
be manufactured changes. No such impairment charges were recorded in 2011, 2010 or 2009. See Note 15, “Supplemental Balance Sheet
Information”.

Entry Fee.    The aerostructures business in the Company’s Nacelles and Interior Systems segment made a cash payment to an OEM under a
long-term contractual arrangement related to a new engine program. The payment is referred to as an entry fee and entitles the Company to a
controlled access supply contract and to receive certain OE and aftermarket-based payments as specified in the contract. The entry fee is
capitalized in other assets and is amortized over units of delivery as a reduction to sales. The carrying amount of the entry fee is evaluated for
recovery at least annually or when other significant assumptions or economic conditions change. Recovery of an entry fee is assessed based on
the expected cash flow from the program over the remaining program life as compared to the recorded amount of the entry fee. If the carrying
value of the entry fee exceeds the cash flow to be generated from the program, a charge would be recorded to reduce the entry fee to its
recoverable amount. No such impairment charge was recorded in 2011, 2010 or 2009. See Note 15, “Supplemental Balance Sheet Information”.

Shipping and Handling.    Shipping and handling costs are recorded in cost of sales.

Financial Instruments.    The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes receivable, foreign
currency forward contracts, accounts payable and debt. Because of their short maturity, the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents,
accounts and notes receivable,
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 
accounts payable and short-term bank debt approximates fair value. Fair value of long-term debt is based on quoted market prices or rates
available to the Company for debt with similar terms and maturities. See Note 8, “Fair Value Measurements”.

Derivative financial instruments are carried on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. The fair value of derivatives and other forward
contracts is based on quoted market prices. See Note 17, “Derivatives and Hedging Activities”.

Foreign Currency Translation.    Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries that prepare financial statements in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are
translated using rates of exchange as of the balance sheet date and the statements of earnings are translated at the average rates of exchange for
each reporting period. Translation adjustments are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (AOCI) except when the functional
currency is the U.S. Dollar. If the functional currency is the U.S. Dollar, translation adjustments are reported in cost of sales.

Share-Based Compensation.    The Company utilizes the fair value method of accounting to account for share-based compensation awards. See
Note 6, “Share-Based Compensation”.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits.    The Company recognizes the funded status of the Company’s pension plans and postretirement
benefits plans other than pension (OPEB) on its consolidated balance sheet, with a corresponding adjustment to AOCI, net of tax. The
measurement date used to determine the pension and OPEB obligations and assets for all plans was December 31. Plan assets have been valued
at fair value. See Note 13, “Pensions and Postretirement Benefits”.

Research and Development.    The Company performs research and development under company-funded programs for commercial products
and under contracts with others. Research and development under contracts with others is performed on both military and commercial products.
Company-funded research and development programs are expensed as incurred. Customer funding of the Company’s research and development
efforts is generally recorded as an offset to research and development expense. Total research and development expenditures in 2011, 2010 and
2009 were approximately $247 million, $247 million and $239 million, respectively. These amounts are net of approximately $119 million, $85
million and $101 million, respectively, which were funded by customers.

Reclassifications.    Certain amounts in prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Discontinued Operations.    Net income from discontinued operations was $0.3 million, $2.2 million and $34.5 million (net of income taxes of
$20.8 million in 2009) for the years ended 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The income in 2009 related primarily to the resolution of litigation for
an environmental matter at a divested business that had been previously reported as a discontinued operation and favorable resolution of other
divestiture liabilities.

Use of Estimates.    The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates. During 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Company updated its estimates of revenues and costs on certain long-term contracts,
primarily in its aerostructures and aircraft wheels and brakes businesses which increased income from continuing operations before income taxes
during 2011, 2010 and 2009 by $108.1 million, ($68.6 million after tax or $0.54 per diluted share),$98 million ($61.3 million after tax or $0.49 per
diluted share) and $45.1 million ($28.3 million after tax or $0.23 per diluted share), respectively. These changes were primarily related to favorable
cost and operational performance, changes in volume expectations and sales pricing improvements and finalization of contract terms on current
and/or follow-on contracts.
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Environmental Liabilities.    The Company establishes environmental liabilities when it is probable that an obligation has been incurred and the
Company has the ability to reasonably estimate the liability. The Company capitalizes environmental costs only if the costs are recoverable and
(1) the costs extend the life, increase the capacity, or improve the safety or efficiency of property owned by the Company as compared with the
condition of that property when originally constructed or acquired; (2) the costs mitigate or prevent environmental contamination that has yet to
occur and that otherwise may result from future operations or activities and the costs improve the property compared with its condition when
constructed or acquired; or (3) the costs are incurred in preparing the property for sale. All other environmental costs are expensed. See Note 16,
“Contingencies”.

Toxic Tort.    The Company establishes toxic tort liabilities, including asbestos, when it is probable that an obligation has been incurred and the
Company has the ability to reasonably estimate the liability. The Company typically records a liability for toxic tort when legal actions are in
advanced stages (proximity to trial or settlement). The Company expenses legal costs for toxic tort issues when incurred. See Note 16,
“Contingencies”.

Service and Product Warranties.    The Company provides service and warranty policies on certain of its products. The Company accrues
liabilities under service and warranty policies based upon specific claims and a review of historical warranty and service claim experience.
Adjustments are made to accruals as claim data and historical experience change. In addition, the Company incurs discretionary costs to service
its products in connection with product performance issues, which are expensed as incurred. See Note 15, “Supplemental Balance Sheet
Information”.

Deferred Settlement Credits.    The Company reached agreements with certain of its insurance carriers that are in run-off, insolvent or are
undergoing solvent schemes of arrangements to receive negotiated payments in exchange for loss of insurance coverage for third party claims
against the Company. The portion of these negotiated payments related to past costs was recognized in income. The portion related to future
claims is recorded as a deferred settlement credit and reported within accrued expenses and other non-current liabilities. The deferred settlement
credits will partially offset future costs related to insurable claims. See Note 16, “Contingencies”.

Note 3. New Accounting Standards
New Accounting Standards Adopted in 2011
In September 2011, accounting guidance was issued that is included in Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 350, “Intangibles —
Goodwill and Other”. This guidance amends the requirements for goodwill impairment testing. The Company has the option to first assess
qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, the Company determines it is
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, then performing the two-step impairment test is
unnecessary. The Company has adopted this new standard effective with its annual goodwill impairment testing for the year ending December 31,
2011. See Note 10, “Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets”.

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted
In May 2011, accounting guidance was issued that is included in Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurement”.
This guidance amends the requirements for measuring amounts at fair value and disclosing information about fair value measurements and is
effective for the Company on January 1, 2012. Upon adoption, the Company does not expect this standard to have a material impact on its
financial condition or results of operations.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 
In June 2011, accounting guidance was issued that is included in ASC Topic 220, “Comprehensive Income”. This guidance eliminates the option to
report other comprehensive income and its components in the statement of changes in equity. Companies can elect to present items of net income
and other comprehensive income in one continuous statement or in two separate, but consecutive, statements. The Company will present items of
net income and other comprehensive income in two separate, but consecutive, statements effective with its Form 10-Q for the three months ended
March 31, 2012.

Note 4. Business Segment Information
The Company’s business segments are as follows:
 

 •  The Actuation and Landing Systems segment provides systems, components and related services pertaining to aircraft taxi, take-off,
flight control, landing and stopping, and engine components, including fuel delivery systems and rotating assemblies.

 

 
•  The Nacelles and Interior Systems segment produces products and provides maintenance, repair and overhaul services associated with

aircraft engines, including thrust reversers, cowlings, nozzles and their components, and aircraft interior products, including slides, seats,
cargo and lighting systems.

 

 
•  The Electronic Systems segment produces a wide array of systems and components that provide flight performance measurements,

flight management, fuel controls, electrical systems, control and safety data, reconnaissance and surveillance systems and precision
guidance systems.
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The Company measures each reporting segment’s profit based upon operating income. Accordingly, the Company does not allocate net interest
expense, other income (expense) — net and income taxes to its reporting segments. The company-wide Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP)
costs that are not directly associated with a specific business were not allocated to the segments. The accounting policies of the reportable
segments are the same as those for the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2011   2010   2009  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Sales     
Actuation and Landing Systems   $2,945.3   $2,491.5   $2,524.3  
Nacelles and Interior Systems    2,796.7    2,339.5    2,322.6  
Electronic Systems    2,332.9    2,135.9    1,838.7  

    
 

   
 

   
 

TOTAL SALES   $8,074.9   $6,966.9   $6,685.6  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Intersegment Sales     
Actuation and Landing Systems   $ 39.4   $ 32.5   $ 26.3  
Nacelles and Interior Systems    12.7    10.6    8.4  
Electronic Systems    31.2    25.9    29.9  

    
 

   
 

   
 

TOTAL INTERSEGMENT SALES   $ 83.3   $ 69.0   $ 64.6  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Operating Income     
Actuation and Landing Systems(1)   $ 373.4   $ 273.1   $ 266.9  
Nacelles and Interior Systems    729.7    555.9    515.3  
Electronic Systems    390.8    324.9    276.4  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   1,493.9    1,153.9    1,058.6  
Corporate General and Administrative Expenses    (141.1)   (140.0)   (111.2) 
ERP Costs    (17.0)   (15.6)   (18.2) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME   $1,335.8   $ 998.3   $ 929.2  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Capital Expenditures     
Actuation and Landing Systems   $ 137.8   $ 77.5   $ 57.5  
Nacelles and Interior Systems    77.8    52.0    51.7  
Electronic Systems    77.6    66.3    39.1  
Corporate    24.3    26.5    20.7  

    
 

   
 

   
 

TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENDITURES   $ 317.5   $ 222.3   $ 169.0  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Depreciation and Amortization Expense     
Actuation and Landing Systems   $ 118.7   $ 100.8   $ 96.6  
Nacelles and Interior Systems    88.9    81.9    80.8  
Electronic Systems    76.0    73.4    53.0  
Corporate    26.5    24.0    18.9  

    
 

   
 

   
 

TOTAL DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION   $ 310.1   $ 280.1   $ 249.3  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Geographic Areas Sales     
United States   $4,001.6   $3,512.0   $3,298.7  
Europe(2)    2,731.2    2,327.9    2,281.3  
Canada    245.7    219.5    236.1  
Asia Pacific    637.8    585.8    510.6  
Other Foreign    458.6    321.7    358.9  

    
 

   
 

   
 

TOTAL SALES   $8,074.9   $6,966.9   $6,685.6  
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   December 31,  
   2011    2010  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Assets     
Actuation and Landing Systems   $ 3,023.9    $2,239.9  
Nacelles and Interior Systems    3,927.0     3,437.8  
Electronic Systems    2,422.4     2,336.4  
Corporate(3)    1,340.4     1,257.5  

    
 

    
 

TOTAL ASSETS   $10,713.7    $9,271.6  
    

 

    

 

Property, Plant and Equipment-net     
United States   $ 963.5    $ 961.0  
Europe    353.4     251.6  
Canada    124.6     130.0  
Asia Pacific    92.7     100.4  
Other Foreign    99.0     78.5  

    
 

    
 

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT-NET   $ 1,633.2    $1,521.5  
    

 

    

 

 
 

(1) On May 12, 2011, the Company acquired Microtecnica S.r.l. (Microtecnica) and incurred $8.4 million of acquisition related costs which were
reported in selling and administrative costs for 2011. This acquisition is reported within the Actuation and Landing Systems segment.
On June 7, 2011, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized a plan to close a facility in its landing gear business. Due to declining
program volumes, the Company will close the facility and incur substantially all of the costs by the end of 2012. The Company anticipates that
it will incur costs in connection with this closure of approximately $37 million, of which approximately $15 million is for personnel related
expenses, including severance, pension charges, outplacement services and assistance with employment transitioning, and approximately
$22 million primarily related to facility closure and other costs, including accelerated depreciation, equipment dismantle and relocation costs
and lease termination costs. During 2011, the Company incurred $20.1 million of costs related to this closure of which $14.4 million was
personnel related and $5.7 million was facility closure and other costs and $15.2 million of these costs were reported in cost of sales and $4.9
million were reported in selling and administrative costs.

 

(2) Sales to customers in France in 2011, 2010 and 2009 represented 48%, 49% and 50%, respectively, of European sales. Sales to customers in
the United Kingdom in 2011, 2010 and 2009 represented 22%, 23% and 20%, respectively, of European sales. Sales were reported in the
geographic areas based on the country to which the product was shipped.

 

(3) Corporate assets primarily include cash, assets related to income taxes, company-wide ERP assets and Rabbi Trust assets.

In 2011, 2010 and 2009, direct and indirect sales to Airbus S.A.S. (Airbus) were approximately 18%, 17% and 17% of consolidated sales,
respectively.

In 2011, 2010 and 2009, direct and indirect sales to The Boeing Company (Boeing) were approximately 15%, 15% and 16%, respectively, of
consolidated sales. Indirect sales to the U.S. Government include a portion of the direct and indirect sales to Boeing referred to in the following
paragraph.

In 2011, 2010 and 2009, direct and indirect sales to the U.S. Government were approximately 23%, 25% and 22%, respectively, of consolidated
sales. Indirect sales to the U.S. Government include a portion of the direct and indirect sales to Boeing referred to in the preceding paragraph.
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The Company has five categories of substantially similar products that share common customers, similar technologies and similar end-use
applications and share similar risks and growth opportunities. Product categories cross the Company’s business segments and do not reflect the
management structure of the Company. The Company’s sales by these product categories are as follows:
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2011    2010    2009  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Engine Products & Services   $2,801.6    $2,444.0    $2,438.9  
Landing System Products & Services    1,682.1     1,497.3     1,471.1  
Electrical and Optical Products & Services    1,669.3     1,550.6     1,288.7  
Airframe Products & Services    1,193.2     838.9     856.9  
Safety Products & Services    583.0     505.0     509.9  
Other Products & Services    145.7     131.1     120.1  

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total Sales   $8,074.9    $6,966.9    $6,685.6  
    

 

    

 

    

 

Note 5. Other Income (Expense) — Net
Other Income (Expense) — Net consisted of the following:
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2011   2010   2009  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Merger — related expenses(1)   $(18.2)  $ —   $ —  
Retiree health care expenses related to previously owned businesses    (9.5)   (10.5)   (12.3) 
Debt redemption — premium(2)    —    (37.4)   —  
Debt redemption — terminated interest rate swaps and costs, net(2)    —    2.5    —  
Expenses related to previously owned businesses(3)    (9.7)   (6.3)   (9.1) 
Equity in affiliated companies    4.1    (3.4)   (3.5) 
Other — net    (0.2)   (2.0)   (0.3) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Other income (expense) — net   $(33.5)  $(57.1)  $(25.2) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

 
 

(1) Expenses related to the Merger Agreement. See Note 1, “Goodrich Merger Agreement with United Technologies Corporation”.
 

(2) The Company redeemed all of its outstanding senior notes due in 2012. See Note 11, “Financing Arrangements”.
 

(3) Primarily relates to environmental litigation costs.
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Note 6. Share-Based Compensation
The compensation cost recorded for share-based compensation plans during 2011, 2010 and 2009 is presented below:
 

   
                      

Year Ended December 31,                 
           2011                   2010                   2009         
   (Dollars in millions, except per share amount)  
Compensation cost   $ 105.1    $ 81.4    $ 66.7  
Compensation cost net of tax benefit   $ 68.5    $ 52.4    $ 43.2  
Compensation cost per diluted share — net of tax benefit   $ 0.54    $ 0.41    $ 0.35  

The increase from 2010 to 2011 was primarily due to a higher grant date fair value for the restricted stock units and stock options and changes in
the Company’s share price for the Performance Units and Outside Director Phantom Share Plans. This significant increase in the Company’s share
price was primarily related to the Merger Agreement entered into by the Company with UTC which resulted in approximately $18 million of
additional pre-tax compensation cost during 2011. See Note 1, “Goodrich Merger Agreement with United Technologies Corporation”. The increase
from 2009 to 2010 was primarily due to a higher grant date fair value for the restricted stock units and stock options.

The total income tax benefit recognized for share-based compensation awards was $36.6 million, $29 million and $23.5 million for 2011, 2010 and
2009, respectively. There was no share-based compensation cost capitalized as part of inventory and fixed assets. As of December 31, 2011, total
compensation cost related to nonvested share-based compensation awards not yet recognized was $70.7 million, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.1 years.

The Company administers the Goodrich Equity Compensation Plan (the Plan) as part of its long-term incentive compensation program. The Plan,
as approved by the Company’s shareholders, permits the Company to issue stock options, performance units, restricted stock awards, restricted
stock units and other equity-based compensation awards. Currently, the Plan which expires on April 18, 2021, makes 2,825,000 shares of common
stock of the Company available for grant, together with shares of common stock available as of April 19, 2011 for future awards under the
Company’s 2001 Stock Option Plan and the Company’s 1999 Stock Option Plan, and any shares of common stock representing outstanding 2001
Stock Option Plan and 1999 Stock Option Plan awards as of April 19, 2011 that are not issued or otherwise are returned to the Company after that
date. The Company issues shares upon exercise of options or vesting of certain other share-based compensation awards. During 2011, the
Company repurchased shares under the plan to the extent required to meet the minimum statutory tax withholding requirements.

As described in Note 1, “Goodrich Merger Agreement with United Technologies Corporation”, the Company is prohibited from granting new awards
pursuant to employee share-based compensation plans that are described below after September 21, 2011 (except under certain conditions in the
event the Merger is not consummated prior to August 31, 2012).

Stock Options
Generally, options granted on or after January 1, 2004 are exercisable at the rate of 33 / % after one year, 66 / % after two years and 100% after
three years. A one-year service period is required, whereby individuals who are retirement eligible and retire during the grant year will have their
awards prorated based on their length of service during the year. Therefore, expense is recorded ratably over the required service period. Options
granted to employees who will become retirement eligible prior to the end of the vesting term are expensed over the period through which the
employee will become retirement eligible or
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the required service period, whichever is longer. Compensation expense for options granted to employees who are not retirement eligible is
recognized on a straight-line basis over three years. The term of each stock option cannot exceed 10 years from the date of grant. All options
granted under the Plan have an exercise price that is not less than 100% of the market value of the stock on the date of grant, as determined
pursuant to the plan. Dividends are not paid or earned on stock options.

The fair value of all other option awards is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton formula. The expected term of the
options represents the estimated period of time until exercise and is based on historical experience of similar options. The Company does not
issue traded options. Accordingly, the Company uses historical volatility instead of implied volatility. The historical volatility is calculated over a term
commensurate with the expected term of the options. The risk-free rate during the option term is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at
the time of grant. The expected dividend yield is based on the expected annual dividends during the term of the options divided by the fair value of
the stock on the grant date. The fair value for options issued during 2011, 2010 and 2009 was based upon the following weighted-average
assumptions:
 

   2011    2010    2009  
Risk-free interest rate (%)    2.2     2.9     1.8  
Expected dividend yield (%)    1.3     1.6     2.6  
Historical volatility factor (%)    35.6     35.0     33.3  
Weighted-average expected life of the options (years)    5.6     5.7     5.6  

A summary of option activity during 2011 is presented below:
 

   Shares   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price    

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term    

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
   (In thousands)          (In millions) 
Outstanding at January 1, 2011    3,218.4   $ 51.48      
Granted    743.0    88.64      
Exercised    (720.9)   46.98      
Forfeited or expired    (33.3)   80.08      

    
 

     

Outstanding at December 31, 2011    3,207.2   $ 60.82     6.9 years    $ 201.6  
    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

Vested or expected to vest(1)    3,178.5   $ 60.64     6.9 years    $ 200.3  
    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

Exercisable at December 31, 2011    1,745.3   $ 51.78     5.7 years    $ 125.5  
    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

 
 

(1) Represents outstanding options reduced by expected forfeitures.

As of December 31, 2011, the compensation expense related to nonvested options not yet recognized was $8.4 million. The weighted-average
grant date fair value of options granted was $28.35, $20.74 and $9.68 per option during 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

During 2011, the amount of cash received from exercise of stock options was $33.5 million and the tax benefit realized from stock options
exercised was $12.3 million. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $36 million, $73 million and $21 million,
respectively.

Restricted Stock Units
Generally, 50% of the Company’s restricted stock units vest and are converted to stock at the end of the third year, an additional 25% at the end of
the fourth year and the remaining 25% at the end of the fifth
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 
year. In certain circumstances, the vesting term is a three or five-year cliff. A one-year service period is required, whereby individuals who are
retirement eligible and retire during the grant year will have their awards prorated based on their length of service during the grant year. Therefore,
expense is recorded ratably over the required service period. Restricted stock units granted to employees who will become retirement eligible prior
to the end of the vesting term are expensed over the period through which the employee will become retirement eligible or the required service
period, whichever is longer. Compensation expense for restricted stock units granted to employees who are not retirement eligible is recognized on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Cash dividend equivalents are paid to participants and are recognized as a reduction in retained
earnings.

The fair value of the restricted stock units is determined based upon the average of the high and low grant date fair value. The weighted-average
grant date fair value during 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $88.63, $65.46 and $38.39 per unit, respectively.

A summary of restricted stock unit activity during 2011 is presented below:
 

   Shares   

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value  

   (In thousands)    
Outstanding at January 1, 2011    1,747.3   $ 54.87  
Granted    548.2    88.63  
Vested    (519.8)   57.07  
Forfeited    (33.1)   71.34  

    
 

 

Outstanding at December 31, 2011    1,742.6   $ 64.52  
    

 

   

 

Vested or expected to vest(1)    1,669.6   $ 64.34  
    

 

   

 

 
 

(1) Represents outstanding units reduced by expected forfeitures.

As of December 31, 2011, there was $35.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted stock units, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.7 years. The total fair value of units vested during 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $29.7
million, $20.7 million and $17.3 million, respectively. The tax benefit realized from vested restricted stock units was $16.4 million during 2011.

Performance Units
Performance units are paid in cash and are recorded as a liability and are marked to market each period. As such, assumptions are revalued for
each award on an ongoing basis. The value of each award is determined based upon the fair value of the Company’s stock at the end of the three-
year term, as adjusted for both a performance condition and a market condition.

The performance condition is applied to 50% of the awards and is based upon the Company’s actual return on invested capital (ROIC) as
compared to a target ROIC, which is approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. At each reporting period the fair value
represents the fair market value of the Company’s stock as adjusted by expectations regarding the achievement of the ROIC target. Changes in
expectations are recognized as cumulative adjustments to compensation expense.

The market condition is applied to the other 50% of the awards and is based on the Company’s relative total shareholder return (RTSR) as
compared to the RTSR of a peer group of companies, which is approved by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Because the
awards have a market condition,
 

19



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 
it must be considered in the calculation of the fair value. The fair value of each award was estimated each reporting period using a Monte Carlo
Simulation approach in a risk-neutral framework based upon historical volatility, risk free rates and correlation matrix.

Subsequent to entering into the Merger Agreement, the Company has updated its liability for its performance units utilizing its best estimate of the
expected amounts to be paid out under the performance unit plans.

The units vest over a three-year term. Participants who are eligible for retirement are entitled to the pro rata portion of the units earned through the
date of retirement, death or disability. Units due to retirees are not paid out until the end of the original three-year term at the fair value calculated at
the end of the term. Dividends accrue on performance units during the measurement period and are reinvested in additional performance units.

A summary of performance unit activity during 2011 is presented below:
 

   Units   

Weighted-
Average

Fair Value    

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term    
Aggregate
Fair Value  

   (In thousands)          (In millions) 
Outstanding at January 1, 2011    422.9   $ 131.71      
Units granted and dividends reinvested    148.6    104.03      
Converted and paid out    (140.5)   169.28      
Forfeited/canceled    (17.2)   120.91      

    
 

     

Outstanding at December 31, 2011    413.8   $ 178.88     1.0 year    $ 74.0  
    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

As of December 31, 2011, the total compensation cost related to nonvested performance units not yet recognized was $26.9 million. The weighted-
average grant date fair value of units granted was $102.94, $75.88 and $42.64 per unit during 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The total
payments during 2011, 2010 and 2009 were $23.8 million, $18.5 million and $9.9 million, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Company administers the Goodrich Corporation 2008 Global Employee Stock Purchase Plan. This plan is an umbrella plan under which sub-
plans may be adopted for employees in different countries. Currently, there are two sub-plans; one for U.S. and Canadian employees and one for
U.K. employees.

Under the U.S. and Canadian sub-plan, employees with two months of continuous service prior to an offering period are eligible to participate in
the plan. Eligible employees may elect to become participants in the plan and may contribute up to $12,000 per year through payroll deductions to
purchase stock purchase rights. Participants may, at any time prior to December, cancel their payroll deduction authorizations and have the cash
balance in their stock purchase rights account refunded. The offering period begins on January 1, or July 1 for new employees, and ends on
December 31 of each year. The stock purchase rights are used to purchase the common shares of the Company at the lesser of: (i) 85% of the fair
market value of a share as of the grant date applicable to the participant or (ii) 85% of the fair market value of a share as of the last day of the
offering period. The fair market value of a share is defined as the average of the closing price per share as reflected by composite transactions on
the New York Stock Exchange throughout a period of ten trading days ending on the determination date. Dividends are not paid or earned on stock
purchase rights.
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The fair value of the stock purchase rights are calculated as follows: 15% of the fair value of a share of nonvested stock plus 85% of the fair value
(call) of a one-year share option plus 15% of the fair value (put) of a one-year share option. The fair value of a one-year share option was
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton formula and the following assumptions:
 

   2011    2010    2009  
Risk-free interest rate (%)    0.3     0.5     0.4  
Expected dividend yield (%)    1.3     1.6     2.6  
Historical volatility factor (%)    33.9     34.2     31.2  
Weighted-average expected life of the option (years)    1.0     1.0     1.0  

During 2011, 2010 and 2009, the weighted-average grant date fair value of rights granted was $24.79, $18.28 and $10.20, respectively. The total
intrinsic value of the stock purchase rights in 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $10.2 million, $7.8 million and $13.9 million, respectively. The annual
employee contributions under the plan were $15.8 million, $13.2 million and $12.3 million during 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The 2010
contributions were used to purchase stock during 2011.

In addition, the Company has a U.K. sub-plan for which employees with 90 days of continuous service prior to an invitation period are eligible to
participate. Eligible employees that elect to become participants in the plan, can choose either a 3-year or a 5-year savings period, and may
contribute up to £3,000 per year through payroll deductions to purchase stock purchase rights. Participants may, at any time prior to the end of the
savings period, cancel their payroll deduction authorizations. For 2011, 2010 and 2009, the savings period began in April and will last for either
three or five years depending on the savings period elected by the participant. Employee contributions in 2011, 2010 and 2009 were $4.9 million,
$3.9 million and $2.4 million, respectively. The stock purchase rights are used to purchase common shares of the Company at 80% of the market
value of a share as of the invitation date applicable to the participant. The market value of a share is defined as the average of the closing price per
share as reflected by the New York Stock Exchange for the three trading days immediately preceding the invitation date. Dividends are not paid or
earned on stock purchase rights.

Other Plans
Outside Director Phantom Share Plan
Each non-management Director receives an annual grant of phantom shares under the Outside Director Phantom Share Plan equal in value to
$110,000. Phantom shares are paid in cash and are recorded as a liability and are marked to market each period. Dividend equivalents accrue on
all phantom shares and are credited to a Director’s account. All phantom shares fully vest on the date of grant. Following termination of service as
a Director, the cash value of the phantom shares will be paid to each Director in a single lump sum or in five or ten annual installments. The value
of each phantom share is determined on the relevant date as the fair market value of the common stock of the Company on such date.

The phantom shares outstanding are recorded at fair market value. At December 31, 2011, the intrinsic value was $16.9 million on approximately
137,000 phantom shares outstanding, reflecting a per share fair value of $123.67. At December 31, 2010, the intrinsic value was $14.9 million on
approximately 170,000 phantom shares outstanding, reflecting a per share fair value of $87.89. At December 31, 2009, the intrinsic value was
$11.3 million on approximately 174,000 phantom shares outstanding, reflecting a per share fair value of $64.78. Cash payments during 2011, 2010
and 2009 were $4.5 million, $1.6 million and $0.1 million, respectively.
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Outside Director Deferral Plan
Non-management Directors may elect to defer all or a portion of annual retainer and meeting fees into a phantom share account under the Outside
Director Deferral Plan. Amounts deferred into the phantom share account accrue dividend equivalents. The plan provides that amounts deferred
into the phantom share account are paid out in shares of common stock of the Company following termination of service as Director in a single
lump sum, or five or ten annual installments.

The shares outstanding under the plan are recorded at the grant date fair value, which is the fair value of the common stock of the Company on the
date the deferred fees would ordinarily be paid in cash. At December 31, 2011, approximately 53,000 shares were outstanding. The weighted-
average grant date fair value per share was $38.00, $35.72 and $34.63 during 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. During the year ended
December 31, 2011, approximately 22,000 awards converted to shares under this plan.

Note 7. Earnings Per Share
The computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) for income from continuing operations is as follows:
 

       2011          2010          2009     

   
(In millions, except per share

amounts)  
Numerator     

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share — income from continuing operations
attributable to Goodrich   $ 810.1   $ 576.5   $ 562.8  

Percentage allocated to common shareholders(1)    98.6%   98.6%   98.6% 
    

 
   

 
   

 

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share   $ 798.9   $ 568.5   $ 555.0  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Denominator     
Denominator for basic earnings per share — weighted-average shares    125.1    125.2    124.1  
Effect of dilutive securities: Stock options, employee stock purchase plan and other deferred

compensation shares    1.1    1.2    1.1  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Denominator for diluted earnings per share — adjusted weighted-average shares and assumed
conversion    126.2    126.4    125.2  

    

 

   

 

   

 

Per common share income from continuing operations     
Basic   $ 6.39   $ 4.54   $ 4.47  

    

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted   $ 6.33   $ 4.50   $ 4.43  
    

 

   

 

   

 

 
(1) Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding    125.1    125.2    124.1  
      Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding and

unvested restricted share units expected to vest    126.9    127.0    125.8  
    

 
   

 
   

 

      Percentage allocated to common shareholders    98.6%   98.6%   98.6% 

The Company’s unvested restricted share units contain rights to receive nonforfeitable dividend equivalents, and thus, are participating securities
requiring the two-class method of computing EPS. The calculation of EPS for common stock shown above excludes the income attributable to the
unvested restricted share units from the numerator and excludes the dilutive impact of those units from the denominator.
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At December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Company had 3,207,200, 3,218,400 and 4,591,800, respectively, of outstanding stock options. Stock
options are included in the diluted EPS calculation using the treasury stock method, unless the effect of including the stock options would be anti-
dilutive. There were no anti-dilutive stock options excluded from the EPS calculation at December 31, 2011. An insignificant amount of anti-dilutive
stock options were excluded from the EPS calculation at December 31, 2010. At December 31, 2009, 0.9 million anti-dilutive stock options were
excluded from the diluted EPS calculation.

Note 8. Fair Value Measurements
The Company defines fair value as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The following three
levels of inputs are used to measure fair value:
 

Level  1  — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
 

Level  2  — observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
 

Level  3  — unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data available, which require the reporting entity to develop its own
assumptions.

The Company’s financial assets and (liabilities) measured at fair value on a recurring basis were, in millions, as follows:
 

  

Fair Value
December 31,

2011   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  

Fair Value
December 31,

2010   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3 
  (Dollars in millions)  
Cash Equivalents(1)  $ 146.0   $146.0   $ —   $ —   $ 596.2   $596.2   $ —   $ —  
Derivative Financial Instruments(2)         

Cash Flow Hedges   (6.5)   —    (6.5)   —    30.6    —    30.6    —  
Other Forward Contracts   —    —    —    —    (0.2)   —    (0.2)   —  

Rabbi Trust Assets(3)   56.6    56.6    —    —    55.3    55.3    —    —  
Long-term debt(4)   (2,772.4)   —    (2,772.4)   —    (2,531.8)   —    (2,531.8)   —  
 
(1) Because of their short maturities, the carrying value of these assets approximates fair value.
 

(2) See Note 17, “Derivatives and Hedging Activities”. The derivative financial instruments are valued using a market approach based on prices
obtained from primary or secondary exchanges and using the Company’s best estimates based on its valuation models, which incorporate
industry data and trends and relevant market rates and transactions.

 

(3) Rabbi trust assets include mutual funds and cash equivalents for payment of certain non-qualified benefits for retired, terminated and active
employees. The fair value of these assets was based on quoted market prices.

 

(4) The carrying amount of the Company’s long-term debt was $2,352.3 million and $2,339.6 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. The fair value of long-term debt is based on quoted market prices or on rates available to the Company for debt with similar terms
and maturities.
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Note 9. Inventories
Inventories consist of the following:
 

   December 31,  
   2011   2010  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Average or actual cost (which approximates current costs):    
Finished products   $ 220.8   $ 224.4  
In-process    2,360.6    1,866.1  
Raw materials and supplies    753.7    692.8  

    
 

   
 

   3,335.1    2,783.3  
Less:    
Reserve to reduce certain inventories to LIFO basis    (54.2)   (52.7) 
Progress payments and advances    (404.3)   (281.2) 

    
 

   
 

Total   $2,876.6   $2,449.4  
    

 

   

 

Approximately 6% of the inventory costs were determined under the LIFO method of accounting at December 31, 2011 and 2010. All other
inventory costs were determined under the FIFO method of accounting. LIFO reserve adjustments, recorded as costs of sales, were a $1.5 million
loss, $1 million loss and $5 million gain for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The Company uses the LIFO method of valuing inventory for certain
of the Company’s legacy aerospace manufacturing businesses, primarily the aircraft wheels and brakes business unit in the Actuation and Landing
Systems segment.

Progress payments and advances represent (1) non-refundable payments for work-in-process and (2) cash received from government customers
where the government has legal title to the work-in-process.

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the amount of inventory consigned to customers and suppliers was approximately $61 million and $65 million,
respectively.
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In-process inventories which include pre-production and excess-over-average inventory accounted for under long-term contract accounting and
engineering costs with a guaranteed right of recovery, are summarized by platform as follows (dollars in millions, except quantities which are
number of aircraft or number of engines if the engine is used on multiple aircraft platforms):

December 31, 2011
 

                 In-Process Inventory  
  Aircraft Order Status(1)   Company Order Status      Pre-

Production
and Excess-

Over-
Average  

   
     (Unaudited)           (Unaudited)           

  

Delivered
To

Airlines   
Unfilled
Orders   

Unfilled
Options  

Contract
Quantity

(2)   Delivered  

Firm
Unfilled

Orders(3)   
Year

Complete(4)  Production   Total  
Aircraft Platforms — number of

aircraft           
787   3    857    232    2,818    29    29    2030   $ 257.9   $ 755.6   $1,013.5  
A350 XWB   —    555    185    1,884    —    —    2030    7.1    303.8    310.9  
7Q7   —    —    —    19    2    —    2018    0.1    27.1    27.2  

Engine Type —number of engines
(engines are used on multiple
aircraft platforms)           
CF34-10   954    394    766    1,316    1,052    190    2013    10.3    11.8    22.1  
Trent 900   144    272    88    945    227    161    2025    32.7    17.3    50.0  
PW 1000G — MRJ   —    130    120    678    —    —    2029    —    113.9    113.9  
PW 1000G — C Series   —    266    238    2,476    —    —    2028    0.3    197.2    197.5  

Other          115.1    80.3    195.4  
          

 
   

 
   

 

Total in-process inventory related to long-term contracts under the contract accounting method of accounting      423.5    1,507.0    1,930.5  
A380 engineering costs recoverable under long-term contractual arrangements     27.1    21.8    48.9  
Other in-process inventory     348.3    32.9    381.2  

          
 

   
 

   
 

Total     375.4    54.7    430.1  
          

 
   

 
   

 

Balance at December 31, 2011    $ 798.9   $ 1,561.7   $2,360.6  
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December 31, 2010
 

                       In-Process Inventory  
  Aircraft Order Status(1)   Company Order Status   

Production 

 Pre-
Production

and 
Excess-

Over-
Average  

 

Total  

     (Unaudited)           (Unaudited)       

  

Delivered
To

Airlines   
Unfilled
Orders   

Unfilled
Options  

Contract
Quantity

(2)   Delivered  

Firm
Unfilled

Orders(3)   
Year

Complete(4)    
Aircraft Platforms — number of aircraft     

787   —    848    229    1,882    9    21    2023   $ 249.6   $ 579.2   $ 828.8  
A350 XWB   —    573    183    1,884    —    —    2030    4.1    234.6    238.7  
7Q7   —    —    —    19    1    1    2018    1.7    28.5    30.2  

Engine Type — number of engines (engines are used on multiple aircraft platforms)   
CF34-10   794    418    654    1,316    842    52    2013    7.4    24.7    32.1  
Trent 900   88    224    60    945    154    217    2025    25.7    18.6    44.3  
PW 1000G — MRJ   —    30    20    678    —    —    2029    —    53.9    53.9  
PW 1000G – C Series   —    180    180    2,476    —    —    2028    0.1    104.7    104.8  

Other          104.9    52.8    157.7  
          

 
   

 
   

 

Total in-process inventory related to long-term contracts under the contract accounting method of
accounting

   
  393.5    1,097.0    1,490.5  

A380 engineering costs recoverable under long-term contractual arrangements     16.8    28.9    45.7  
Other in-process inventory     301.6    28.3    329.9  

          
 

   
 

   
 

Total     318.4    57.2    375.6  
          

 
   

 
   

 

Balance at December 31, 2010    $ 711.9   $ 1,154.2   $1,866.1  
          

 

   

 

   

 

 
 

(1) Represents the aircraft order status as reported by independent sources of the related number of aircraft or the number of engines as noted.
 

(2) Represents the number of aircraft or the number of engines as noted used to obtain average unit cost.
 

(3) Represents the number of aircraft or the number of engines as noted for which the Company has firm unfilled orders.
 

(4) The year presented represents the year in which the final production units included in the contract quantity are expected to be delivered. The
contract may continue in effect beyond this date.

Note 10. Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment were as follows:
 

   

Balance
December 31,

2010    
Business

Combinations   

Foreign
Currency

Translation/
Other   

Balance
December 31,

2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Actuation and Landing Systems(1)   $ 327.7    $ 214.3    $ (22.1)  $ 519.9  
Nacelles and Interior Systems(2)    591.6     40.8     (2.9)   629.5  
Electronic Systems    842.9     —     (1.3)   841.6  

    
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

  $ 1,762.2    $ 255.1    $ (26.3)  $ 1,991.0  
    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

 
26



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 
 
 

(1) On May 12, 2011, the Company acquired Microtecnica for $457.1 million in cash, net of cash acquired. Based on the Company’s purchase
price allocation, $312.4 million was identifiable intangible assets primarily related to customer relationships, $214.3 million was goodwill and
$105.8 million was net deferred tax liabilities primarily related to the intangible assets. The fair value of the intangible assets will be amortized
over a weighted-average useful life of 27 years. Goodwill primarily represents the expected value from combining Microtecnica’s expertise in
flight controls with the Company’s flight control actuation business. The goodwill related to the Microtecnica acquisition is not deductible for tax
purposes.

 

(2) On September 22, 2010, the Company acquired the cabin management assets of DeCrane Holdings Co. In the three months ended March 31,
2011, the Company finalized the purchase price which resulted in a decrease in goodwill.

 

    On September 30, 2011, the Company acquired Winslow Marine Products Corporation for $49.5 million in cash, net of cash acquired. Based
on the Company’s purchase price allocation, $13 million was identifiable intangible assets and $43.6 million was goodwill. The fair value of the
intangible assets will be amortized over a weighted-average useful life of 15 years.

Identifiable intangible assets as of December 31, 2011 consisted of:
 

   
Gross

Amount    
Accumulated
Amortization   Net  

   (Dollars in millions)  
Patents, trademarks and licenses   $ 150.7    $ (105.0)  $ 45.7  
Customer relationships    834.5     (128.7)   705.8  
Technology    209.0     (43.5)   165.5  
Non-compete agreements    1.7     (1.5)   0.2  

    
 

    
 

   
 

  $1,195.9    $ (278.7)  $917.2  
    

 

    

 

   

 

Identifiable intangible assets as of December 31, 2010 consisted of:
 

   
Gross

Amount    
Accumulated
Amortization   Net  

   (Dollars in millions)  
Patents, trademarks and licenses   $175.4    $ (120.3)  $ 55.1  
Customer relationships    547.8     (95.7)   452.1  
Technology    198.9     (30.7)   168.2  
Non-compete agreements    1.7     (1.3)   0.4  

    
 

    
 

   
 

  $923.8    $ (248.0)  $675.8  
    

 

    

 

   

 

Amortization expense related to these intangible assets for 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $59.6 million, $46.4 million and $30.8 million, respectively.
Amortization expense for these intangible assets is estimated to be approximately $59 million per year from 2012 to 2016. There were no indefinite
lived identifiable intangible assets as of December 31, 2011.

Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets are tested for impairment annually or when an event occurs or circumstances change such that it is
reasonably possible that an impairment may exist. This testing for identifiable intangible assets requires comparison of carrying values to fair
values, and when appropriate, the carrying value of impaired assets is reduced to fair value. There was no impairment of goodwill or identifiable
intangible assets in 2011, 2010 or 2009.
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Note 11. Financing Arrangements
In May 2011, the Company entered into a new five-year unsecured committed syndicated revolving credit facility, which permits borrowings up to a
maximum of $700 million. In connection with entering into the new facility, the Company terminated its $500 million unsecured committed
syndicated revolving credit facility that otherwise would have expired in May 2012. The new credit facility expires in May 2016. Interest rates under
the new facility vary depending upon:
 

 •  The amount borrowed;
 

 •  The Company’s public debt rating by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch; and
 

 •  At the Company’s option, rates tied to the agent bank’s prime rate or, for U.S. Dollar and Great Britain Pounds Sterling borrowings, the
London Interbank Offered Rate and for Euro borrowings, the Euro Interbank Offered Rate.

At December 31, 2011, there were $12.3 million in borrowings and $37 million in letters of credit outstanding under the facility. At December 31,
2010, there were no borrowings and $62.5 million in letters of credit outstanding under the facility. In order to be eligible to borrow under the facility,
the Company must be in compliance with a maximum leverage ratio covenant and other standard covenants. The Company is currently in
compliance with all covenants. At December 31, 2011, the Company had borrowing capacity under this facility of $650.7 million, after reductions
for borrowings and letters of credit outstanding under the facility.

At December 31, 2011, the Company also maintained $75 million of uncommitted U.S. working capital facilities and $154.8 million of uncommitted
and committed foreign working capital facilities with various banks to meet short-term borrowing requirements. At December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010, there were $25 million and $4.1 million, respectively, in borrowings and $37.9 million in letters of credit and bank guarantees
outstanding under these facilities as of December 31, 2011. These credit facilities are provided by a small number of commercial banks that also
provide the Company with committed credit through the syndicated revolving credit facility described above and with various cash management,
trust and other services.

At December 31, 2011, the Company had letters of credit and bank guarantees of $117.6 million, inclusive of letters of credit outstanding under the
Company’s syndicated revolving credit facility, uncommitted U.S. working capital facilities and uncommitted and committed foreign working capital
facilities, as discussed above.
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Long-term Debt
At December 31, 2011 and 2010, long-term debt and capital lease obligations, excluding the current maturities, consisted of:
 

   December 31,  
   2011    2010  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Medium-term notes payable (interest rates from 6.8% to 8.7%)   $ 398.9    $ 398.9  
6.29% senior notes, maturing in 2016    294.2     295.0  
6.125% senior notes, maturing in 2019    298.3     298.1  
4.875% senior notes, maturing in 2020    299.4     299.4  
3.6% senior notes, maturing in 2021    598.9     598.8  
6.80% senior notes, maturing in 2036    234.5     233.7  
7.0% senior notes, maturing in 2038    199.2     199.2  
Other debt, maturing through 2020 (interest rates from 0.3% to 4.5%)    28.9     16.5  

    
 

    
 

   2,352.3     2,339.6  
Capital lease obligations    22.1     13.2  

    
 

    
 

Total   $2,374.4    $2,352.8  
    

 

    

 

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt during the five years subsequent to December 31, 2011, exclusive of capital lease obligations, include
$306.5 million in 2016.

The Company maintains a registration statement that allows the Company to issue debt securities, series preferred stock, common stock, stock
purchase contracts and stock purchase units.

The Company has issued long-term debt securities in the public markets through a medium-term note program (MTN), which commenced in 1995.
MTN notes outstanding at December 31, 2011, consisted entirely of fixed-rate non-callable debt securities. All MTN notes outstanding were issued
between 1995 and 1998.

Debt Redemption
In 2010, the Company redeemed all of its outstanding $257,460,000 principal amount 7.625% senior notes due 2012. The Company recognized a
net loss of $34.9 million, including a premium of $37.4 million and a net gain of $2.5 million for terminated interest rate swaps, net of the
recognition of unamortized costs related to the notes.
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Note 12. Lease Commitments
The Company leases certain of its office and manufacturing facilities, machinery and equipment and corporate aircraft under various committed
lease arrangements provided by financial institutions.

The future minimum lease payments from continuing operations, by year and in the aggregate, under capital leases and under noncancelable
operating leases with initial or remaining noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year, consisted of the following at December 31, 2011:
 

   
Capital
Leases  

Noncancelable
Operating

Leases  
   (Dollars in millions)  
2012   $ 2.1   $ 50.4  
2013    1.9    41.4  
2014    3.0    29.9  
2015    2.9    22.9  
2016    2.9    19.2  
Thereafter    20.4    55.1  

    
 

   
 

Total minimum payments    33.2   $ 218.9  
    

 

   

 

Amounts representing interest    (9.5)  
    

 
 

Present value of net minimum lease payments    23.7   
Current portion of capital lease obligations    (1.6)  

    
 

 

Long-term portion of capital lease obligations   $22.1   
    

 

 

Net rent expense for 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $57.6 million, $49.5 million and $46.2 million, respectively. These amounts are net of immaterial
amounts of sublease rental income.

Note 13. Pensions and Postretirement Benefits
The Company has several defined benefit pension plans covering eligible employees. U.S. plans covering salaried and non-union hourly
employees generally provide benefit payments using a formula that is based on an employee’s compensation and length of service. Plans covering
union employees generally provide benefit payments of stated amounts for each year of service. Plans outside of the U.S. generally provide benefit
payments to eligible employees that relate to an employee’s compensation and length of service. The Company also sponsors several unfunded
defined benefit postretirement plans that provide certain health care and life insurance benefits to eligible employees in the U.S. and Canada. The
health care plans are both contributory, with retiree contributions adjusted periodically, and non-contributory and can contain other cost-sharing
features, such as deductibles and coinsurance. The life insurance plans are generally noncontributory.

Pension plans, defined contribution plans and postretirement benefits other than pensions include amounts related to divested and discontinued
operations.
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Amounts Recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Following are the amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 and the amounts
arising during 2011 and 2010 for pensions and postretirement benefits other than pension. There are no transition obligations.
 

   Net
Actuarial Loss 

 Prior
Service Cost 

 Total  
     Before Tax   Tax    After Tax  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Amounts Recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive

Income (Loss):        
Unrecognized (loss) at December 31, 2009   $ (1,371.1)  $ (21.4)  $(1,392.5)  $524.2    $ (868.3) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    
 

Amount recognized in net periodic benefit cost    120.9    6.4    127.3     
Amount due to remeasurements    (59.8)   (3.2)   (63.0)    
Foreign currency gain / (loss)    1.8    (0.2)   1.6     

    
 

   
 

   
 

   

Unrecognized (loss) at December 31, 2010   $ (1,308.2)  $ (18.4)  $(1,326.6)  $495.1    $ (831.5) 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
    

 

Amount recognized in net periodic benefit cost    62.2    5.3    67.5     
Amount due to remeasurements    (418.5)   (1.0)   (419.5)    
Amount due to settlement and curtailment    0.6    1.2    1.8     
Foreign currency gain / (loss)    1.0    0.1    1.1     

    
 

   
 

   
 

   

Unrecognized (loss) at December 31, 2011   $ (1,662.9)  $ (12.8)  $(1,675.7)  $617.1    $(1,058.6) 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

The before tax unrecognized loss at December 31, 2011 and 2010 includes $2.4 million and $1.2 million, respectively, for the Company’s share of
the accumulated other comprehensive loss from a Joint Venture (JV). This loss decreased our investment in the JV.

The amount of actuarial loss and prior service cost expected to be recognized in net periodic benefit cost during 2012 are approximately $92.8
million ($59.4 million after tax) and approximately $4.7 million ($3 million after tax), respectively.

Effective January 1, 2011, the Company determined that almost all of the participants of its U.S. salaried defined benefit pension plan were inactive
and began amortizing deferred losses for this plan over the remaining life expectancy of the inactive participants. Amortization of deferred losses
for all other defined benefit pension plans is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the average future service period of active
employees. Amortization of actuarial gains and losses is recognized using the “corridor approach”, which is the minimum amortization required.
Under the corridor approach, the actuarial net gain or loss in excess of 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-related
value of the assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over the amortization period.
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PENSIONS
The following table sets forth the Company’s defined benefit pension plans as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 and the amounts recorded in the
consolidated balance sheet. Company contributions include amounts contributed directly to plan assets and indirectly as benefits are paid from the
Company’s assets. Benefit payments reflect the total benefits paid from the plan and the Company’s assets. Information on the U.S. plans includes
both the qualified and non-qualified plans.
 
  U.S. Plans   U.K. Plans   Other Plans  
  2011   2010   2011   2010   2011   2010  
  (Dollars in millions)  
Change in Projected Benefit Obligations       

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year  $ 3,091.4   $ 2,906.4   $ 705.4   $ 678.7   $ 149.8   $ 117.8  
Service cost   49.1    46.3    17.1    15.6    7.4    4.9  
Interest cost   171.2    168.5    42.0    39.0    8.4    7.1  
Amendments   3.2    0.1    —    —    0.2    3.1  
Actuarial (gains) losses   238.1    159.2    108.1    10.4    27.0    15.9  
Participant contributions   —    —    0.3    0.3    2.4    2.5  
Curtailments   0.1    —    —    —    —    —  
Settlements   (1.1)   —    —    —    (0.7)   —  
Special termination benefits   4.0    —    0.7    0.1    —    —  
Foreign currency translation   —    —    (4.8)   (22.6)   (4.1)   3.0  
Other   —    —    —    —    0.5    —  
Benefits paid   (190.0)   (189.1)   (14.3)   (16.1)   (4.0)   (4.5) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Projected benefit obligation at end of year  $ 3,366.0   $ 3,091.4   $ 854.5   $ 705.4   $ 186.9   $ 149.8  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Accumulated Benefit Obligation at the End of Year  $ 3,181.3   $ 2,942.9   $ 718.4   $ 589.8   $ 159.3   $ 120.7  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Weighted Average Assumptions Used to Determine Benefit Obligations as of December 31       
Discount rate   5.03%   5.67%   5.00%   5.81%   4.38%   5.19% 
Rate of compensation increase   4.10%   4.10%   3.75%   3.75%   3.43%   3.40% 

Change in Plan Assets       
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  $ 2,574.9   $ 2,070.1   $ 702.4   $ 633.5   $ 98.6   $ 80.5  
Actual return on plan assets   213.7    290.1    22.6    73.4    (2.9)   9.0  
Settlements   (1.3)   —    —    —    (0.8)   —  
Participant contributions   —    —    0.3    0.3    2.4    2.5  
Company contributions   44.0    403.8    34.4    32.8    13.0    7.5  
Foreign currency translation   —    —    (2.8)   (21.5)   (2.1)   3.6  
Other   —    —    —    —    0.3    —  
Benefits paid   (190.0)   (189.1)   (14.3)   (16.1)   (4.0)   (4.5) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year  $ 2,641.3   $ 2,574.9   $ 742.6   $ 702.4   $ 104.5   $ 98.6  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Funded Status (Underfunded)  $ (724.7)  $ (516.5)  $ (111.9)  $ (3.0)  $ (82.4)  $ (51.2) 
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Amounts Recognized in the Balance Sheet Consist of:       
Prepaid pension  $ —   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 0.4   $ 0.7  
Accrued expenses — current liability   (14.1)   (14.2)   —    —    (1.0)   (0.5) 
Pension obligation — non-current liability   (710.6)   (502.3)   (111.9)   (3.0)   (81.8)   (51.4) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net asset (liability) recognized  $ (724.7)  $ (516.5)  $ (111.9)  $ (3.0)  $ (82.4)  $ (51.2) 
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) — before tax  $ (1,349.0)  $ (1,178.7)  $ (227.4)  $ (81.2)  $ (79.0)  $ (44.7) 
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Defined benefit plans with an accumulated benefit obligation exceeding the fair value of plan assets had the following obligations and plan assets
at December 31, 2011 and 2010:
 

   U.S. Plans    U.K. Plans    Other Plans  
   2011    2010    2011    2010    2011    2010  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Aggregate fair value of plan assets   $ 2,641.3    $ 2,574.9    $ —    $ —    $ 102.7    $ 9.2  
Aggregate projected benefit obligation   $ 3,366.0    $ 3,091.4    $ 1.0    $ 0.1    $ 185.5    $ 37.8  
Aggregate accumulated benefit obligations   $ 3,181.3    $ 2,942.9    $ 0.4    $ 0.1    $ 158.4    $ 33.9  

Defined benefit plans with a projected benefit obligation exceeding the fair value of plan assets had the following obligations and plan assets at
December 31, 2011and 2010:
 

   U.S. Plans    U.K. Plans    Other Plans  
   2011    2010    2011    2010    2011    2010  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Aggregate fair value of plan assets   $2,641.3    $2,574.9    $ 742.6    $ 702.5    $ 103.4    $ 90.2  
Aggregate projected benefit obligation   $3,366.0    $3,091.4    $ 854.5    $ 705.4    $ 186.2    $ 142.1  
Aggregate accumulated benefit obligations   $3,181.3    $2,942.9    $ 718.4    $ 589.8    $ 158.8    $ 113.4  

The components of net periodic benefit costs (income) and special termination benefit charges for 2011, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:
 

  U.S. Plans   U.K. Plans   Other Plans  
  2011   2010   2009   2011   2010   2009   2011   2010   2009  
  (Dollars in millions)  
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost (Income):          
Service cost  $ 49.1   $ 46.3   $ 42.9   $ 17.1   $ 15.6   $ 16.0   $ 7.4   $ 4.9   $ 3.9  
Interest cost   171.2    168.5    171.9    42.0    39.0    37.2    8.4    7.1    6.6  
Expected return on plan assets   (209.6)   (187.6)   (174.2)   (61.4)   (52.5)   (42.6)   (8.4)   (7.0)   (5.2) 
Amortization of prior service cost   5.9    7.0    7.3    (0.6)   (0.6)   (0.6)   0.4    0.1    0.9  
Amortization of actuarial (gain) loss   59.5    116.8    105.1    0.1    2.6    7.4    2.6    1.5    1.3  

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Gross periodic benefit cost (income)   76.1    151.0    153.0    (2.8)   4.1    17.4    10.4    6.6    7.5  
Settlement (gain)/loss   0.4    —    —    —    —    —    0.3    —    (0.4) 
Curtailment (gain)/loss   1.4    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —  

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net benefit cost (income)  $ 77.9   $ 151.0   $ 153.0   $ (2.8)  $ 4.1   $ 17.4   $10.7   $ 6.6   $ 7.1  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Special termination benefit charge  $ 4.0   $ —   $ —   $ 0.7   $ 0.1   $ 1.2   $ —   $ —   $ —  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Weighted Average Assumptions Used to Determine Net
Periodic Benefit Costs for the Years Ended
December 31          
Discount rate 1/1-6/6   5.67%   5.90%   6.47%   5.81%   5.88%   5.88%   5.20%   5.75%   6.17% 
Discount rate 6/7-10/5   5.63%   5.90%   6.47%   5.81%   5.88%   5.88%   5.20%   5.75%   6.17% 
Discount rate 10/6-12/31   5.63%   5.90%   6.47%   5.81%   5.88%   5.88%   5.17%   5.75%   6.17% 
Expected long-term return on assets   8.25%   8.75%   8.75%   8.25%   8.50%   8.50%   8.08%   8.32%   8.12% 
Rate of compensation increase   4.10%   4.10%   4.10%   3.75%   3.75%   3.75%   3.41%   3.38%   3.31% 

 
33



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
 
Due to the approval of a plan to close a U.S. facility, pension assumptions were reevaluated on June 7, 2011 for the remeasurement of a U.S.
Wage Plan covering certain union employees. See Note 4, “Business Segment Information”. The facility closure resulted in a curtailment loss of
$1.4 million and a contractual termination benefit charge of $4 million. The special termination benefit charges in 2011, 2010 and 2009 relate
primarily to reductions in force in several businesses in the U.K. Additionally, lump sum payments in a U.S. and a Canadian plan resulted in
settlement losses of $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively, for 2011, while a change to a French pension plan resulted in a settlement gain of
$0.4 million for 2009.

Expected Pension Benefit Payments
Pension benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, are estimated to be as follows:
 

Year   
U.S.

Plans    
U.K.

Plans    
Other
Plans  

   (Dollars in millions)  
2012   $ 199.9    $ 11.6    $ 4.3  
2013    208.4     13.3     4.9  
2014    203.1     15.0     5.4  
2015    206.8     16.9     6.8  
2016    209.8     19.1     7.9  
2017 to 2021    1,138.2     135.9     50.2  

Asset Valuation
The assets of the Company’s worldwide defined benefit plans (Global Plans) are measured at fair value (FV). FV and the FV measurement levels
are explained in Note 8, “Fair Value Measurements”.

Derivatives
Derivatives are exchange-traded or over-the-counter and include currency, interest rate and commodity futures, forward currency contracts, swaps
and options for equities, fixed income, commodities and currency, and derivatives of equity and fixed income securities. These instruments are
valued using a market approach based on prices obtained from primary or secondary exchanges for exchange-traded derivatives or using
proprietary pricing models which incorporate observable inputs including volatility, spot prices, swap curves and other market- corroborated inputs.
Realized gains and losses and changes in FV of the derivatives are reflected currently. Derivatives are used to manage portions of the interest rate
and currency exposures, to gain asset class exposure while maintaining liquidity and to exploit relative performance across asset classes or
markets.

Derivatives in the fair value table are futures contracts held within the U.S. Plans to manage the interest rate exposure and derivatives of equity
and fixed income securities used by the U.S. Plans to maintain asset class exposure to equities and fixed income while maintaining liquidity for
benefit payments.

Derivatives are held by commingled funds in the Global Tactical Asset Allocation (GTAA) portfolio to gain currency and commodity exposures.
Equity, fixed income and currency derivatives, including swaps and options, are used within the absolute return strategies to exploit relative
performance across asset classes or markets. Commodity futures and swaps are used within the commodity strategies. These derivatives are
shown within the commingled strategies to which they relate.

Derivatives are held within the commingled equity funds that invest in international equities to manage risk and enhance total return related to
investments in securities denominated in currencies other than the Global Plans’ currencies. These derivative positions are settled daily and
classified as other assets.
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Commingled Funds (Applicable to Money Market, Equity, Fixed Income, Commodity, Securities Lending Collateral, Real Estate, Asset
Allocation and Absolute Return Investments)
The commingled funds are institutional investment instruments valued at the FV of the ownership interests in the funds. The Net Asset Value (NAV)
per unit which is provided by the fund administrator is the primary input into the valuation of the ownership interest. The NAV is based on the FV of
the underlying assets owned by the fund, minus its liabilities, divided by the number of shares outstanding. Commingled investment funds
generally are valued based upon the observability of the prices or inputs used to value the underlying portfolio instruments.

The underlying assets of the real estate commingled fund investments are valued using unobservable inputs from the investment manager and
valuation techniques that include annual third party appraisals, comparable transactions, discounted cash flow valuations models and observable
market data. Unobservable inputs include prices of sales of similar properties, estimates of rental income, discount rates, residual value estimates
and estimates of reproduction or replacement costs. Liquidity for the real estate commingled funds is quarterly.

The underlying assets of the non-real estate commingled fund investments are money market, U.S. and non-U.S. equity, U.S. and non-U.S. fixed
income, and commodity financial instruments or investments in commingled funds that invest in these underlying assets. These instruments are
valued principally using a market approach based on quoted prices obtained from the primary or secondary exchanges on which they are traded.
When market prices are not available, FV is based on indicative quotes from brokers and proprietary pricing models combined with observable
market inputs, including unadjusted quotes in active markets or quoted prices for similar assets or other observable inputs including, but not limited
to, transactions activity, interest rates, yield curves, spot prices, prepayment speeds and default rates. These funds generally have daily liquidity.

In addition to the NAV, consideration is given to any specific rights or obligations that pertain to investments in the commingled fund, which if
deemed significant, may adjust the FV of the ownership interest and result in a lower, less observable FV hierarchy level. There are no significant
specific rights or obligations pertaining to these commingled funds that require an adjustment to the FV.

Equity
Individual equity securities, including common stock, real estate investment trusts (REITS), preferred stock, rights and warrants, are valued using a
market approach primarily based on quoted prices obtained from the primary or secondary U.S. and non-U.S. exchanges on which they are traded.
Investments in exchange-traded securities are valued at the closing prices on the last trading day of the year.

Fixed Income
Fixed income securities, including U.S. treasuries and U.S. and non-U.S. government, corporate and asset- and mortgage-backed securities and
commercial paper, are valued using a market approach primarily based on prices obtained from the primary or secondary exchanges on which
they are traded. When market prices are not available, these instruments are valued using a market approach based on (1) market transactions for
identical or comparable securities and various relationships between securities which are generally recognized by institutional traders, including
consideration of yield or price of securities of comparable quality, coupon, maturity and type or (2) based on quotes from bankers, brokers, dealers
or other qualified appraisers. FV is within a “bid-ask spread” and is considered to be the price at which the security would be exited. Certain
securities may be valued using an income approach based on cash flows and observable inputs such as discount rates, industry research reports,
the value of underlying assets or guarantees and issue structure.
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Guaranteed Investment Contracts (GICs)
GICs are insurance contracts that guarantee the owner principal repayment and a fixed or floating interest rate for a pre-determined amount of time
by investing in an underlying portfolio of securities. The fund is valued using a NAV. Please see above discussion in Commingled Funds.

The table below presents the classes and FV levels for the Global Plans’ assets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010.
 

  December 31, 2011   December 31, 2010  
  Total   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
  (Dollars in millions)  
Investments at FV         
Derivatives  $ 8.5   $ 8.5   $ —   $ —   $ (4.0)  $ (4.0)  $ —   $ —  
Short term investments         

Commingled money market funds   176.8    —    176.8    —    139.6    —    139.6    —  
Commingled collateral held under securities lending

agreements   9.4    —    9.4    —    65.0    —    65.0    —  
Commingled fixed income funds   23.2    —    23.2    —    12.5    —    12.5    —  

Commercial paper and other   —    —    —    —    2.5    —    2.5    —  
Equity         

Common stock/REITs   956.7    956.7    —    —    1,262.1    1,262.1    —    —  
Common stock — loaned   (9.7)   (9.7)   —    —    (49.5)   (49.5)   —    —  
Commingled equity funds   570.9    —    570.9    —    751.1    —    751.1    —  

Fixed Income         
U.S. treasuries   161.6    161.6    —    —    66.5    66.5    —    —  
Government, corporate and asset backed obligations   584.6    —    584.6    —    438.7    —    438.7    —  
U.S. government securities — loaned   —    —    —    —    (1.2)   (1.2)   —    —  
Corporate obligations — loaned   (0.2)   —    (0.2)   —    (13.2)   —    (13.2)   —  
Commingled fixed income funds   532.7    —    532.7    —    448.4    —    448.4    —  

Real Estate Commingled Funds   281.2    —    —    281.2    201.7    —    —    201.7  
Commingled Commodity Funds   92.1    —    92.1    —    24.8    —    24.8    —  
Asset Allocation Commingled Funds and Absolute Return

Commingled Funds   74.9    —    74.9    —    1.7    —    1.7    —  
Guaranteed Investment Contracts   3.4    —    3.4    —    3.4    —    3.4    —  
Securities on Loan   9.9    9.7    0.2    —    63.9    50.7    13.2    —  

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total Investments   3,476.0   $ 1,126.8   $ 2,068.0   $ 281.2    3,414.0   $ 1,324.6   $ 1,887.7   $ 201.7  
    

 

   

 

   

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

Other Assets         
Cash   18.0       18.6     
Net receivables/payables related to investment transactions   4.5       9.0     
Obligations under securities lending agreements   (10.1)      (65.7)    

   
 

      
 

   

Global plan assets  $ 3,488.4      $ 3,375.9     
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Following is a summary of the changes in the FV of the Level 3 investments for 2011 and 2010.
 

   Real Estate 

   
(Dollars in
millions)  

FV December 31, 2009   $ 125.9  
Acquisitions    70.2  
Dispositions    (7.8) 
Realized Gain (Loss)    0.1  
Change in FV    13.3  

    
 

FV December 31, 2010    201.7  
Acquisitions    58.7  
Realized Gain (Loss)    1.5  
Change in FV    19.3  

    
 

FV December 31, 2011   $ 281.2  
    

 

Asset Allocation and Investment Policy
The Company’s asset allocation strategies are designed to balance the objectives of achieving the target long-term rate of return to meet the future
payment obligations while reducing the volatility of the plans’ funded status and the Company’s pension expense and contribution requirements.

The majority of assets is invested in publicly traded U.S. and non-U.S. equities across a broad range of market capitalizations, industries and
countries. Fixed income strategies are broadly invested primarily in corporate bonds and U.S. and U.K. government bonds. Real estate strategies
are commingled investments that directly own U.S. and U.K. property. Commodity strategies are long commodity exposures that focus on
managing yield from the forward term structure of commodity futures contracts. The U.K. absolute return strategy makes decisions about market
exposure, stock selection and relative performance across asset classes or markets to achieve a targeted return.

Assets are rebalanced to targets on a periodic basis.

U.S. Qualified Pension Plans
The Company’s U.S. qualified pension plans were underfunded at December 31, 2011. Benefit payments from the plans were $178 million and
$177 million in 2011 and 2010, respectively.

No Company common stock was held directly by the plans at December 31, 2011 and 2010.

The plans’ fixed income assets have a target duration of 100% to 200% of the plans’ liabilities and are designed to offset 30% to 100% of the effect
of interest rate changes on the plans’ funded status. By investing in long-duration bonds and duration extending interest rate derivatives, the plans
are able to invest more assets in equities and real estate, which historically have generated higher returns over time, while reducing the volatility of
the plans’ funded status.
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The table below sets forth the U.S. Trust’s 2012 target asset allocation and the actual asset allocations at December 31, 2011 and 2010.
 

Asset Category   
Target Allocation

2012   

Actual Allocation
At December 31, 

2011   

Actual Allocation
At December 31, 

2010  
Equities – U.S. Large Cap    15-35%   24%   31% 
Equities – U.S. Mid Cap    3-8%   4%   7% 
Equities – U.S. Small Cap    1-6%   2%   4% 
Equities – Developed International &

Emerging Markets    10-20%   15%   20% 
Equities – Total    35-65%   45%   62% 
Real Estate    0-10%   8%   5% 
Commodities    2-4%   3%   1% 
Equities & Alternatives – Total    45-70%   56%   68% 
Fixed Income    30-60%   43%   31% 
Cash    0-2%   1%   1% 
Total    100%   100%   100% 

A portion of the assets, typically between 10% and 15%, is actively managed in a global tactical asset allocation strategy, where day-to-day
allocation decisions are made by the investment manager based on relative expected returns of stocks, bonds, commodities and cash in the U.S.
and various non-U.S. markets. The global tactical asset allocation strategy also has a currency management component that is unrelated to the
asset allocation positioning of the portfolio.

Tactical changes to the duration of the fixed income portfolio are made periodically. The actual duration of the fixed income portfolio was
approximately 18 and 13 years at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

U.K. Pension Plan
The Company’s U.K. defined benefit pension plans were underfunded at December 31, 2011. Benefit payments from the plans were $14.3 million
and $16.1 million in 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Since the plan’s obligations are paid in Great Britain Pounds Sterling, the plan invests approximately 70% of its assets in U.K.-denominated assets.
Fixed income assets have a duration of about 15 years and are designed to offset approximately 15% to 25% of the effect of interest rate changes
on the plan’s funded status.

The table below sets forth the plan’s target asset allocation for 2012 and the actual asset allocations at December 31, 2011 and 2010.
 

Asset Category   
Target Allocation

2012    

Actual Allocation
At December 31, 

2011    

Actual Allocation
At December 31, 

2010  
Equities – U.K.    14-17%     17%     30%  
Equities – Global    27-33%     26%     27%  
Absolute Return    9-11%     10%     0%  
Real Estate    8-12%     10%     9%  
Fixed Income    32-39%     36%     31%  
Cash    0%     1%     3%  
Total    100%     100%     100%  
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Assumptions
As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the discount rates for the U.S. and U.K. were determined using a bond settlement approach
based on a hypothetical portfolio of high quality corporate bonds whose coupon payments and maturity values are designed to match the projected
benefit payment cash flows of the underlying pension and OPEB obligations. The resulting discount rates were used to determine the benefit
obligations as of December 31, 2011 and 2010.

The long-term asset return assumptions for the U.S. and U.K. were based on an analysis of historical returns for equity, fixed income and real
estate markets and the Company’s strategic portfolio allocation.

The RP2000 mortality table with projected improvements for life expectancy through 2020 using Scale AA was used for determination of the U.S.
benefit obligations as of December 31, 2011 and 2010.

Anticipated Contributions to Defined Benefit Plans and Trusts
During 2012, the Company expects to contribute approximately $150 million to $200 million to its worldwide qualified and non-qualified pension
plans.

U.S. Non-Qualified Pension Plan Funding
The Company maintains non-qualified pension plans in the U.S. to accrue retirement benefits in excess of Internal Revenue Code limitations and
other contractual obligations. On December 31, 2011 and 2010, $60 million and $61 million, respectively, was held in a rabbi trust for payment of
future non-qualified pension benefits for certain retired, terminated and active employees. The assets consist of cash surrender value of life
insurance policies, equity and fixed income mutual funds and cash and cash equivalents. The assets of the rabbi trust, which do not qualify as plan
assets and, therefore, are not included in the tables in this note, are available to pay pension benefits to these individuals, but are otherwise
unavailable to the Company. The assets, other than approximately $27 million and $29 million as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively,
which are assigned to certain individuals if benefit payments to these individuals are not made when due, are available to the Company’s general
creditors in the event of insolvency.

Defined Contribution Plans
In the U.S., the Company maintains voluntary U.S. retirement savings plans for salaried and wage employees. For 2011, 2010 and 2009, the
Company’s cost was $61.8 million, $53.4 million and $49.8 million, respectively.

The Company also maintains defined contribution retirement plans for certain non-U.S. subsidiaries. For 2011, 2010 and 2009, the Company’s
cost was $12.6 million, $9.8 million and $7.1 million, respectively.
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POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS
The following table sets forth the status of the Company’s defined benefit postretirement plans other than pension and the amounts recorded in the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
 

   2011   2010  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Change in Projected Benefit Obligations    

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year   $ 326.6   $ 331.5  
Service cost    1.1    1.1  
Interest cost    15.7    17.4  
Amendments    (2.4)   —  
Actuarial (gains) losses    0.6    3.7  
Foreign currency translation/Other    (0.1)   0.1  
Gross benefits paid    (31.0)   (30.4) 
Federal subsidy received    3.5    3.2  

    
 

   
 

Projected benefit obligation at end of year   $ 314.0   $ 326.6  
    

 

   

 

Weighted-Average Assumptions used to Determine Benefit Obligations as of December 31    
Discount rate    4.67%   5.29% 
Initial health care rate of increase    7.50%   7.50% 
Ultimate health care rate of increase    5.00%   5.00% 
Year ultimate trend reached    2018    2017  

Change in Plan Assets    
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year   $ —   $ —  
Company contributions    31.0    30.4  
Gross benefits paid    (31.0)   (30.4) 

    
 

   
 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year   $ —   $ —  
    

 

   

 

Funded Status (Underfunded)   $(314.0)  $(326.6) 
    

 

   

 

Amounts Recognized in the Balance Sheet Consist of:    
Accrued expenses — current liability   $ (27.8)  $ (29.7) 
Postretirement benefits other than pensions — non-current liability    (286.2)   (296.9) 

    
 

   
 

Net liability recognized   $(314.0)  $(326.6) 
    

 

   

 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) — before tax   $ (20.3)  $ (22.0) 
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The components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost are as follows:
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2011   2010   2009  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost:     

Service cost   $ 1.1   $ 1.1   $ 1.4  
Interest cost    15.6    17.4    19.6  
Amortization of prior service cost    (0.4)   (0.1)   (0.2) 
Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss    —    —    —  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Net periodic benefit cost   $ 16.3   $ 18.4   $ 20.8  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Weighted-Average Assumptions used to Determine Net Periodic Benefit Cost     
Discount rate    5.29%   5.55%   6.38% 
Initial health care rate of increase    7.50%   7.30%   7.80% 
Ultimate health care rate of increase    5.00%   5.00%   5.00% 
Year ultimate trend reached    2017    2015    2015  

The table below quantifies the impact of a one-percentage point change in the assumed health care cost trend rate.
 

   

One Percentage
Point

Increase    

One Percentage
Point

Decrease  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Increase (Decrease) in     
Total of service and interest cost components in 2011   $ 0.8    $ (0.7) 
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2011   $ 17.7    $ (15.9) 

Expected Postretirement Benefit Payments Other Than Pensions
Benefit payments for other postretirement obligations other than pensions, which reflect expected future service are expected to be paid as follows:
 

Year   

Expected
Employer
Payments   

Medicare
Subsidy   

Net
Payments 

   (Dollars in millions)  
2012   $ 32.0    $ (3.6)  $ 28.4  
2013    32.1     (3.8)   28.3  
2014    32.0     (3.9)   28.1  
2015    31.7     (4.0)   27.7  
2016    31.2     (4.1)   27.1  
2017 to 2021    144.5     (22.0)   122.5  
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Note 14. Income Taxes
Income from continuing operations before income taxes as shown in the consolidated statement of income consists of the following:
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2011    2010    2009  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Domestic   $ 886.7    $592.0    $552.2  
Foreign    277.8     212.9     231.9  

    
 

    
 

    
 

TOTAL   $1,164.5    $804.9    $784.1  
    

 

    

 

    

 

A summary of income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations in the consolidated statement of income is as follows:
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2011   2010   2009  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Current     

Federal   $192.0   $ 67.4   $ 43.9  
Foreign    53.6    36.5    18.4  
State    5.2    (38.4)   6.8  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   250.8    65.5    69.1  
    

 
   

 
   

 

Deferred     
Federal    85.7    148.6    128.9  
Foreign    11.3    (2.3)   7.4  
State    (1.8)   8.7    2.4  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   95.2    155.0    138.7  
    

 
   

 
   

 

TOTAL   $346.0   $220.5   $207.8  
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Significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities were as follows:
 

   December 31,  
   2011   2010  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Deferred income tax assets    

Pensions   $ 291.0   $ 200.6  
Tax credit and net operating loss carryovers    125.0    114.8  
Postretirement benefits other than pensions    113.9    122.0  
Inventories    58.1    42.9  
Other nondeductible accruals    197.1    163.1  
Employee benefits plans    66.5    65.8  
Foreign currency hedges    4.9    —  
Other    17.8    —  

    
 

   
 

Deferred income tax assets    874.3    709.2  
Less: valuation allowance    (54.7)   (45.1) 

    
 

   
 

Total deferred income tax assets    819.6    664.1  
    

 
   

 

Deferred income tax liabilities    
Tax over book depreciation    (185.4)   (149.6) 
Intangible assets    (496.8)   (392.3) 
Foreign currency hedges    —    (3.8) 
Pre-production and contract accounting    (487.0)   (385.4) 
Other    —    (17.6) 

    
 

   
 

Total deferred income tax liabilities    (1,169.2)   (948.7) 
    

 
   

 

Net deferred income tax asset (liability)   $ (349.6)  $(284.6) 
    

 

   

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded for tax carryforwards and the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and income tax purposes and are measured using enacted tax laws and rates. A valuation allowance
is provided on deferred tax assets if it is determined that it is more likely than not that the asset will not be realized.

At December 31, 2011, the Company had net operating loss and tax credit carryforward benefits of approximately $125 million which will expire in
the years 2012 through 2031. For financial reporting purposes, the Company has a valuation allowance in 2011, 2010 and 2009 of approximately
$55 million, $45 million and $55 million, respectively, to offset the deferred tax asset relating to those carryforward benefits. The net expense
(benefit) recorded as a change in the total valuation allowance for 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $9.7 million, ($9.8) million and $4.2 million,
respectively.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits, in millions of dollars, was as follows:
 

Balance at January 1, 2009   $131.3  
Additions based on tax positions related to current year    9.9  
Additions for tax positions of prior years    3.1  
Reductions for tax positions of prior years    (1.4) 
Settlements    (4.9) 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2009   $138.0  
    

 

Additions based on tax positions related to current year    10.2  
Additions for tax positions of prior years    20.0  
Reductions for tax positions of prior years    (6.7) 
Settlements    (14.4) 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2010   $147.1  
    

 

Additions based on tax positions related to current year    13.4  
Additions for tax positions of prior years    14.4  
Reductions for tax positions of prior years    (7.0) 
Settlements    (5.2) 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2011   $162.7  
    

 

Included in the balance at December 31, 2011, are $0.8 million of tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is highly certain but for which
there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility. Because of the impact of deferred tax accounting, other than interest and penalties, the
disallowance of the shorter deductibility period would not affect the annual effective tax rate but would accelerate the payment of cash to the taxing
authority to an earlier period. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the total amount of unrecognized benefits that, if recognized, would have affected
the effective tax rate was $215.5 million and $203.9 million, respectively. The difference relates to the impact of indirect effects including the federal
benefit of state taxes and interest and penalties net of any related federal benefit as well as temporary differences which do not affect the effective
tax rate. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. During 2011, 2010 and 2009,
the Company recognized adjustments to income tax expense for interest and penalties of gains of $20.1 million, $29 million and $9.5 million,
respectively. The Company had approximately $99.3 million and $119.4 million for the payment of interest and penalties accrued at December 31,
2011 and 2010, respectively.

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various U.S. state jurisdictions and foreign
jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal examination for years before 2005 and with few exceptions, state and local
examinations for years before 2005 and non-U.S. income tax examinations for years before 2002. In late 2011 and early January 2012, the U.S.
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) began examination of its 2009 and 2010 taxable years, respectively. For a discussion of uncertainties related to tax
matters see Note 16, “Contingencies”.
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The effective income tax rate from continuing operations varied from the statutory federal income tax rate as follows:
 

   2011   2010   2009  

   %   
(Dollars in
millions)   %   

(Dollars in
millions)   %   

(Dollars in
millions)  

Income from continuing operations before income taxes    $1,164.5    $ 804.9    $ 784.1  
Statutory federal income tax rate    35.0%    35.0%    35.0%  
State and local taxes    0.2%  $ 1.9    0.6%  $ 4.6    0.9%  $ 7.1  
Tax benefits related to U.S. manufacturing    (1.4)%  $ (16.1)   (0.8)%  $ (6.6)   (0.9)%  $ (7.4) 
Tax credits    (2.1)%  $ (24.3)   (3.1)%  $ (25.1)   (3.0)%  $ (23.8) 
Deemed repatriation of non-U.S. earnings    0.3%  $ 3.2    1.7%  $ 14.0    1.8%  $ 14.0  
Differences in rates on foreign subsidiaries    (1.3)%  $ (15.2)   (3.4)%  $ (27.6)   (4.3)%  $ (33.8) 
Interest on potential tax liabilities    0.3%  $ 3.7    0.5%  $ 4.1    (1.0)%  $ (7.7) 
Tax settlements and other adjustments to tax reserves

(See Note 16)    (0.3)%  $ (2.9)   (1.1)%  $ (9.0)   1.0%  $ 7.5  
Other items(1)    (1.0)%  $ (11.9)   (2.0)%  $ (15.6)   (3.0)%  $ (22.6) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

 

Effective income tax rate    29.7%    27.4%    26.5%  
    

 

    

 

    

 

 

 
 

(1) Includes a $10 million charge in 2010 due to the enactment of health care reform legislation in the U.S.

The Company has not provided for U.S. deferred income taxes or foreign withholding tax on basis differences in its non-U.S. subsidiaries of
approximately $852.9 million that result primarily from the remaining undistributed earnings the Company intends to reinvest indefinitely.
Determination of the potential liability on these basis differences is not practicable because such liability, if any, is dependent on circumstances
existing if and when remittance occurs.
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Note 15. Supplemental Balance Sheet Information
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
The changes in accounts receivable allowances for doubtful accounts, in millions of dollars, were as follows:
 

Balance at December 31, 2008   $17.2  
    

 

Charged to expense    2.9  
Write-off of doubtful accounts    (2.3) 
Foreign currency translation and other    0.2  

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2009    18.0  
    

 

Charged to expense    2.3  
Write-off of doubtful accounts    (3.7) 
Foreign currency translation and other    0.2  

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2010    16.8  
    

 

Charged to expense    3.2  
Write-off of doubtful accounts    (1.1) 
Foreign currency translation and other    0.4  

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2011   $19.3  
    

 

Property, Plant and Equipment-net
Property, plant and equipment and accumulated depreciation were as follows:
 

   December 31,  
   2011   2010  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Land   $ 103.8   $ 78.8  
Buildings and improvements    835.2    801.9  
Machinery and equipment    2,361.9    2,270.9  
Construction in progress    273.2    213.8  

    
 

   
 

   3,574.1    3,365.4  
Less accumulated depreciation    (1,940.9)   (1,843.9) 

    
 

   
 

Total   $ 1,633.2   $ 1,521.5  
    

 

   

 

Property included assets acquired under capital leases, principally buildings, machinery and equipment of $27.7 million and $18 million at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Related accumulated depreciation was $5.3 million and $4.2 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Depreciation expense was $202.5 million, $190.3 million and $179.2 million during 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Interest costs
capitalized during 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $2.3 million, $1.5 million and $1.8 million, respectively.
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Other Assets
Other assets consisted of the following:
 

   December 31,  
   2011    2010  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Participation payments — net of accumulated amortization of $14.3 million and $12 million at

December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively   $175.8    $116.7  
Rotable assets — net of accumulated amortization of $159 million and $145.4 million at December 31,

2011 and 2010, respectively    136.3     130.3  
Rabbi trust assets, including cash surrender value of life insurance contracts    116.1     115.1  
Sales incentives — net of accumulated amortization of $68.9 million and $67.2 million at December 31,

2011 and 2010, respectively    62.7     55.6  
Flight certification costs — net of accumulated amortization of $12.5 million and $9.4 million at

December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively    47.0     42.8  
Investments in affiliated companies    26.4     17.8  
Entry fee — net of accumulated amortization of $6.7 million and $4.7 million at December 31, 2011 and

2010, respectively    21.3     23.3  
Foreign currency hedges    19.3     43.9  
All other    66.4     79.1  

    
 

    
 

Total   $671.3    $624.6  
    

 

    

 

See Note 2, “Significant Accounting Policies” for a description of rotable assets, participation payments, sales incentives, flight certification costs
and the entry fee.

Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consisted of the following:
 

   December 31,  
   2011    2010  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Deferred revenue (see Note 2 “Significant Accounting Policies”)   $ 371.3    $ 274.9  
Wages, vacations, pensions and other employment costs    365.1     313.2  
Warranties    93.6     90.0  
Accrued taxes    46.1     31.1  
Postretirement benefits other than pensions    27.8     29.7  
Foreign currency hedges    15.9     22.5  
Other    291.3     280.4  

    
 

    
 

Total   $1,211.1    $1,041.8  
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Guarantees
The Company extends financial and product performance guarantees to third parties. At December 31, 2011, the following environmental
remediation and indemnification and financial guarantees were outstanding:
 

   

Maximum
Potential
Payment    

Carrying
Amount of

Liability  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Environmental remediation and other indemnification (See Note 16 “Contingencies”)    No limit    $ 12.9  
Guarantees of residual value on leases   $ 28.1    $ —  
Guarantees of JV debt and other financial instruments   $ 41.9    $ —  

The Company has guarantees of residual values on certain lease obligations in which the Company is obligated to either purchase or remarket the
assets at the end of the lease term.

The Company is a guarantor on a revolving credit agreement totaling £35 million between Rolls-Royce Goodrich Engine Control Systems Limited
(JV) and a financial institution. In addition, the Company guarantees the JV’s foreign exchange credit line with a notional amount of $142 million
and a fair value asset of $0.5 million at December 31, 2011. The Company is indemnified by Rolls-Royce for 50% of the gains/losses resulting from
the foreign exchange hedges.

Service and Product Warranties
The Company provides service and warranty policies on certain of its products. The Company accrues liabilities under service and warranty
policies based upon specific claims and a review of historical warranty and service claim experience. Adjustments are made to accruals as claim
data and historical experience change. In addition, the Company incurs discretionary costs to service its products in connection with product
performance issues.

The changes in the carrying amount of service and product warranties, in millions, are as follows:
 

Balance at December 31, 2009   $  147.6  
    

 

Net provisions for warranties issued during the year    49.2  
Net change to warranties existing at the beginning of the year    (6.8) 
Payments    (42.0) 
Foreign currency translation and other    0.5  

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2010    148.5  
    

 

Net provisions for warranties issued during the year    51.1  
Net change to warranties existing at the beginning of the year    6.2  
Payments    (53.9) 
Foreign currency translation and other    6.0  

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2011   $ 157.9  
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The current and long-term portions of service and product warranties were as follows:
 

   December 31,  
   2011    2010  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Accrued expenses   $ 93.6    $ 90.0  
Other non-current liabilities    64.3     58.5  

    
 

    
 

Total   $157.9    $148.5  
    

 

    

 

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Total comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following:
 

   
Year Ended

December 31,  
   2011   2010   2009  
Net income attributable to Goodrich   $ 810.4   $578.7   $597.3  
Other comprehensive income (loss) net of tax:     
Unrealized foreign currency translation gains (losses) during the period, net of tax for 2009 of ($1.9)(1)    (84.7)   (31.2)   119.2  
Pension and OPEB liability adjustments during the period, net of tax for 2011, 2010 and 2009 of $121.9,

($29.1) and ($37.2), respectively    (227.1)   36.8    37.2  
Gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax for 2011, 2010 and 2009 of $8.7, $6 and ($76.4), respectively    (23.3)   (8.5)   148.5  
Less: comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests    —    —    —  

    
 

   
 

   
 

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Goodrich   $ 475.3   $575.8   $902.2  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following:
 

   December 31,  
   2011   2010  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Cumulative unrealized foreign currency translation gains, net of deferred taxes of ($1.5) and ($1.7),

respectively(1)   $ 54.9   $ 139.6  
Pension and OPEB liability adjustments    (1,058.6)   (831.5) 
Accumulated gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges    (7.5)   15.8  

    
 

   
 

Total   $(1,011.2)  $(676.1) 
    

 

   

 

 
 

(1) Other than noted above, no income taxes were provided on foreign currency translation gains (losses) for comprehensive income (loss) and
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as foreign earnings are considered permanently invested.

The pension and OPEB liability amounts above are net of deferred taxes of $617.1 million and $495.1 million in 2011 and 2010, respectively. The
accumulated gain on cash flow hedges above is net of deferred taxes of $4.1 million and $4.6 million in 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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Note 16. Contingencies
General
There are various pending or threatened claims, lawsuits and administrative proceedings against the Company or its subsidiaries, arising from the
ordinary course of business which seek remedies or damages. Although no assurance can be given with respect to the ultimate outcome of these
matters, the Company believes that any liability that may finally be determined with respect to commercial and non-asbestos product liability claims
should not have a material effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Legal costs are expensed as incurred.

Environmental
The Company is subject to environmental laws and regulations which may require that the Company investigate and remediate the effects of the
release or disposal of materials at sites associated with past and present operations. At certain sites, the Company has been identified as a
potentially responsible party under the federal Superfund laws and comparable state laws. The Company is currently involved in the investigation
and remediation of a number of sites under applicable laws.

Estimates of the Company’s environmental liabilities are based on current facts, laws, regulations and technology. These estimates take into
consideration the Company’s prior experience and professional judgment of the Company’s environmental specialists. Estimates of the Company’s
environmental liabilities are further subject to uncertainties regarding the nature and extent of site contamination, the range of remediation
alternatives available, evolving remediation standards, imprecise engineering evaluations and cost estimates, the extent of corrective actions that
may be required and the number and financial condition of other potentially responsible parties, as well as the extent of their responsibility for the
remediation.

Accordingly, as investigation and remediation proceed, it is likely that adjustments in the Company’s accruals will be necessary to reflect new
information. The amounts of any such adjustments could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations or cash flows in a
given period. Based on currently available information, however, the Company does not believe that future environmental costs in excess of those
accrued with respect to sites for which the Company has been identified as a potentially responsible party are likely to have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s financial condition.

Environmental liabilities are recorded when the liability is probable and the costs are reasonably estimable, which generally is not later than at
completion of a feasibility study or when the Company has recommended a remedy or has committed to an appropriate plan of action. The
liabilities are reviewed periodically and, as investigation and remediation proceed, adjustments are made as necessary. Liabilities for losses from
environmental remediation obligations do not consider the effects of inflation and anticipated expenditures are not discounted to their present
value. The liabilities are not reduced by possible recoveries from insurance carriers or other third parties, but do reflect anticipated allocations
among potentially responsible parties at federal Superfund sites or similar state-managed sites, third party indemnity obligations or contractual
obligations, and an assessment of the likelihood that such parties will fulfill their obligations at such sites.

The changes in the carrying amount of environmental liabilities for 2011, in millions, are as follows:
 

Balance at December 31, 2010   $ 67.7  
Accruals and adjustments    5.4  
Payments    (8.2) 
Foreign currency translation and other    3.4  

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2011   $ 68.3  
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At December 31, 2011 and 2010, $13.3 million and $14.6 million, respectively, of the accrued liability for environmental remediation were included
in current liabilities as accrued expenses. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, $32.8 million and $27.3 million, respectively, was associated with
ongoing operations and $35.5 million and $40.4 million, respectively, was associated with previously owned businesses.

The Company expects that it will expend present accruals over many years, and will generally complete remediation in less than 30 years at sites
for which it has been identified as a potentially responsible party. This period includes operation and monitoring costs that are generally incurred
over 15 to 25 years.

Certain states in the U.S. and countries globally are promulgating or proposing new or more demanding regulations or legislation impacting the use
of various chemical substances by all companies. The Company continues to evaluate the potential impact, if any, of complying with such
regulations and legislation.

Asbestos
The Company and some of its subsidiaries have been named as defendants in various actions by plaintiffs alleging damages as a result of
exposure to asbestos fibers in products or at formerly owned facilities. The Company believes that pending and reasonably anticipated future
actions are not likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. There can be no
assurance, however, that future legislative or other developments will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations
and cash flows in a given period.

Insurance Coverage
The Company maintains a comprehensive portfolio of insurance policies, including aviation products liability insurance which covers most of its
products. The aviation products liability insurance typically provides first dollar coverage for defense and indemnity of third party claims.

A portion of the Company’s primary and excess layers of pre-1986 insurance coverage for third party claims, primarily related to certain long-tail
toxic tort and environmental claims, was provided by certain insurance carriers who are either insolvent, undergoing solvent schemes of
arrangement or in run-off. The Company has entered into settlement agreements with a number of these insurers pursuant to which the Company
agreed to give up its rights with respect to certain insurance policies in exchange for negotiated payments. These settlements represent negotiated
payments for the Company’s loss of insurance coverage, as it no longer has this insurance available for claims that may have qualified for
coverage. The portion of these payments which related to recovery of past costs (recognized as expense in prior periods) or for which there are
currently no anticipated future claims is recognized in income when the payments are received. The portion related to potential future claims is
recorded as deferred settlement credits on the balance sheet.

The deferred settlement credits partially offset future costs related to insurable claims utilizing a systematic and consistent approach. The
recognition of the deferred settlement credits is calculated utilizing the estimated percent of costs incurred in the current period that insurance
companies would have reimbursed to the Company if insurance coverage were still in place. This approach utilizes historical claims and insurance
information of the Company and is reviewed and updated at least annually.

A summary of the deferred settlement credits activity for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, in millions, is as follows:
 

Balance at December 31, 2010   $ 48.6  
Proceeds from insurance settlements    0.5  
Amounts recorded as reduction of costs    (5.6) 

    
 

Balance at December 31, 2011   $ 43.5  
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The current and long-term portions of the deferred settlement credits were as follows:
 

   December 31,  
      2011         2010    
   (Dollars in millions)  
Accrued expenses   $ 7.2    $ 5.7  
Other non-current liabilities    36.3     42.9  

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 43.5    $ 48.6  
    

 

    

 

It is not practical to estimate when the remaining deferred settlement credits are expected to be recognized. The proceeds from such insurance
settlements were reported as a component of net cash provided by operating activities in the period payments were received.

Liabilities of Divested Businesses
In connection with the divestiture of the Company’s tire, vinyl and other businesses, the Company has received contractual rights of indemnification
from third parties for environmental and other claims arising out of the divested businesses. Failure of these third parties to honor their
indemnification obligations could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Aerostructures Long-term Contracts
The Company’s aerostructures business in the Nacelles and Interior Systems segment has several long-term contracts in the pre-production phase
including the Airbus A350 XWB, the A320neo and the Pratt and Whitney PurePower  PW 1000G engine contracts, and in the early production
phase, including the Boeing 787. These contracts are accounted for in accordance with long-term construction contract accounting.

The pre-production phase includes design of the product to meet customer specifications as well as design of the processes to manufacture the
product. Also involved in this phase is securing the supply of material and subcomponents produced by third party suppliers, generally
accomplished through long-term supply agreements.

Contracts in the early production phase include excess-over-average inventories, which represent the excess of current manufactured cost over
the estimated average manufactured cost during the life of the contract.

Cost estimates over the lives of contracts are affected by estimates of future cost reductions including learning curve efficiencies. Because these
contracts cover manufacturing periods of up to 20 years or more, there is risk associated with the estimates of future costs made during the pre-
production and early production phases. These estimates may be different from actual costs due to various risk factors, including the following:
 

 •  Ability to recover costs incurred for change orders and claims;
 

 •  Costs, including material and labor costs and related escalation;
 

 •  Labor improvements due to the learning curve experience;
 

 •  Anticipated cost and/or productivity improvements, including overhead absorption, related to new, or changes to, manufacturing methods
and processes;

 

 •  Supplier pricing, including escalation where applicable, potential supplier claims, the supplier’s financial viability and the supplier’s ability
to perform;

 

 •  The cost impact of product design changes that frequently occur during the flight test and certification phases of a program; and
 

 •  Effect of foreign currency exchange fluctuations.
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Additionally, total contract revenue is based on estimates of future units to be delivered to the customer, the ability to recover costs incurred for
change orders and claims and sales price escalation, where applicable. There is a risk that there could be differences between the actual units
delivered and the estimated total units to be delivered under the contract and differences in actual revenues compared to estimates. Changes in
estimates could have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations and cash flows.

Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period such losses are determined to the extent total estimated costs
exceed total estimated contract revenues.

Aerostructures Boeing 787 Nacelle Contract
During July 2011, the Company agreed to a contract modification with Boeing on the 787 contract. The contract modification extended the duration
of the contract through 2030 and did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and/or cash flows. The
Company’s latest outlook estimates original equipment sales in excess of $9 billion for this contract. Aftermarket sales associated with this program
are not accounted for using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting.

This program is in the early production phase, with its entry into service in September 2011 followed by rapidly increasing production rates shortly
thereafter. For this contract to remain profitable, it will be important that assumptions are realized as currently estimated in the Company’s outlook,
such as:
 

 •  Supplier pricing consistent with projected costs must be negotiated for portions of the product. These prices could be impacted by design
changes, changes in material costs and availability of reliable suppliers in competitive cost countries;

 

 •  New automated equipment is being utilized to manufacture the 787 composite nacelle, which is expected to reduce costs significantly
during the contract period;

 

 
•  Nacelle product design changes continue to occur to improve product performance, reduce weight and lower cost. The Company

expects that some of the costs for these changes will be recoverable from Boeing and also expects to have success on its various cost
reduction initiatives; and

 

 •  Material and overhead cost escalation and inflation assumptions could be different than estimated.

While the Company continues to believe the contract will be profitable, it is important to note that changes to any of the current cost and/or revenue
assumptions will have a significant impact on the overall profitability of the contract and could have a material impact on the Company’s results of
operations in the period identified. All of the risk factors listed in “Aerostructures Long-term Contracts” above could also affect the Company’s
outlook of profitability on this contract.

JSTARS Program
In 2002, Seven Q Seven, Ltd. (7Q7) was selected by Northrop Grumman Corporation to provide propulsion pods for the re-engine program for the
JT3D engines used by the U.S. Air Force. The Company was selected by 7Q7 as a supplier for the inlet, thrust reverser, exhaust, EBU, strut
systems and wing interface systems. As of December 31, 2011, the Company had $18.4 million (net of advances of $8.8 million) of pre-production
costs and inventory related to this program.

Future program funding remains uncertain and there can be no assurance of such funding. If the program were to be cancelled, the Company
would recognize an impairment.

Tax
The Company is continuously undergoing examination by the IRS as well as various state and foreign jurisdictions. The IRS and other taxing
authorities routinely challenge certain deductions and credits reported by the Company on its income tax returns. See Note 14, “Income Taxes”, for
additional detail.
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Tax Years 2007 and 2008
In January 2011, the IRS issued a Revenue Agent’s Report (RAR) for the tax years 2007 and 2008. In February 2011, the Company submitted a
protest to the Appeals Division of the IRS with respect to certain unresolved issues which involve the proper timing of deductions. Although it is
reasonably possible that these matters could be resolved during the next 12 months, the timing or ultimate outcome is uncertain.

Tax Years 2005 and 2006
During 2009, the IRS issued a RAR for the tax years 2005 and 2006. In July 2009, the Company submitted a protest to the Appeals Division of the
IRS with respect to certain unresolved issues which involve the proper timing of deductions. Although it is reasonably possible that these matters
could be resolved during the next 12 months, the timing or ultimate outcome is uncertain.

Tax Years 2000 to 2004
During 2007, the IRS and the Company reached agreement on substantially all of the issues raised with respect to the examination of taxable
years 2000 to 2004. The Company submitted a protest to the Appeals Division of the IRS with respect to the remaining unresolved issues which
involve the proper timing of certain deductions. The Company and the IRS were unable to reach agreement on the remaining issues. In December
2009, the Company filed a petition in the U.S. Tax Court and in March 2010 the Company also filed a complaint in the Federal District Court. On
January 18, 2012, the District Court granted the government’s motion for partial summary judgment in this matter. Final judgment in the District
Court case cannot be entered until the remaining issues are resolved. It is the Company’s intent to appeal the ruling once final judgment is entered.
The Company believes the amount of the estimated tax liability if the IRS were to ultimately prevail is fully reserved. The Company cannot predict
the timing or ultimate outcome of a final resolution.

Tax Years Prior to 2000
The previous examination cycle included the consolidated income tax groups for the audit periods identified below:
 

Coltec Industries Inc. and Subsidiaries
  

December, 1997 — July, 1999 (through
date of acquisition)

Goodrich Corporation and Subsidiaries   1998 — 1999 (including Rohr, Inc. (Rohr) and Coltec)

The IRS and the Company previously reached final settlement on all but one of the issues raised in this examination cycle. The Company received
statutory notices of deficiency dated June 14, 2007 related to the remaining unresolved issue which involves the proper timing of certain
deductions. The Company filed a petition with the U.S. Tax Court in September 2007 to contest the notices of deficiency.

In December 2010, the Company reached a tentative agreement with the IRS to settle the remaining unresolved issue but due to the size of the
potential refund, the agreement required approval by the Joint Committee on Taxation (JCT). In January 2011, the JCT approved the terms of the
settlement agreement. In March 2011, the U.S. Tax Court accepted the terms of the settlement agreement and agreed to the litigants’ request to
dismiss the matter. The Company recognized a tax benefit of approximately $21 million in the three months ended March 31, 2011.

Rohr was examined by the State of California for the tax years ended July 31, 1985, 1986 and 1987. The State of California disallowed certain
expenses incurred by one of Rohr’s subsidiaries in connection with the lease of certain tangible property. California’s Franchise Tax Board held that
the deductions associated with the leased equipment were non-business deductions. In addition, California audited our amended tax returns filed
to reflect the changes resulting from the settlement of the U.S. Tax Court for Rohr’s tax years
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1986 to 1997. California issued an assessment based on numerous issues including proper timing of deductions and allowance of tax credits. In
October 2010, a comprehensive settlement was reached with the California Tax Board addressing all issues for tax years 1985 through 2001. The
Company recognized a tax benefit of approximately $23 million in the three months ended December 31, 2010.

Note 17. Derivatives and Hedging Activities
Cash Flow Hedges
The Company has subsidiaries that conduct a substantial portion of their business in Great Britain Pounds Sterling, Euros, Canadian Dollars,
Indian Rupees and Polish Zlotys but have significant sales contracts that are denominated primarily in U.S. Dollars. Periodically, the Company
enters into forward contracts to exchange U.S. Dollars for these currencies to hedge a portion of the Company’s exposure from U.S. Dollar sales.

The forward contracts described above are used to mitigate the potential volatility to earnings and cash flow arising from changes in currency
exchange rates that impact the Company’s U.S. Dollar sales for certain foreign operations. The forward contracts are accounted for as cash flow
hedges and are recorded in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at fair value, with the offset reflected in AOCI, net of deferred taxes. The
gain or loss on the forward contracts is reported as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) (OCI) and reclassified into earnings in the
same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The notional value of the forward contracts at December 31, 2011
and 2010 was $1,933.7 million and $2,286.5 million, respectively. The total fair value before taxes of the Company’s forward contracts and the
accounts in the consolidated balance sheet in which the fair value amounts are included are shown below:
 

   December 31,  
       2011           2010     
   (Dollars in millions)  
Prepaid expenses and other assets   $ 15.8    $ 20.3  
Other assets    19.8     44.6  
Accrued expenses    16.0     22.7  
Other non-current liabilities    26.1     11.6  

The amounts recognized in OCI and reclassified from AOCI into earnings are shown below:
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2011   2010   2009  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Amount of gain/(loss) recognized in OCI, net of tax for 2011, 2010 and 2009 of $8.7, $6

and $(76.4), respectively   $(23.3)  $ (8.5)  $148.5  
Amount of gain/(loss) reclassified from AOCI into earnings   $ 11.5   $(32.2)  $ (49.6) 

As of December 31, 2011, the fair value of the Company’s forward contracts of a $6.5 million net liability (before a deferred tax asset of $3.2
million), is recorded in AOCI and will be reflected in income as earnings are affected by the hedged items. As of December 31, 2011 the portion of
the $6.5 million that would be reclassified into earnings as a decrease in sales to offset the effect of the hedged item in the next 12 months is a loss
of $0.2 million. These forward contracts mature on a monthly basis with maturity dates that range from January 2012 to December 2016. There
was a de minimis amount of both ineffectiveness and hedge components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness during 2011, 2010 and
2009.

In connection with the formation of the JV on December 31, 2008, a third party assumed, without recourse to the Company, certain of these
forward contracts with notional amounts aggregating $149.5 million and a fair value liability of approximately $32 million. The related net loss
position of $32 million associated with these forward contracts was deferred in AOCI and is recognized into earnings as the
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original forecasted transactions affect earnings. As of December 31, 2011, a $0.4 million loss, net of deferred taxes of $0.4 million, remained in
AOCI related to these forward contracts.

As of December 31, 2011, a $2.7 million loss, net of deferred taxes of $0.5 million, remained in AOCI related to the treasury locks resulting from
the 2006 and 2010 issuance of senior notes.

Fair Value Hedges
The Company enters into interest rate swaps to increase the Company’s exposure to variable interest rates. The settlement and maturity dates on
each swap are the same as those on the referenced notes. The interest rate swaps are accounted for as fair value hedges and the carrying value
of the notes is adjusted to reflect the fair values of the interest rate swaps. For 2011, 2010 and 2009, net gains of $1.6 million, $2.7 million and $3.7
million ($1 million, $1.7 million and $2.3 million after tax, respectively) were recorded as a reduction to interest expense. These amounts included
previously terminated swaps which are amortized over the life of the underlying debt. At December 31, 2011, the Company had no interest rate
swaps outstanding.

Other Forward Contracts
As a supplement to the foreign exchange cash flow hedging program, the Company enters into forward contracts to manage its foreign currency
risk related to the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the relevant functional currency. These
forward contracts generally mature monthly and the notional amounts are adjusted periodically to reflect changes in net monetary asset balances.
Since these contracts are not designated as hedges, the gains or losses on these forward contracts are recorded in cost of sales. These contracts
are utilized to mitigate the earnings impact of the translation of net monetary assets and liabilities.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had no such outstanding forward contracts. During 2011, the Company recorded a gain on its monetary
assets of approximately $8 million, which was offset by losses on the forward contracts described above of approximately $17 million.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had contracts outstanding with a notional value of $14.9 million and a fair value net liability of $0.2 million.
During 2010, the Company recorded a transaction gain on its monetary assets of approximately $17.7 million, which was offset by losses on the
forward contracts described above of approximately $26.2 million.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had contracts outstanding with a notional value of $57.9 million and a fair value net liability of $2.5 million.
During 2009, the Company recorded a transaction loss on its monetary assets of approximately $16.7 million, which was partially offset by gains
on the forward contracts described above of approximately $9.8 million.

Note 18. Supplemental Cash Flow Information
The following table sets forth other cash flow information including acquisitions.
 

   Year Ended December 31,  
   2011   2010   2009  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Estimated fair value of tangible assets acquired   $ 203.5   $ 88.2   $ 115.1  
Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets acquired    588.2    280.1    420.9  
Net cash paid, net of cash acquired    (503.3)   (342.6)   (392.1) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

Liabilities assumed, including deferred tax liabilities   $ 288.4   $ 25.7   $ 143.9  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Interest paid, net of amount capitalized   $ 130.9   $ 123.8   $ 114.8  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Income taxes paid, net of refunds received   $ 73.0   $ 142.6   $ 38.9  
    

 

   

 

   

 

Interest and income taxes paid include amounts related to discontinued operations.
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Note 19. Preferred Stock
There are 10,000,000 authorized shares of Series Preferred Stock — $1 par value. Shares of Series Preferred Stock that have been redeemed are
deemed retired and extinguished and may not be reissued. As of December 31, 2011, 2,401,673 shares of Series Preferred Stock have been
redeemed, and no shares of Series Preferred Stock were outstanding. The Board of Directors establishes and designates the series and fixes the
number of shares and the relative rights, preferences and limitations of the respective series of the Series Preferred Stock.

Cumulative Participating Preferred Stock — Series F
The Company has 200,000 shares of Junior Participating Preferred Stock — Series F — $1 par value Series F Stock authorized at December 31,
2011. Series F Stock has preferential voting, dividend and liquidation rights over the Company’s common stock. At December 31, 2011, no Series
F Stock was issued or outstanding.

Note 20. Common Stock
During 2011, 2010 and 2009, 1.5 million, 3 million and 1.6 million shares, respectively, of authorized but unissued shares of common stock were
issued under the 2001 and 2011 Equity Compensation Plan and other employee share-based compensation plans.

During 2011, the Company registered an additional 2.8 million shares of common stock reserved for issuance for future awards pursuant to the
2011 Equity Compensation Plan and other employee share-based compensation plans. As of December 31, 2011, there were 11.2 million shares
of common stock reserved for issuance under outstanding and future awards pursuant to the 2011 Equity Compensation Plan and other employee
share-based compensation plans.

As discussed in Note 1, “Goodrich Merger Agreement with United Technologies Corporation”, the Company is prohibited from granting new awards
pursuant to employee share-based compensation plans after September 21, 2011 (except under certain conditions in the event the Merger is not
consummated prior to August 31, 2012).

The Company acquired 1.2 million, 2.4 million and 0.4 million shares of treasury stock in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Included in these
amounts are shares the Company repurchased under its share repurchase program described below.

A share repurchase program was initially approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on October 24, 2006 and increased on February 19,
2008, for $600 million in total. On February 15, 2011, the Board approved an additional increase to $1.1 billion in total. The primary purpose of the
program is to reduce dilution to existing shareholders from the Company’s share-based compensation plans. No time limit was set for completion
of the program. Repurchases under the program may be made through open market or privately negotiated transactions at times and in such
amounts as management deems appropriate, subject to market conditions, regulatory requirements and other factors. The program does not
obligate the Company to repurchase any particular amount of common stock, and may be suspended or discontinued at any time without notice.
The Company repurchased 1 million, 2.2 million and 0.3 million shares of the Company’s common stock for approximately $84 million, $167 million
and $16 million in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, under the program. The Company has $479 million remaining to repurchase shares under
the program.
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  2011 Quarters   2010 Quarters  
  First   Second   Third   Fourth   First   Second   Third   Fourth  
  (Dollars in millions, except per share amount)  
BUSINESS SEGMENT SALES         
Actuation and Landing Systems  $ 684.3   $ 736.7   $ 733.0   $ 791.3   $ 613.1   $ 608.1   $ 631.1   $ 639.2  
Nacelles and Interior Systems   656.4    688.8    705.1    746.4    555.8    577.4    582.7    623.6  
Electronic Systems   555.2    575.9    594.5    607.3    526.3    532.0    534.2    543.4  

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

TOTAL SALES  $1,895.9   $2,001.4   $2,032.6   $2,145.0   $1,695.2   $1,717.5   $1,748.0   $1,806.2  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

GROSS PROFIT(1)  $ 585.4   $ 617.2   $ 660.1   $ 709.4   $ 490.9   $ 544.6   $ 541.1   $ 546.4  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

OPERATING INCOME         
Actuation and Landing Systems  $ 86.5   $ 76.5   $ 97.1   $ 113.3   $ 69.4   $ 60.5   $ 79.5   $ 63.7  
Nacelles and Interior Systems   157.3    178.2    191.1    203.1    118.8    151.4    136.8    148.9  
Electronic Systems   91.0    89.8    104.7    105.3    70.8    95.1    86.3    72.7  
Corporate(2)   (34.5)   (41.6)   (41.4)   (40.6)   (38.0)   (31.7)   (41.5)   (44.4) 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME  $ 300.3   $ 302.9   $ 351.5   $ 381.1   $ 221.0   $ 275.3   $ 261.1   $ 240.9  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME  $ 196.6   $ 178.3   $ 203.3   $ 240.6   $ 113.8   $ 161.4   $ 161.4   $ 150.0  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS ATTRIBUTABLE TO
GOODRICH  $ 194.8   $ 176.6   $ 201.1   $ 237.6   $ 110.0   $ 158.9   $ 160.1   $ 147.5  

Discontinued Operations   —    —    —    0.3    1.2    0.1    0.1    0.8  
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO GOODRICH  $ 194.8   $ 176.6   $ 201.1   $ 237.9   $ 111.2   $ 159.0   $ 160.2   $ 148.3  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Basic Earnings Per Share(3)         
Continuing Operations  $ 1.53   $ 1.39   $ 1.59   $ 1.87   $ 0.87   $ 1.25   $ 1.26   $ 1.16  
Discontinued Operations   —    —    —    —    0.01    —    —    0.01  

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Income Attributable to Goodrich  $ 1.53   $ 1.39   $ 1.59   $ 1.87   $ 0.88   $ 1.25   $ 1.26   $ 1.17  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted Earnings Per Share(3)         
Continuing Operations  $ 1.52   $ 1.38   $ 1.57   $ 1.85   $ 0.86   $ 1.24   $ 1.25   $ 1.15  
Discontinued Operations   —    —    —    —    0.01    —    —    0.01  

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net Income Attributable to Goodrich  $ 1.52   $ 1.38   $ 1.57   $ 1.85   $ 0.87   $ 1.24   $ 1.25   $ 1.16  
   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 
(1) Gross profit represents sales less cost of sales.
 

(2) Includes corporate general and administrative expenses and certain ERP expenses, which were not allocated to the segments.
 

(3) The sum of the earnings per share for the four quarters in a year does not necessarily equal the total year earnings per share due to rounding.
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) (Continued)
 
The Company’s operating results included the following pre-tax income from the revision of estimates on certain long-term contracts, primarily
recorded by the Company’s aerostructures and wheels and brakes businesses in 2011 and 2010:
 

       2011           2010     
   (Dollars in millions)  
First Quarter   $ 20.7    $ 16.0  
Second Quarter    20.6     32.8  
Third Quarter    41.6     22.2  
Fourth Quarter    25.2     27.0  

    
 

    
 

  $ 108.1    $ 98.0  
    

 

    

 

The second quarter of 2011 included a $15.6 million pre-tax charge related to the closure of a facility in the Company’s landing gear business. See
Note 4, “Business Segment Information”, to the consolidated financial statements.

The third quarter of 2011 included additional pre-tax share-based compensation expense of approximately $15 million and pre-tax merger-related
costs of approximately $12 million, primarily investment bank fees, legal costs and other filing fees and expenses, related to the Merger Agreement
entered into with UTC. See Note 1, “Goodrich Merger Agreement with United Technologies Corporation”, to the consolidated financial statements.

The fourth quarter of 2011 included pre-tax income of approximately $35 million related to agreements reached with a customer on previously
unresolved product pricing, ongoing product pricing and reimbursement of certain non-recurring costs.

The first quarter of 2010 included a charge of $10 million due to the enactment of health care reform legislation in the U.S.

The fourth quarter of 2010 included a $34.9 million pre-tax net loss in connection with the redemption of our senior notes due in 2012. See Note 5,
“Other Income (Expense) — Net”, to the consolidated financial statements. The fourth quarter of 2010 also included a $23 million tax benefit
related to the California Tax Board settlement (see Note 16, “Contingencies”, to the consolidated financial statements) and the full year 2010 net
tax benefit of $13.5 million for the extension of the U.S. Research and Development tax credit, which became law in December 2010.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Shareholders and Board of Directors of Goodrich Corporation

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheet of Goodrich Corporation as of March 31, 2012, and the related condensed
consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, and the condensed consolidated
statements of cash flows for the three-month period ended March 31, 2012 and 2011. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management.

We conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). A review of interim
financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting
matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion.

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the condensed consolidated financial statements
referred to above for them to be in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheet of Goodrich Corporation as of December 31, 2011, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’
equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, not presented herein; and in our report dated February 23, 2012, we expressed an unqualified
opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2011, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been
derived.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
April 26, 2012
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED)
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2012   2011  

   
(Dollars in millions,

except per share amounts)  
Sales   $ 2,152.6   $ 1,895.9  
Operating costs and expenses:    

Cost of sales    1,510.5    1,310.5  
Selling and administrative costs    318.4    285.1  

    
 

   
 

   1,828.9    1,595.6  
    

 
   

 

Operating Income    323.7    300.3  
Interest expense    (34.8)   (34.6) 
Interest income    0.2    0.3  
Other income (expense) — net    (9.6)   (5.8) 

    
 

   
 

Income from continuing operations before income taxes    279.5    260.2  
Income tax expense    (89.6)   (63.6) 

    
 

   
 

Income From Continuing Operations    189.9    196.6  
Income (loss) from discontinued operations — net of income taxes    (0.1)   —  

    
 

   
 

Consolidated Net Income    189.8    196.6  
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests    (1.6)   (1.8) 

    
 

   
 

Net Income Attributable to Goodrich   $ 188.2   $ 194.8  
    

 

   

 

Amounts attributable to Goodrich:    
Income from continuing operations   $ 188.3   $ 194.8  
Income (loss) from discontinued operations — net of income taxes    (0.1)   —  

    
 

   
 

Net Income Attributable to Goodrich   $ 188.2   $ 194.8  
    

 

   

 

Earnings per common share attributable to Goodrich:    
Basic Earnings Per Share    

Continuing operations   $ 1.48   $ 1.53  
Discontinued operations    —    —  

    
 

   
 

Net Income Attributable to Goodrich   $ 1.48   $ 1.53  
    

 

   

 

Diluted Earnings Per Share    
Continuing operations   $ 1.46   $ 1.52  
Discontinued operations    —    —  

    
 

   
 

Net Income Attributable to Goodrich   $ 1.46   $ 1.52  
    

 

   

 

Dividends Declared Per Common Share   $ 0.29   $ 0.29  
    

 

   

 

Comprehensive Income Attributable to Goodrich   $ 303.5   $ 312.2  
    

 

   

 

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)
 

   
March 31,

2012   
December 31,

2011  

   
(Dollars in millions,

except share amounts)  
Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 704.1   $ 987.0  
Accounts and notes receivable, less allowances for doubtful receivables ($23.4 at March 31, 2012 and $19.3 at

December 31, 2011)    1,528.4    1,343.2  
Inventories — net    3,061.6    2,876.6  
Deferred income taxes    215.5    197.8  
Prepaid expenses and other assets    76.2    60.0  

    
 

   
 

Total Current Assets    5,585.8    5,464.6  
    

 
   

 

Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated depreciation ($1,992.8 at March 31, 2012 and $1,940.9 at
December 31, 2011)    1,667.0    1,633.2  

Goodwill    2,007.1    1,991.0  
Identifiable intangible assets — net    919.1    917.2  
Deferred income taxes    36.5    36.4  
Other assets    708.4    671.3  

    
 

   
 

Total Assets   $10,923.9   $ 10,713.7  
    

 

   

 

Current Liabilities    
Short-term debt   $ 6.9   $ 25.0  
Accounts payable    869.3    768.8  
Accrued expenses    1,116.6    1,211.1  
Income taxes payable    77.1    45.8  
Deferred income taxes    23.9    23.3  
Current maturities of long-term debt and capital lease obligations    14.2    1.6  

    
 

   
 

Total Current Liabilities    2,108.0    2,075.6  
    

 
   

 

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations    2,362.3    2,374.4  
Pension obligations    777.9    904.3  
Postretirement benefits other than pensions    282.9    286.2  
Long-term income taxes payable    174.0    174.0  
Deferred income taxes    600.6    560.5  
Other non-current liabilities    586.6    600.2  
Shareholders’ Equity    
Common stock — $5 par value    
Authorized 200,000,000 shares; issued 150,503,327 shares at March 31, 2012 and 149,713,719 shares at

December 31, 2011 (excluding 14,000,000 shares held by a wholly owned subsidiary)    752.5    748.6  
Additional paid-in capital    1,912.4    1,870.7  
Income retained in the business    3,341.5    3,190.3  
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)    (895.9)   (1,011.2) 
Common stock held in treasury, at cost (24,583,946 shares at March 31, 2012 and 24,422,527 shares at

December 31, 2011)    (1,118.2)   (1,098.3) 
    

 
   

 

Total Shareholders’ Equity    3,992.3    3,700.1  
Noncontrolling interests    39.3    38.4  

    
 

   
 

Total Equity    4,031.6    3,738.5  
    

 
   

 

Total Liabilities And Equity   $10,923.9   $ 10,713.7  
    

 

   

 

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2012   2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Operating Activities    
Consolidated net income   $ 189.8   $ 196.6  
Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net income to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:    
(Income) loss from discontinued operations    0.1    —  
Restructuring and consolidation:    

Expenses    8.6    2.9  
Payments    (4.4)   (0.9) 

Pension and postretirement benefits:    
Expenses    34.8    26.6  
Contributions and benefit payments    (142.2)   (75.4) 

Depreciation and amortization    79.9    72.4  
Excess tax benefits related to share-based payment arrangements    (14.9)   (8.6) 
Share-based compensation expense    12.4    17.9  
Deferred income taxes    (3.8)   (5.2) 
Change in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and divestitures:    

Receivables    (172.2)   (157.3) 
Inventories, net of pre-production and excess-over-average    (65.3)   (41.0) 
Pre-production and excess-over-average inventories    (101.6)   (55.8) 
Other current assets    (3.4)   1.8  
Accounts payable    92.6    90.5  
Accrued expenses    (112.6)   (68.3) 
Income taxes payable/receivable    44.5    105.8  
Other assets and liabilities    (19.7)   (5.6) 

    
 

   
 

Net Cash (Used In) Provided By Operating Activities    (177.4)   96.4  
    

 
   

 

Investing Activities    
Purchases of property, plant and equipment    (71.5)   (35.6) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    0.3    0.1  
Payments received (made) in connection with acquisitions, net of cash acquired    —    8.3  
Investments in and advances to equity investees    (0.5)   (0.5) 

    
 

   
 

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities    (71.7)   (27.7) 
    

 
   

 

Financing Activities    
Increase (decrease) in short-term debt, net    (18.0)   0.8  
Proceeds (repayments) of long-term debt and capital lease obligations    (0.3)   (0.5) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock    23.2    27.1  
Purchases of treasury stock    (20.0)   (96.6) 
Dividends paid    (36.8)   (0.5) 
Excess tax benefits related to share-based payment arrangements    14.9    8.6  
Distributions to noncontrolling interests    (0.7)   (0.7) 

    
 

   
 

Net Cash Used In Financing Activities    (37.7)   (61.8) 
    

 
   

 

Discontinued Operations    
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities    (0.1)   (0.1) 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    —    —  
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    —    —  

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations    (0.1)   (0.1) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents    4.0    5.4  

    
 

   
 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    (282.9)   12.2  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    987.0    798.9  

    
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 704.1   $ 811.1  
    

 

   

 

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
Note 1. Goodrich Merger Agreement with United Technologies Corporation
On September 21, 2011, Goodrich Corporation and its majority-owned subsidiaries (“the Company” or “Goodrich”) entered into an Agreement and
Plan of Merger (Merger Agreement) with United Technologies Corporation (UTC). The Merger Agreement provides that, upon the terms and
subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, the Company will be acquired by UTC in a cash-for-stock transaction (Merger). The
Company has agreed to various covenants in the Merger Agreement, including, among other things:
 

 •  to conduct its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice during the period between the execution of the Merger
Agreement and the time of the Merger;

 

 •  to not grant new awards pursuant to employee share-based compensation plans after September 21, 2011 (except under certain
conditions in the event the Merger is not consummated prior to August 31, 2012); and

 

 •  to not incur or assume any indebtedness other than under the Company’s existing unsecured committed revolving credit facility.

At the time of the Merger, each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock will be converted into the right to receive $127.50 in cash,
without interest payable to the holder of such share. All outstanding share-based awards including stock options, restricted stock units and
performance units, whether vested or unvested, will be cancelled in exchange for a cash payment in accordance with the Merger Agreement.

The consummation of the Merger is expected to occur in mid-2012 and is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain closing conditions,
including (1) adoption of the Merger Agreement by the shareholders of the Company, which occurred on March 13, 2012, (2) expiration or
termination of any applicable waiting period under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and other consents and
approvals required under applicable antitrust laws, (3) the absence of any law or order prohibiting the consummation of the Merger, (4) subject to
certain exceptions, the accuracy of representations and warranties of the Company and UTC and (5) the performance or compliance by the
Company and UTC with their respective covenants and agreements.

The Company incurred merger-related costs of $7.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2012. These costs are included in other income
(expense) — net in the Company’s condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income. See Note 5, “Other Income (Expense) — Net”.
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Note 2. Basis of Interim Financial Statements
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries have been prepared in
accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q and do not include all of the information and notes required by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States for complete financial statements. Unless indicated otherwise or the context requires, the terms “we,” “our,” “us,”
“Goodrich” or “Company” refer to the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company believes that all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring
accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2012 are not
necessarily indicative of the results that may be achieved for the twelve months ending December 31, 2012. Unless otherwise noted, disclosures
pertain to the Company’s continuing operations. For further information, refer to the consolidated financial statements and notes included in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts
recognized. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed and updated regularly as new information becomes available. During the three months
ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company changed its estimates of revenues and costs on certain long-term contracts primarily in its
aerostructures and aircraft wheels and brakes businesses. The changes in estimates increased income from continuing operations before income
taxes during the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 by $18 million and $20.7 million, respectively ($11.4 million and $13.1 million after
tax, or $0.09 and $0.10 per diluted share, respectively). These changes were primarily related to favorable cost and operational performance,
changes in volume expectations and sales pricing improvements and finalization of contract terms on current and/or follow-on contracts.

Accrued Expenses. Accrued expenses consisted of the following:
 

   
March 31,

2012    
December 31,

2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Deferred revenue   $ 430.7    $ 371.3  
Wages, vacations, pensions and other employment costs    243.0     365.1  
Warranties    88.3     93.6  
Accrued taxes    49.2     46.1  
Postretirement benefits other than pensions    27.7     27.8  
Foreign currency hedges    6.1     16.0  
Other    271.6     291.2  

    
 

    
 

Total   $1,116.6    $ 1,211.1  
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Note 3. New Accounting Standards
New Accounting Standards Adopted in 2012
In May 2011, accounting guidance was issued that is included in Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurement”.
This guidance amends the requirements for measuring amounts at fair value and disclosing information about fair value measurements. The
Company adopted this new standard as of January 1, 2012.

In June 2011, accounting guidance was issued that is included in ASC Topic 220, “Comprehensive Income”. This guidance eliminates the option to
report other comprehensive income and its components in the statement of changes in equity. Companies can elect to present net income and
comprehensive income in one continuous statement or in two separate, but consecutive, statements. The Company adopted this new standard as
of March 31, 2012 and has presented net income and comprehensive income for both periods in one continuous statement.

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted
As of March 31, 2012, there were no new standards applicable to the Company that have not yet been adopted.

Note 4. Business Segment Information
The Company’s business segments are as follows:
 

 •  The Actuation and Landing Systems segment provides systems, components and related services pertaining to aircraft taxi, take-off, flight
control, landing and stopping, and engine components, including fuel delivery systems and rotating assemblies.

 

 
•  The Nacelles and Interior Systems segment produces products and provides maintenance, repair and overhaul services associated with

aircraft engines, including thrust reversers, cowlings, nozzles and their components, and aircraft interior products, including slides, seats,
cargo and lighting systems.

 

 
•  The Electronic Systems segment produces a wide array of systems and components that provide flight performance measurements, flight

management, fuel controls, electrical systems, control and safety data, reconnaissance and surveillance systems and precision guidance
systems.
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The Company measures each reporting segment’s profit based upon operating income. Accordingly, the Company does not allocate net interest
expense, other income (expense) — net or income taxes to its reporting segments. The company-wide Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) costs
that are not directly associated with a specific business were not allocated to the segments. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as those for the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2012   2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Sales:    

Actuation and Landing Systems   $ 802.5   $ 684.3  
Nacelles and Interior Systems    757.4    656.4  
Electronic Systems    592.7    555.2  

    
 

   
 

  $2,152.6   $1,895.9  
    

 

   

 

Intersegment sales:    
Actuation and Landing Systems   $ 11.2   $ 9.8  
Nacelles and Interior Systems    3.1    2.8  
Electronic Systems    8.4    10.9  

    
 

   
 

  $ 22.7   $ 23.5  
    

 

   

 

Operating income:    
Actuation and Landing Systems(1)   $ 97.0   $ 86.5  
Nacelles and Interior Systems    176.0    157.3  
Electronic Systems    88.1    91.0  

    
 

   
 

Segment Operating Income    361.1    334.8  
Corporate general and administrative expenses    (32.5)   (30.9) 
ERP costs    (4.9)   (3.6) 

    
 

   
 

Total operating income   $ 323.7   $ 300.3  
    

 

   

 

 
(1) The Company will close a facility in its landing gear business and incur substantially all of the costs by the end of 2012. The Company

anticipates that it will incur costs in connection with this closure of approximately $37 million, of which approximately $15 million is for
personnel related expenses, including severance, pension charges, outplacement services and assistance with employment transitioning,
and approximately $22 million primarily related to facility closure and other costs, including accelerated depreciation, equipment dismantle
and relocation costs and lease termination costs. Subsequent to the announcement of the closure on June 7, 2011, the Company incurred
$20.1 million of costs related to this closure in 2011. During the three months ended March 31, 2012, the Company incurred $2.3 million of
costs related to this closure of which $0.3 million was personnel related and $2 million was facility closure and other costs and $2.2 million of
these costs were reported in cost of sales and $0.1 million were reported in selling and administrative costs.
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Note 5. Other Income (Expense) — Net
Other Income (Expense) — Net consisted of the following:
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2012   2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Merger related expenses(1)   $ (7.2)  $ —  
Retiree health care expenses related to previously owned businesses    (2.1)   (2.6) 
Expenses related to previously owned businesses    (1.0)   (1.6) 
Equity in affiliated companies    0.5    (0.9) 
Other — net    0.2    (0.7) 

    
 

   
 

Other income (expense) — net   $ (9.6)  $ (5.8) 
    

 

   

 

 
(1) Expenses related to the Merger Agreement. See Note 1, “Goodrich Merger Agreement with United Technologies Corporation”.

Note 6. Share-Based Compensation
During the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company expensed share-based compensation awards under the Goodrich Equity
Compensation Plan and the Goodrich Corporation 2008 Global Employee Stock Purchase Plan for employees and under the Outside Director
Deferral and Outside Director Phantom Share plans for non-employee directors. A detailed description of the awards under these plans is included
in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.

The compensation cost recorded for share-based compensation plans during the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 was $12.4 million
and $17.9 million, respectively. The decrease from 2011 to 2012 was primarily due to the Company being prohibited from granting new awards
pursuant to employee share-based compensation plans after September 21, 2011, partially offset by changes from 2011 to 2012 in the Company’s
share price for the performance unit and Outside Director Phantom Share Plans.

The announcement of the Merger Agreement resulted in the Company’s share price trading based on the probability and expected timing of the
Merger rather than on the Company’s business performance or that relative to its peers. Consequently, the market condition of the Company’s
performance unit plans vesting in December 2012 and 2013 did not provide a reasonable estimate of fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation
approach. As a result, management’s best estimate of the liability at March 31, 2012 for these plans was based on the Company’s share price at
March 31, 2012 and a payout percentage equal to that of the performance unit plan that vested in December 2011, which approximated the
estimated payout percentages for these plans prior to the announcement of the Merger Agreement. See Note 1, “Goodrich Merger Agreement with
United Technologies Corporation”.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan Shares Issued
There were 207,787 and 236,855 shares of common stock issued during the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Employee contributions of $15.8 million and $13.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, were used to
purchase the Company’s stock during the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Note 7. Earnings Per Share
The computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) for income from continuing operations is as follows:
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2012   2011  

   
(In millions, except
per share amounts)  

Numerator    
Numerator for basic and diluted EPS — income from continuing operations attributable to Goodrich   $188.3   $194.8  
Percentage allocated to common shareholders (1)    99.0%   98.6% 

    
 

   
 

Numerator for basic and diluted EPS   $186.3   $192.1  
    

 

   

 

Denominator    
Denominator for basic EPS — weighted-average shares    125.8    125.3  
Effect of dilutive securities:    
Stock options, employee stock purchase plan and other deferred compensation shares    1.5    1.1  

    
 

   
 

Denominator for diluted EPS — adjusted weighted-average shares and assumed conversion    127.3    126.4  
    

 

   

 

Per common share income from continuing operations    
Basic   $ 1.48   $ 1.53  

    

 

   

 

Diluted   $ 1.46   $ 1.52  
    

 

   

 

    

(1) Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding    125.8    125.3  
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding and unvested restricted share units expected to vest    127.1    127.0  

    
 

   
 

Percentage allocated to common shareholders    99.0%   98.6% 

The Company’s unvested restricted share units contain rights to receive nonforfeitable dividend equivalents, and thus, are participating securities
requiring the two-class method of computing EPS. The calculation of EPS for common stock shown above excludes the income attributable to the
unvested restricted share units from the numerator and excludes the dilutive impact of those units from the denominator.

At March 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company had 3.1 million and 3.6 million, respectively, of outstanding stock options. Stock options are included in
the diluted earnings per share calculation using the treasury stock method, unless the effect of including the stock options would be anti-dilutive.
There were no anti-dilutive stock options excluded from the EPS calculation at March 31, 2012. At March 31, 2011, 0.7 million anti-dilutive stock
options were excluded from the diluted EPS calculation.

During the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company issued 0.8 million and 1 million, respectively, of shares of common stock
pursuant to stock option exercises and other share-based compensation plans.
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The Company’s share repurchase program was approved by the Board of Directors for $1.1 billion in total. There were no share repurchases
during the three months ended March 31, 2012 and during the three months ended March 31, 2011, the Company repurchased 0.9 million shares.
From inception of the program through March 31, 2012, the Company has repurchased 9.8 million shares for approximately $621 million under its
share repurchase program.

Note 8. Fair Value Measurements
The Company defines fair value as the price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The following three
levels of inputs are used to measure fair value:
 

Level 1 — quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2 — observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 3 —
 
unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data available, which require the reporting entity to develop its own
assumptions.

The Company’s financial assets and (liabilities) measured at fair value on a recurring basis were, in millions, as follows:
 

   

Fair Value
March 31,

2012   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   

Fair Value
December 31,

2011   Level 1    Level 2   Level 3 
Cash Equivalents (1)   $ 18.0   $18.0    $ —   $ —    $ 146.0   $146.0    $ —   $ —  
Derivative Financial Instruments (2)             

Cash Flow Hedges    44.2    —     44.2    —     (6.5)   —     (6.5)   —  
Rabbi Trust Assets (3)    66.1    66.1     —    —     56.6    56.6     —    —  
Long-term debt (4)    (2,710.6)   —     (2,710.6)   —     (2,772.4)   —     (2,772.4)   —  
 
(1) Because of their short maturities, the carrying value of these assets approximates fair value.
 

(2) See Note 18, “Derivatives and Hedging Activities”. Estimates of the fair value of the derivative financial instruments represent the Company’s
best estimates based on its valuation models, which incorporate industry data and trends and relevant market rates and transactions.

 

(3) Rabbi trust assets include mutual funds and cash equivalents for payment of certain non-qualified benefits for retired, terminated and active
employees. The fair value of these assets was based on quoted market prices.

 

(4) The carrying amount of the Company’s long-term debt was $2,340.2 million and $2,352.3 million at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011,
respectively. The fair value of long-term debt is based on quoted market prices or on rates available to the Company for debt with similar
terms and maturities.
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Note 9. Inventories
Inventories consist of the following:
 

   
March 31,

2012   
December 31,

2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Average or actual cost (which approximates current costs):    
Finished products   $ 228.0   $ 220.8  
In-process    2,507.0    2,360.6  
Raw materials and supplies    798.2    753.7  

    
 

   
 

   3,533.2    3,335.1  
Less:    
Reserve to reduce certain inventories to LIFO basis    (54.6)   (54.2) 
Progress payments and advances    (417.0)   (404.3) 

    
 

   
 

Total   $3,061.6   $ 2,876.6  
    

 

   

 

In-process inventory included $1,783.5 million and $1,561.7 million at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, respectively, for the following:
(1) pre-production and excess-over-average inventory accounted for under long-term contract accounting; and (2) engineering costs recoverable
under long-term contractual arrangements. The March 31, 2012 balance of $1,783.5 million included $907.2 million related to the Boeing 787,
$366.5 million related to the Pratt and Whitney PurePower  PW 1000G engine contracts, $324.7 million related to the Airbus A350 XWB and $33.4
million related to the Airbus A320neo.

The Company uses the last-in, first-out (LIFO) cost method of valuing inventory for certain of the Company’s legacy aerospace manufacturing
businesses, primarily the aircraft wheels and brakes business in the Actuation and Landing Systems segment. An actual valuation of inventory
under the LIFO method can be made only at the end of each year based on the inventory levels and costs at that time.

Progress payments and advances represent (1) non-refundable payments for work-in-process and (2) cash received from government customers
where the government has legal title to the work-in-process.
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Note 10. Goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment were as follows:
 

   

Balance
December 31,

2011    
Business

Combinations   

Foreign
Currency

Translation/
Other    

Balance
March 31,

2012  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Actuation and Landing Systems(1)   $ 519.9    $ —    $ 11.2    $ 531.1  
Nacelles and Interior Systems    629.5     —     2.5     632.0  
Electronic Systems    841.6     —     2.4     844.0  

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

  $ 1,991.0    $ —    $ 16.1    $2,007.1  
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) On May 12, 2011, the Company acquired Microtecnica for $457.1 million in cash, net of cash acquired. Based on the Company’s purchase

price allocation, $312.4 million was identifiable intangible assets, $214.3 million was goodwill and $105.8 million was net deferred tax
liabilities primarily related to the intangible assets. Of the total identifiable intangible assets, $305.1 million related to customer relationships
and will be amortized over a useful life of 27 years. This useful life was determined, in part, from an appraisal performed by an independent
valuation firm which based the life of the customer relationships on existing customer programs that have long production and aftermarket
cycles. The Company analyzed the period of future performance and estimated cash flows to determine the fair value of the customer
relationships and the resulting useful life. The useful life is typical of the aerospace and defense industry where a company sells product to
an airframe manufacturer for new aircraft production that may run 10 to 25 years, followed by sales of spare and replacement parts and
maintenance, repair and overhaul services that are sold to the aircraft operators for as long as the aircraft remains in service, which is
typically 10 to 25 years after the aircraft is delivered. The goodwill primarily represents the expected value from combining Microtecnica’s
expertise in flight controls with the Company’s flight control actuation business and is not deductible for tax purposes.

Note 11. Financing Arrangements
The Company has a five-year unsecured committed syndicated revolving credit facility which permits borrowings up to a maximum of $700 million.
This credit facility expires in May 2016. Interest rates under the facility vary depending upon:
 

 •  The amount borrowed;
 

 •  The Company’s public debt rating by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch; and
 

 •  At the Company’s option, rates tied to the agent bank’s prime rate or, for U.S. Dollar and Great Britain Pounds Sterling borrowings, the
London Interbank Offered Rate and for Euro borrowings, the Euro Interbank Offered Rate.

At March 31, 2012, there were $12.7 million in borrowings and $34 million letters of credit outstanding under the facility. At December 31, 2011,
there were $12.3 million in borrowings and $37 million in letters of credit outstanding under the facility. In order to
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be eligible to borrow under the facility, the Company must be in compliance with a maximum leverage ratio covenant and other standard
covenants. The Company is currently in compliance with all covenants. At March 31, 2012, the Company had borrowing capacity under this facility
of $653.3 million, after reductions for borrowings and letters of credit outstanding under the facility.

At March 31, 2012, the Company also maintained $75 million of uncommitted U.S. working capital facilities and $157.5 million of uncommitted and
committed foreign working capital facilities with various banks to meet short-term borrowing requirements. At March 31, 2012 and December 31,
2011, there were $6.9 million and $25 million, respectively, in borrowings and $38 million in letters of credit and bank guarantees outstanding under
these facilities as of March 31, 2012. These credit facilities are provided by a small number of commercial banks that also provide the Company
with committed credit through the syndicated revolving credit facility described above and with various cash management, trust and other services.

At March 31, 2012, the Company had letters of credit and bank guarantees of $116.2 million, inclusive of letters of credit outstanding under the
Company’s syndicated revolving credit facility, uncommitted U.S. working capital facilities and uncommitted and committed foreign working capital
facilities, as discussed above.

Long-term Debt
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, excluding current maturities, consisted of:
 

   
March 31,

2012    
December 31,

2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Medium-term notes payable (interest rates from 6.8% to 8.7%)   $ 398.9    $ 398.9  
6.29% senior notes, maturing in 2016    294.0     294.2  
6.125% senior notes, maturing in 2019    298.4     298.3  
4.875% senior notes, maturing in 2020    299.5     299.4  
3.6% senior notes, maturing in 2021    598.9     598.9  
6.80% senior notes, maturing in 2036    234.8     234.5  
7.0% senior notes, maturing in 2038    199.2     199.2  
Other debt, maturing through 2020 (interest rates from 0.3% to 4.5%)    16.5     28.9  

    
 

    
 

   2,340.2     2,352.3  
Capital lease obligations    22.1     22.1  

    
 

    
 

Total   $2,362.3    $ 2,374.4  
    

 

    

 

Lease Commitments
The Company leases certain of its office and manufacturing facilities, machinery and equipment and corporate aircraft under various committed
lease arrangements provided by financial institutions. Future minimum lease payments under operating leases were $259.3 million at March 31,
2012.
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Note 12. Pensions and Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions
The following table sets forth the components of net periodic benefit cost (income) and the weighted-average assumptions used to determine the
net periodic benefit cost (income). The net periodic benefit cost for divested or discontinued operations retained by the Company is included in the
amounts below:
 
   U.S. Plans   U.K. Plans   Other Plans  

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,   
Three Months Ended

March 31,   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2012   2011   2012   2011   2012   2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Service cost   $ 14.2   $ 12.2   $ 5.0   $ 4.2   $ 2.4   $ 1.7  
Interest cost    42.0    43.1    11.0    10.8    2.2    2.0  
Expected return on plan assets    (54.3)   (52.6)   (16.0)   (15.4)   (2.3)   (2.1) 
Amortization of prior service cost    1.9    1.6    (0.1)   (0.1)   0.1    0.1  
Amortization of actuarial loss    18.9    15.6    3.4    0.4    1.2    0.6  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Gross periodic benefit cost (income)    22.7    19.9    3.3    (0.1)   3.6    2.3  
Curtailment loss (1)    —    —    —    —    1.5    —  

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net periodic benefit cost (income)   $ 22.7   $ 19.9   $ 3.3   $ (0.1)  $ 5.1   $ 2.3  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Termination benefit charge   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 0.7   $ —   $ —  
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

 
(1) Due to the approval of a plan to close a non-U.S. facility, pension assumptions were reevaluated on March 30, 2012 for the remeasurement

of a non-U.S. plan. The facility closure resulted in a curtailment loss of $1.5 million.

The following table provides the weighted-average assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit cost.
 
   U.S. Plans   U.K. Plans   Other Plans  
   2012   2011   2012   2011   2012   2011  
Discount rate    5.03%   5.67%   5.00%   5.81%   4.38%   5.19% 
Expected long-term rate of return on assets    8.25%   8.25%   8.25%   8.25%   8.07%   8.08% 
Rate of compensation increase    4.10%   4.10%   3.75%   3.75%   3.43%   3.40% 
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Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions
The following table sets forth the components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost other than pensions. Other postretirement benefits related
to the divested and discontinued operations retained by the Company are included in the amounts below.
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2012    2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Service cost   $ 0.3    $ 0.3  
Interest cost    3.4     4.2  
Amortization of prior service cost    —     —  
Amortization of actuarial (gain) loss    —     —  

    
 

    
 

Net periodic benefit cost   $ 3.7    $ 4.5  
    

 

    

 

The following table provides the assumptions used to determine the net periodic postretirement benefit cost.
 
   Three Months Ended March 31,
   2012   2011
Discount rate   4.67%   5.29%
Healthcare trend rate   7.5% in 2012 to 5% in 2018   7.5% in 2011 to 5% in 2017

Note 13. Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Total comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following:
 

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,  
   2012    2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Net income attributable to Goodrich   $ 188.2    $ 194.8  
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:     
Unrealized foreign currency translation gains (losses) during the period    68.6     60.6  
Pension/OPEB liability adjustments during the period, net of tax for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 of

($6.5) and ($5.7), respectively    11.5     8.8  
Gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax for the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 of ($16.2) and ($22.7),

respectively    35.2     48.0  
Less: Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests    —     —  

    
 

    
 

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Goodrich   $ 303.5    $ 312.2  
    

 

    

 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following:
 

   
March 31,

2012   
December 31,

2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Cumulative unrealized foreign currency translation gains, net of deferred taxes of ($1.5) and ($1.5),

respectively(1)   $ 123.5   $ 54.9  
Pension/OPEB liability adjustments, net of deferred taxes of $610.6 and $617.1, respectively    (1,047.1)   (1,058.6) 
Accumulated gains (losses) on cash flow hedges, net of deferred taxes of ($12.1) and $4.1, respectively    27.7    (7.5) 

    
 

   
 

TOTAL   $ (895.9)  $ (1,011.2) 
    

 

   

 

 
(1) Other than noted above, no income taxes were provided on foreign currency translation gains (losses) for comprehensive income (loss) and

accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as foreign earnings are considered permanently invested.
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Note 14. Noncontrolling Interests
The changes in the Company’s noncontrolling interests were as follows:
 

   
Three months ended

March 31,  
   2012   2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Balance at January 1   $ 38.4   $ 40.9  
Distributions to noncontrolling interests    (0.7)   (0.7) 
Comprehensive income:    

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests    1.6    1.8  
Other comprehensive income, net of tax    —    —  

    
 

   
 

Comprehensive income    1.6    1.8  
    

 
   

 

Balance at March 31   $ 39.3   $ 42.0  
    

 

   

 

Note 15. Income Taxes
The Company’s effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2012 was 32.1%. Significant items that impacted the Company’s effective
tax rate as compared to the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% included earnings in foreign jurisdictions taxed at rates different from the statutory
U.S. federal rate which reduced the effective tax rate by approximately 2 percentage points, foreign and domestic tax credits and benefits related
to domestic manufacturing which reduced the effective tax rate by approximately 2 percentage points and state income taxes (net of related federal
tax benefit) which increased the effective tax rate by approximately 1 percentage point.
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The Company’s effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2011 was 24.4%. Significant items that impacted the Company’s effective
tax rate as compared to the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% included a tax settlement with the IRS for the remaining unresolved issue for tax
years prior to 2000 which reduced the effective tax rate by approximately 8 percentage points, earnings in foreign jurisdictions taxed at rates
different from the statutory U.S. federal rate which reduced the effective tax rate by approximately 2 percentage points, foreign and domestic tax
credits and benefits related to domestic manufacturing which reduced the effective tax rate by approximately 4 percentage points, state income
taxes (net of related federal tax benefit) which increased the effective tax rate by approximately 1 percentage point and adjustments to reserves for
tax contingencies, including interest thereon (net of related tax benefit), which increased the effective tax rate by approximately 1 percentage point.

At March 31, 2012, the Company had $159.3 million of unrecognized tax benefits; however, the total amount of unrecognized benefits that, if
recognized, would have affected the effective tax rate was $214.8 million. The difference relates to the impact of indirect effects including the
federal benefit of state taxes and interest and penalties net of any related federal benefit as well as temporary differences which do not affect the
effective tax rate. The Company recorded interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

At December 31, 2011, the Company had $162.7 million of unrecognized tax benefits; however, the total amount of unrecognized benefits that, if
recognized, would have affected the effective tax rate was $215.5 million. The difference relates to the impact of indirect effects including the
federal benefit of state taxes and interest and penalties net of any related federal benefit as well as temporary differences which do not affect the
effective tax rate.

Note 16. Contingencies
General
There are various pending or threatened claims, lawsuits and administrative proceedings against the Company or its subsidiaries, arising from the
ordinary course of business which seek remedies or damages. Although no assurance can be given with respect to the ultimate outcome of these
matters, the Company believes that any liability that may finally be determined with respect to commercial and non-asbestos product liability claims
should not have a material effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Legal costs are expensed as incurred.
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Environmental
The Company is subject to environmental laws and regulations which may require that the Company investigate and remediate the effects of the
release or disposal of materials at sites associated with past and present operations. At certain sites, the Company has been identified as a
potentially responsible party under the federal Superfund laws and comparable state laws. The Company is currently involved in the investigation
and remediation of a number of sites under applicable laws.

Estimates of the Company’s environmental liabilities are based on current facts, laws, regulations and technology. These estimates take into
consideration the Company’s prior experience and professional judgment of the Company’s environmental specialists. Estimates of the Company’s
environmental liabilities are further subject to uncertainties regarding the nature and extent of site contamination, the range of remediation
alternatives available, evolving remediation standards, imprecise engineering evaluations and cost estimates, the extent of corrective actions that
may be required and the number and financial condition of other potentially responsible parties, as well as the extent of their responsibility for the
remediation.

Accordingly, as investigation and remediation proceed, it is likely that adjustments in the Company’s accruals will be necessary to reflect new
information. The amounts of any such adjustments could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations or cash flows in a
given period. Based on currently available information, however, the Company does not believe that future environmental costs in excess of those
accrued with respect to sites for which the Company has been identified as a potentially responsible party are likely to have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s financial condition.

Environmental liabilities are recorded when the liability is probable and the costs are reasonably estimable, which generally is not later than at
completion of a feasibility study or when the Company has recommended a remedy or has committed to an appropriate plan of action. The
liabilities are reviewed periodically and, as investigation and remediation proceed, adjustments are made as necessary. Liabilities for losses from
environmental remediation obligations do not consider the effects of inflation and anticipated expenditures are not discounted to their present
value. The liabilities are not reduced by possible recoveries from insurance carriers or other third parties, but do reflect anticipated allocations
among potentially responsible parties at federal Superfund sites or similar state-managed sites, third party indemnity obligations or contractual
obligations, and an assessment of the likelihood that such parties will fulfill their obligations at such sites.
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The changes in the carrying amount of environmental liabilities for the three months ended March 31, 2012, in millions, are as follows:
 
Balance at December 31, 2011   $  68.3  
Accruals and adjustments    6.5  
Payments    (1.9) 
Foreign currency translation and other    0.3  

    
 

Balance at March 31, 2012   $ 73.2  
    

 

At March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, $15.2 million and $13.3 million, respectively, of the accrued liability for environmental remediation
were included in current liabilities as accrued expenses. At March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, $38.2 million and $32.8 million, respectively,
was associated with ongoing operations and $35 million and $35.5 million, respectively, was associated with previously owned businesses.

The Company expects that it will expend present accruals over many years, and will generally complete remediation in less than 30 years at sites
for which it has been identified as a potentially responsible party. This period includes operation and monitoring costs that are generally incurred
over 15 to 25 years.

Certain states in the U.S. and countries globally are promulgating or proposing new or more demanding regulations or legislation impacting the use
of various chemical substances by all companies. The Company continues to evaluate the potential impact, if any, of complying with such
regulations and legislation.

Asbestos
The Company and some of its subsidiaries have been named as defendants in various actions by plaintiffs alleging damages as a result of
exposure to asbestos fibers in products or at formerly owned facilities. The Company believes that pending and reasonably anticipated future
actions are not likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. There can be no
assurance, however, that future legislative or other developments will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations
and cash flows in a given period.
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Insurance Coverage
The Company maintains a comprehensive portfolio of insurance policies, including aviation products liability insurance which covers most of its
products. The aviation products liability insurance typically provides first dollar coverage for defense and indemnity of third party claims.

A portion of the Company’s primary and excess layers of pre-1986 insurance coverage for third party claims, primarily related to certain long-tail
toxic tort and environmental claims, was provided by certain insurance carriers who are either insolvent, undergoing solvent schemes of
arrangement or in run-off. The Company has entered into settlement agreements with a number of these insurers pursuant to which the Company
agreed to give up its rights with respect to certain insurance policies in exchange for negotiated payments. These settlements represent negotiated
payments for the Company’s loss of insurance coverage, as it no longer has this insurance available for claims that may have qualified for
coverage. The portion of these payments which related to recovery of past costs (recognized as expense in prior periods) or for which there are
currently no anticipated future claims is recognized in income when the payments are received. The portion related to potential future claims is
recorded as deferred settlement credits on the balance sheet.

The deferred settlement credits partially offset future costs related to insurable claims utilizing a systematic and consistent approach. The
recognition of the deferred settlement credits is calculated utilizing the estimated percent of costs incurred in the current period that insurance
companies would have reimbursed to the Company if insurance coverage were still in place. This approach utilizes historical claims and insurance
information of the Company and is reviewed and updated at least annually.

A summary of the deferred settlement credits activity for the three months ended March 31, 2012, in millions, is as follows:
 
Balance at December 31, 2011   $  43.5  
Proceeds from insurance settlements    —  
Amounts recorded as reduction of costs    (5.1) 

    
 

Balance at March 31, 2012   $ 38.4  
    

 

The current and long-term portions of the deferred settlement credits were as follows:
 

   
March 31,

2012    
December 31,

2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Accrued expenses   $ 9.2    $ 7.2  
Other non-current liabilities    29.2     36.3  

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 38.4    $ 43.5  
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It is not practical to estimate when the remaining deferred settlement credits are expected to be recognized. The proceeds from such insurance
settlements were reported as a component of net cash provided by operating activities in the period payments were received.

Liabilities of Divested Businesses
In connection with the divestiture of the Company’s tire, vinyl and other businesses, the Company has received contractual rights of indemnification
from third parties for environmental and other claims arising out of the divested businesses. Failure of these third parties to honor their
indemnification obligations could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Aerostructures Long-term Contracts
The Company’s aerostructures business in the Nacelles and Interior Systems segment has several long-term contracts in the pre-production phase
including the Airbus A350 XWB, the A320neo and the Pratt and Whitney PurePower  PW 1000G engine contracts, and in the early production
phase, including the Boeing 787. These contracts are accounted for in accordance with long-term construction contract accounting.

The pre-production phase includes design of the product to meet customer specifications as well as design of the processes to manufacture the
product. Also involved in this phase is securing the supply of material and subcomponents produced by third party suppliers, generally
accomplished through long-term supply agreements.

Contracts in the early production phase include excess-over-average inventories, which represent the excess of current manufactured cost over
the estimated average manufactured cost during the life of the contract.

Cost estimates over the lives of contracts are affected by estimates of future cost reductions including learning curve efficiencies. Because these
contracts cover manufacturing periods of up to 20 years or more, there is risk associated with the estimates of future costs made during the pre-
production and early production phases. These estimates may be different from actual costs due to various risk factors, including the following:
 

 •  Ability to recover costs incurred for change orders and claims;
 

 •  Costs, including material and labor costs and related escalation;
 

 •  Labor improvements due to the learning curve experience;
 

 •  Anticipated cost and/or productivity improvements, including overhead absorption, related to new, or changes to, manufacturing methods
and processes;
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 •  Supplier pricing, including escalation where applicable, potential supplier claims, the supplier’s financial viability and the supplier’s ability
to perform;

 

 •  The cost impact of product design changes that frequently occur during the flight test and certification phases of a program; and
 

 •  Effect of foreign currency exchange fluctuations.

Additionally, total contract revenue is based on estimates of future units to be delivered to the customer, the ability to recover costs incurred for
change orders and claims and sales price escalation, where applicable. There is a risk that there could be differences between the actual units
delivered and the estimated total units to be delivered under the contract and differences in actual revenues compared to estimates. Changes in
estimates could have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations and cash flows.

Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period such losses are determined to the extent total estimated costs
exceed total estimated contract revenues.

Aerostructures’ Boeing 787 Nacelle Contract
The Company’s contract with Boeing for the 787 nacelle extends through 2030 with original equipment sales estimated to be in excess of $10
billion. Aftermarket sales associated with this program are not accounted for using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting.

This program is in the early production phase to be followed by rapidly increasing production rates. For this contract to remain profitable, it will be
important that assumptions are realized as currently estimated in the Company’s outlook, such as:
 

 •  Supplier pricing consistent with projected costs must be negotiated for portions of the product. These prices could be impacted by design
changes, changes in material costs and availability of reliable suppliers in competitive cost countries;

 

 •  New automated equipment is being utilized to manufacture the 787 composite nacelle, which is expected to reduce costs significantly
during the contract period;

 

 
•  Nacelle product design changes continue to occur to improve product performance, reduce weight and lower cost. The Company expects

that some of the costs for these changes will be recoverable from Boeing and also expects to have success on its various cost reduction
initiatives; and

 

 •  Material and overhead cost escalation and inflation assumptions could be different than estimated.
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While the Company continues to believe the contract will be profitable, it is important to note that changes to any of the current cost and/or revenue
assumptions will have a significant impact on the overall profitability of the contract and could have a material impact on the Company’s results of
operations in the period identified. All of the risk factors listed in “Aerostructures Long-term Contracts” above could also affect the Company’s
outlook of profitability on this contract.

Aerostructures’ Pratt & Whitney CSeries Nacelle Contract
The Company’s aerostructures business has a long-term supply contract with Pratt & Whitney (P&W) to supply nacelles and related components
for use on its PurePower PW1000G  engine propulsion systems for the Bombardier CSeries aircraft.

P&W has asserted to the Company that it is entitled to damages as a result of the Company’s alleged breach of its contract with P&W. P&W
believes the Company has failed to meet certain requirements under the contract. The Company believes that it has substantial legal and factual
defenses to P&W’s assertions, and has significant counter assertions of its own. Discussions with P&W are ongoing. Given the nature and status
of these discussions, the Company cannot yet determine the amount or a reasonable range of potential loss, if any. If P&W prevails on its
assertions and the Company does not prevail on its counter assertions, it could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s estimate of
profitability on this contract and/or cash flows in a given period.

JSTARS Program
In 2002, Seven Q Seven, Ltd. (7Q7) was selected by Northrop Grumman Corporation to provide propulsion pods for the re-engine program for the
JT3D engines used by the U.S. Air Force. The Company was selected by 7Q7 as a supplier for the inlet, thrust reverser, exhaust, EBU, strut
systems and wing interface systems. As of March 31, 2012, the Company had $18.5 million (net of advances of $8.8 million) of pre-production
costs and inventory related to this program.

Future program funding remains uncertain and there can be no assurance of such funding. If the program were to be cancelled, the Company
would recognize an impairment.

Tax
The Company is continuously undergoing examination by the IRS as well as various state and foreign jurisdictions. The IRS and other taxing
authorities routinely challenge certain deductions and credits reported by the Company on its income tax returns. See Note 15, “Income Taxes”, for
additional detail.

Tax Years 2007 and 2008
In January 2011, the IRS issued a Revenue Agent’s Report (RAR) for the tax years 2007 and 2008. In February 2011, the Company submitted a
protest to the Appeals Division of the IRS with respect to certain unresolved issues which involve the proper timing of deductions. Although it is
reasonably possible that these matters could be resolved during the next 12 months, the timing or ultimate outcome is uncertain.

Tax Years 2005 and 2006
During 2009, the IRS issued a RAR for the tax years 2005 and 2006. In July 2009, the Company submitted a protest to the Appeals Division of the
IRS with respect to certain unresolved issues which involve the proper timing of deductions. Although it is reasonably possible that these matters
could be resolved during the next 12 months, the timing or ultimate outcome is uncertain.
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Tax Years 2000 to 2004
During 2007, the IRS and the Company reached agreement on substantially all of the issues raised with respect to the examination of taxable
years 2000 to 2004. The Company submitted a protest to the Appeals Division of the IRS with respect to the remaining unresolved issues which
involve the proper timing of certain deductions. The Company and the IRS were unable to reach agreement on the remaining issues. In December
2009, the Company filed a petition in the U.S. Tax Court and in March 2010 the Company also filed a complaint in the Federal District Court. On
January 18, 2012, the District Court granted the government’s motion for partial summary judgment in this matter. Final judgment in the District
Court case cannot be entered until the remaining issues are resolved. It is the Company’s intent to appeal the ruling once final judgment is entered.
The Company believes the amount of the estimated tax liability if the IRS were to ultimately prevail is fully reserved. The Company cannot predict
the timing or ultimate outcome of a final resolution.

Tax Years Prior to 2000
The previous examination cycle included the consolidated income tax groups for the audit periods identified below:
 
Coltec Industries Inc. and Subsidiaries   December, 1997 — July, 1999 (through date of acquisition)
Goodrich Corporation and Subsidiaries   1998 — 1999

The IRS and the Company previously reached final settlement on all but one of the issues raised in this examination cycle. The Company received
statutory notices of deficiency dated June 14, 2007 related to the remaining unresolved issue which involves the proper timing of certain
deductions. The Company filed a petition with the U.S. Tax Court in September 2007 to contest the notices of deficiency.

In December 2010, the Company reached a tentative agreement with the IRS to settle the remaining unresolved issue but due to the size of the
potential refund, the agreement required approval by the Joint Committee on Taxation (JCT). In January 2011, the JCT approved the terms of the
settlement agreement. In March 2011, the U.S. Tax Court accepted the terms of the settlement agreement and agreed to the litigants’ request to
dismiss the matter. The Company recognized a tax benefit of approximately $21 million in the three months ended March 31, 2011.
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Note 17. Guarantees
The Company extends financial and product performance guarantees to third parties. At March 31, 2012, the following environmental remediation
and indemnification and financial guarantees were outstanding:
 

   

Maximum
Potential
Payment    

Carrying
Amount of

Liability  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Environmental remediation and other indemnifications (Note 16, “Contingencies”)    No Limit    $ 12.7  
Guarantees of residual value on leases   $ 28.1    $ —  
Guarantees of JV debt and other financial instruments   $ 49.6    $ —  

The Company has guarantees of residual values on certain lease obligations in which the Company is obligated to either purchase or remarket the
assets at the end of the lease term.

The Company is a guarantor on a revolving credit agreement totaling £35 million between Rolls-Royce Goodrich Engine Control Systems Limited
(JV) and a financial institution. In addition, the Company guarantees the JV’s foreign exchange credit line with a notional amount of $129.3 million
and a fair value asset of $4.4 million at March 31, 2012. The Company is indemnified by Rolls-Royce for 50% of the gains/losses resulting from the
foreign exchange hedges.

Service and Product Warranties
The Company provides service and warranty policies on certain of its products. The Company accrues liabilities under service and warranty
policies based upon specific claims and a review of historical warranty and service claim experience. Adjustments are made to accruals as claim
data and historical experience change. In addition, the Company incurs discretionary costs to service its products in connection with product
performance issues.

The changes in the carrying amount of service and product warranties for the three months ended March 31, 2012, in millions, are as follows:
 
Balance at December 31, 2011   $  157.9  
Net provisions for warranties issued during the period    11.0  
Net change to warranties existing at the beginning of the year    (4.6) 
Payments    (14.8) 
Foreign currency translation and other    2.0  

    
 

Balance at March 31, 2012   $ 151.5  
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The current and long-term portions of service and product warranties were as follows:
 

   
March 31,

2012    
December 31,

2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Accrued expenses   $ 88.3    $ 93.6  
Other non-current liabilities    63.2     64.3  

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 151.5    $ 157.9  
    

 

    

 

Note 18. Derivatives and Hedging Activities
Cash Flow Hedges
The Company has subsidiaries that conduct a substantial portion of their business in Great Britain Pounds Sterling, Euros, Canadian Dollars,
Indian Rupees and Polish Zlotys but have significant sales contracts that are denominated primarily in U.S. Dollars. Periodically, the Company
enters into forward contracts to exchange U.S. Dollars for these currencies to hedge a portion of the Company’s exposure from U.S. Dollar sales.

The forward contracts described above are used to mitigate the potential volatility to earnings and cash flow arising from changes in currency
exchange rates that impact the Company’s U.S. Dollar sales for certain foreign operations. The forward contracts are accounted for as cash flow
hedges and are recorded in the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheet at fair value, with the offset reflected in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (AOCI), net of deferred taxes. The gain or loss on the forward contracts is reported as a component of other
comprehensive income (loss) (OCI) and reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transactions affect
earnings. The notional value of the forward contracts at March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 was $1,727.9 million and $1,933.7 million,
respectively. As of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the total fair value before taxes of the Company’s forward contracts and the accounts
in the condensed consolidated balance sheet in which the fair value amounts are included are shown below:
 

   
March 31,

2012    
December 31,

2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Prepaid expenses and other assets   $ 28.7    $ 15.8  
Other assets    33.2     19.8  
Accrued expenses    6.1     16.0  
Other non-current liabilities    11.6     26.1  
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The amounts recognized in OCI and reclassified from AOCI into earnings are shown below:
 

   
Three months ended

March 31,  
   2012    2011  
   (Dollars in millions)  
Amount of gain/(loss) recognized in OCI, net of tax of ($16.2) and ($22.7), respectively   $ 35.2    $ 48.0  
Amount of gain/(loss) reclassified from AOCI into earnings   $ 0.7    $ 1.2  

The total fair value of the Company’s forward contracts of a $44.2 million net asset (before a deferred tax liability of $10.4 million) at March 31,
2012, combined with $1.1 million of losses on previously matured hedges of intercompany sales, is recorded in AOCI and will be reflected in
income as earnings are affected by the hedged items. As of March 31, 2012, the portion of the net $44.2 million asset that would be reclassified
into earnings to offset the effect of the hedged item in the next 12 months is a gain of $22.6 million. These forward contracts mature on a monthly
basis with maturity dates that range from April 2012 to September 2016. There was a de minimis amount of both ineffectiveness and hedge
components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness during the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011.

Fair Value Hedges
At March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the Company had no outstanding interest rate swaps. Previously terminated swaps are amortized
over the life of the underlying debt and recorded as a reduction to interest expense.

Other Forward Contracts
As a supplement to the foreign exchange cash flow hedging program, the Company enters into forward contracts at certain businesses to manage
its foreign currency risk related to the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the relevant functional
currency. These forward contracts generally mature monthly and the notional amounts are adjusted periodically to reflect changes in net monetary
asset balances. Since these contracts are not designated as hedges, the gains or losses on these forward contracts are recorded in cost of sales.
These contracts are utilized to mitigate the earnings impact of the translation of net monetary assets and liabilities.
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As of March 31, 2012, the Company had no such outstanding forward contracts. During the three months ended March 31, 2012, the Company
recorded a transaction loss on its net monetary assets of $10.3 million, which was offset by gains on the other forward contracts described above
of $6.8 million. During the three months ended March 31, 2011, the Company recorded a transaction loss on its monetary assets of $13.5 million,
which was offset by gains on the other forward contracts described above of $10.2 million.
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Exhibit 99.3

UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

On July 26, 2012 (the “Merger Date”), Goodrich Corporation (“Goodrich”) was merged into United Technologies Corporation (the “Company” or “UTC”) as a
wholly-owned subsidiary of UTC through the acquisition of 100% of Goodrich’s outstanding stock by UTC for $127.50 per share. The total price was
approximately $18.3 billion including the assumption of $1.9 billion of Goodrich debt, net of cash acquired. UTC funded the cash consideration through the
issuance of commercial paper, short-term debt, long-term debt, equity units and available cash. Subsequent to consummation of the merger, Goodrich shares were
delisted from the New York Stock Exchange.

The attached unaudited pro-forma condensed combined balance sheet assumes that the merger was completed on March 31, 2012 and reflects the quarter ended
March 31, 2012 financial statements. The unaudited pro-forma condensed combined statement of income for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 and for the
quarter ended March 31, 2012 assumes the merger was completed on January 1, 2011 and reflects the most recently filed full year 2011 audited financial
statements, and the quarter ended March 31, 2012 financial statements.

The unaudited pro-forma condensed combined financial statements were prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) and should not be considered indicative of the financial position or results of operations that would have occurred if the merger had been
completed on the dates indicated, nor are they indicative of the future financial position or results of operations of UTC and Goodrich following completion of the
merger. In accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, the pro-forma condensed combined statements of income do not reflect the potential realization
of cost savings, or restructuring, or other costs relating to the integration of Goodrich, nor do they include any other items not expected to have a continuing
impact on the combined results of the two companies. The historical consolidated financial information of UTC and Goodrich has been adjusted in the unaudited
pro-forma condensed combined financial statements to give effect to pro-forma events that are (1) directly attributable to the Merger, (2) factually supportable,
and (3) with respect to the statement of income, expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results.

The unaudited pro-forma condensed combined financial information should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes thereto. In addition, the
unaudited pro-forma condensed combined financial information was based on and should be read in conjunction with the:
 

 
•  Separate historical financial statements of UTC as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011 and the related notes included in UTC’s Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011; and the historical financial statements for the quarter ended March 31, 2012,
including related notes, as filed on UTC’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012.

 

 
•  Separate historical financial statements of Goodrich as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 and the related notes included in

Goodrich’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011; and the historical financial statements for the quarter ended
March 31, 2012, including related notes, as filed on Goodrich’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012.
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During 2012, UTC disclosed its intention to divest of a number of non-core businesses. The cash generated from these divestitures is to be used to repay a portion
of the short-term debt issued to help fund the acquisition of Goodrich. As a result, these businesses were reclassified to discontinued operations in our 2012
periodic filings upon meeting the requirements for such presentation. For the year ended December 31, 2011, the results of these businesses remained in
continuing operations in UTC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K and were not reclassified to discontinued operations. These businesses are now classified as
discontinued operations and therefore are excluded from the unaudited pro-forma condensed combined statements of income.

The unaudited pro-forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared using the acquisition method of accounting under Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805, “Business Combinations” which requires, among other things, that assets acquired and liabilities assumed to be recognized at
their fair values, with limited exceptions, at the Merger Date. Transaction costs are not included as a component of the consideration transferred and are expensed
as incurred. The excess of the consideration transferred over the estimated amounts of identifiable assets and liabilities of Goodrich as of the Merger Date has
been allocated to goodwill. The process for estimating fair values in many cases requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including the
estimation of future cash flows, the development of appropriate discount rates, and the estimation of costs and timing required to complete development
programs. The Company has developed its fair value estimates from a market participant perspective which could materially differ from entity specific
assumptions. The Company’s judgments used in determining these estimates may materially impact the Company’s financial position or results from operations.

The finalization of the Company’s purchase accounting assessment may result in changes in the valuation of assets and liabilities acquired, particularly in regards
to the customer relationships intangible asset, which could be material. The Company will finalize the purchase price allocation as soon as practicable within the
measurement period in accordance with ASC Topic 805-10, “Business Combinations – Overall” (“ASC 805-10”), but in no event later than one year following
the Merger Date.
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UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

UNAUDITED PRO-FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF INCOME
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2012

 

(Dollars in Millions, except per share amounts)   UTC    Goodrich  Reclassifications     
Pro-Forma

Adjustments     

Pro-
Forma

Combined 
Net Sales   $ —      $ 2,153   $ (2,153)  7a   $ —       $ —    
Product sales    8,421     —      1,856   7a    (139)  6a   10,138  
Service sales    4,003     —      295   7a    (12)  6a   4,286  

    
 

    
 

   
 

     
 

     
 

Total Sales    12,424     2,153    (2)     (151)  6a   14,424  
    

 
    

 
   

 
     

 
     

 

Cost of sales    —       1,511    (1,511)  7b    —        —    
Cost of products sold    6,329     —      1,282   7b    (83)  6b   7,528  
Cost of services sold    2,612     —      185   7b    5   6b   2,802  
Research and development    547     —      72   7c, 7b    61   6c   680  
Selling, general and administrative    1,535     318    (30)  7d    (53)  6d   1,770  

    
 

    
 

   
 

     
 

     
 

Total Operating Expenses    11,023     1,829    (2)     (70)     12,780  
Other income (expense), net    301     (9)   —     7e    8   6e   300  

    
 

    
 

   
 

     
 

     
 

Operating Profit    1,702     315    —        (73)     1,944  

Interest expense, net    129     35    —        68   6f    232  
    

 
    

 
   

 
     

 
     

 

Income from continuing operations before income taxes    1,573     280    —        (141)     1,712  

Income tax expense    315     90    —        (54)  6g   351  
    

 
    

 
   

 
     

 
     

 

Income from continuing operations    1,258     190    —        (87)     1,361  

Less: non-controlling interests in subsidiaries’ earnings    75     2    —        —        77  
    

 
    

 
   

 
     

 
     

 

Income from continuing operations attributable to common shareowners   $ 1,183    $ 188   $ —       $ (87)    $ 1,284  
    

 

    

 

   

 

     

 

     

 

Earnings per Share of Common Stock from continuing operations:            
Basic   $ 1.33           $ 1.44  
Diluted   $ 1.31           $ 1.42  

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding:            
Basic    890.9            890.9  
Diluted    903.9            903.9  

See the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro-forma condensed combined financial statements which
are an integral part of these financial statements.
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UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

UNAUDITED PRO-FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011

 

(Dollars in Millions, except per share amounts)   UTC    Goodrich  Reclassifications     
Pro-Forma

Adjustments     

Pro-
Forma

Combined 
Net Sales   $ —      $ 8,075   $ (8,075)  7a  $ —       $ —    
Product sales    38,882     —      6,885   7a   (521)  6a   45,246  
Service sales    16,872     —      1,187   7a   (75)  6a   17,984  

    
 

    
 

   
 

     
 

     
 

Total Sales    55,754     8,075    (3)     (596)  6a   63,230  
    

 
    

 
   

 
     

 
     

 

Cost of sales    —       5,503    (5,503)  7b   —        —    
Cost of products sold    29,252     —      4,667   7b   (232)  6b   33,687  
Cost of services sold    11,117     —      764   7b   6   6b   11,887  
Research and development    1,951     —      185   7c   99   6c   2,235  
Selling, general and administrative    6,161     1,236    (116)  7d   (171)  6d   7,110  

    
 

    
 

   
 

     
 

     
 

Total Operating Expenses    48,481     6,739    (3)     (298)     54,919  
Other income (expense), net    573     (34)   —     7e   21   6e   560  

    
 

    
 

   
 

     
 

     
 

Operating Profit    7,846     1,302    —        (277)     8,871  

Interest expense, net    496     138    19   7f    285   6f    938  
    

 
    

 
   

 
     

 
     

 

Income from continuing operations before income taxes    7,350     1,164    (19)     (562)     7,933  

Income tax expense    2,134     346    (19)  7f    (195)  6g   2,266  
    

 
    

 
   

 
     

 
     

 

Income from continuing operations    5,216     818    —        (367)     5,667  

Less: non-controlling interests in subsidiaries’ earnings    385     8    —        —        393  
    

 
    

 
   

 
     

 
     

 

Income from continuing operations attributable to common shareowners   $ 4,831    $ 810   $ —       $ (367)    $ 5,274  
    

 

    

 

   

 

     

 

     

 

Earnings per Share of Common Stock from continuing operations:            
Basic   $ 5.41           $ 5.91  
Diluted   $ 5.33           $ 5.82  

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding:            
Basic    892.3            892.3  
Diluted    906.8            906.8  

See the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro-forma condensed combined financial statements which
are an integral part of these financial statements.
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UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

UNAUDITED PRO-FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET
AS OF MARCH 31, 2012

 

(Dollars in Millions)   UTC   Goodrich   Reclassifications     
Pro-Forma

Adjustments     
Pro-Forma
Combined  

ASSETS:           
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 6,285   $ 704   $ —       $ (461)  4   $ 6,528  
Accounts receivable, net    8,833    1,528    (28)  7g    (72)  6h, 6j    10,261  
Inventories & contracts in progress, net    8,366    3,062    16   7h    (1,337)  6i, 6j    10,107  
Assets of discontinued operations    1,941    —      —        —        1,941  
Other assets, current    2,422    292    25   7i    24   6j    2,763  

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

     
 

Total Current Assets    27,847    5,586    13      (1,846)     31,600  
    

 
   

 
   

 
     

 
     

 

Fixed assets, net    5,835    1,667    74   7h    530   6k, 6j    8,106  
Goodwill    16,169    2,007    —        8,696   6l    26,872  
Intangible assets, net    3,769    919    —        9,181   6m, 6j    13,869  
Other assets    8,104    745    (64)  7h, 7i   (975)  6n    7,810  

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

     
 

Total Assets   $ 61,724   $10,924   $ 23     $ 15,586     $ 88,257  
    

 

   

 

   

 

     

 

     

 

LIABILITIES & EQUITY:           
Short-term debt   $ 300   $ 21   $ —       $ 5,190   4   $ 5,511  
Accounts payable    5,281    869    —        (36)  6j    6,114  
Liabilities of discontinued operations    771    —      —        —        771  
Accrued liabilities    11,978    1,218    65   7i    34   6o, 6j    13,295  

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

     
 

Total Current Liabilities    18,330    2,108    65      5,188      25,691  
    

 
   

 
   

 
     

 
     

 

Long-term debt    9,491    2,362    —        11,292   6q    23,145  
Contractual customer obligations    —      —      —        2,050   6p    2,050  
Other long-term liabilities    10,111    2,422    (42)  7i    1,049   6r, 6j    13,540  

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

     
 

Total Liabilities   $ 37,932   $ 6,892   $ 23     $ 19,579     $ 64,426  
    

 

   

 

   

 

     

 

     

 

Redeemable non-controlling interest   $ 243   $ —     $ —       $ —       $ 243  
Shareowners’ Equity:           

Common Stock    13,653    2,665    —        (2,665)  6s    13,653  
Treasury Stock    (19,400)   (1,118)   —        1,118   6s    (19,400) 
Retained earnings    33,389    3,342    —        (3,342)  6s    33,389  
Other shareowners’ equity    (5,150)   (896)   —        896   6s    (5,150) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

     
 

     
 

Total Shareowners’ Equity    22,492    3,993    —        (3,993)     22,492  

Non-controlling Interest    1,057    39    —        —        1,096  
    

 
   

 
   

 
     

 
     

 

Total Equity    23,549    4,032    —        (3,993)     23,588  
    

 
   

 
   

 
     

 
     

 

Total Liabilities & Equity   $ 61,724   $10,924   $ 23     $ 15,586     $ 88,257  
    

 

   

 

   

 

     

 

     

 

See the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro-forma condensed combined financial statements which
are an integral part of these financial statements.
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UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO-FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

1. Description of Transaction:

On July 26, 2012 (the “Merger Date”), pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated September 21, 2011 (the “Merger Agreement”), Goodrich
Corporation (“Goodrich”) merged into United Technologies Corporation (the “Company” or “UTC”) as a wholly-owned subsidiary of UTC. At the effective time,
and as a result of the merger, each outstanding share of Goodrich common stock was converted into the right to receive $127.50 in cash, without interest (the
“Merger Consideration”), payable to the holder of such share. Each option to purchase shares of Goodrich common stock, whether vested or unvested,
outstanding immediately prior to the merger was cancelled at the effective time of the merger in exchange for a cash payment equal to the product of the number
of shares of Goodrich common stock subject to such option and the excess, if any, of the Merger Consideration over the applicable exercise price of the option.
Each outstanding restricted stock unit of Goodrich outstanding immediately prior to the merger was converted at the effective time into the right to receive an
amount in cash equal to the Merger Consideration multiplied by the number of shares of Goodrich common stock determined under the award agreement for such
unit. Each outstanding time-vesting restricted share unit of Goodrich outstanding immediately prior to the effectiveness of the merger was cancelled in exchange
for a cash payment equal to the Merger Consideration multiplied by the number of shares of Goodrich common stock underlying the restricted share unit.
Account balances, whether vested or unvested, under any employee benefit plan that provided for the deferral of compensation and represented amounts
notionally invested in a number of shares of Goodrich common stock were converted into rights to receive an amount in cash equal to the number of such
notionally invested shares of Goodrich multiplied by the Merger Consideration.

2. Basis of Presentation:

The merger is accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805-10. The Company is accounting for the merger by using the
historical information and accounting policies of UTC and adding the assets and liabilities of Goodrich, as of the Merger Date, at their respective fair values.
Further, and in accordance with ASC 805, the accounting policies of Goodrich have been conformed to those of UTC in determining the results of operations and
the amounts of assets and liabilities to be fair valued. The assets and liabilities of Goodrich have been measured at fair value based on various assumptions that
the Company’s management believes are reasonable utilizing information as of the Merger Date.

The process for measuring the fair value of identifiable intangible assets, liabilities and certain tangible assets requires the use of significant assumptions,
including estimates of future cash flows and appropriate discount rates. The excess of the purchase price (consideration transferred) over the amount of
identifiable assets and liabilities of Goodrich acquired, as of the Merger Date, was allocated to goodwill in accordance with ASC 805-10.

For purposes of measuring the fair value of the Goodrich assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as reflected in the unaudited pro-forma condensed combined
financial statements, the Company used the guidance in ASC Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurement and Disclosure”, which establishes a framework for measuring
fair values. ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date (an exit price). Market participants are buyers and sellers in the principal (most advantageous) market for the asset or
liability. Additionally, under ASC 820, fair value measurements for an asset assume the highest and best use of that asset by market participants.
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3. Accounting Policies:

The unaudited pro-forma condensed combined financial statements reflect adjustments to conform Goodrich’s results to UTC’s accounting policies. Significant
differences between the respective accounting policies that have been adjusted include the following:
 

 

a) Goodrich’s historical contract accounting practices utilized the long-term projected delivery forecasts of underlying aircraft sales to determine the
contract window and quantities over which contract costs were averaged and any potential loss provisions were required. Conversely, UTC practice
is to limit the contract accounting timeframe to firm contractual orders. This results in a considerably shorter contract accounting period with earlier
recognition of actual costs that are in excess of projected long-term averages, which could result in the recording of loss provisions in the early
phases of contracts. See Note 6(i).

 

 

b) Goodrich capitalized pre-production/non-recurring engineering charges on the basis of projected recoverability over the subsequent production
contract. These capitalized costs were then amortized over the production life of the underlying contract. Conversely, UTC expenses pre-production
costs and only capitalizes non-recurring engineering charges when there is a contractually guaranteed recovery from the customer. If capitalized,
UTC amortizes the costs over the production life of the underlying contract. See Note 6(i).

 

 
c) Goodrich capitalized participation payments, entry fees, sales incentives and test/certification costs. These capitalized costs were then amortized over

the related production contract. UTC expenses all costs other than participation payments where there is exclusivity or contractually guaranteed
volume. See Note 6(b).

The financial impact of these adjustments on the unaudited pro-forma condensed combined financial statements is detailed in Note (6) Adjustments to Unaudited
Pro-Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Income. Note (7) discusses reclassifications that have been made to the historical financial statements of
Goodrich to conform to the UTC presentation.

4. Consideration Transferred:

As noted in Note (1), UTC paid $127.50 per share in cash for each outstanding share of Goodrich, for a total cash purchase price of approximately $16.4 billion.
Debt assumed at fair value from Goodrich is approximately $2.4 billion. To partially fund the acquisition, UTC issued $9.8 billion in long-term debt on June 1,
2012 (realized proceeds of $9.6 billion) which was comprised of the following: $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 1.2% notes due 2015, $1.5 billion
aggregate principal amount of 1.8% notes due 2017, $2.3 billion aggregate principal amount of 3.1% notes due 2022, $3.5 billion aggregate principal amount of
4.5% notes due 2042, $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of floating rate notes due 2013, and $0.5 billion aggregate principal amount of floating rate notes
due 2015.

An additional $2.0 billion was borrowed under a short-term loan credit agreement entered into on April 24, 2012, which bears interest at a rate of 0.996% per
annum. A further $3.2 billion was obtained from the issuance of commercial paper in July 2012 that bears interest at a rate of 0.2% per annum.

UTC also partially funded the acquisition through the issuance of 22,000,000 Equity Units on June 18, 2012 for net proceeds of approximately $1.1 billion. Each
Equity Unit has a stated amount of $50 and is initially in the form of a Corporate Unit consisting of (a) a stock purchase contract under which the holder will
purchase from the Company on August 1, 2015, a number of shares of Company common stock, par value $1.00 per share, determined pursuant and subject to the
terms of the Purchase Contract and Pledge Agreement relating to the Equity Unit and (b) a 1/20, or 5.0%, undivided beneficial ownership interest in $1,000
principal amount of the Company’s 1.55% Junior
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Subordinated Notes due 2022. Holders of the Equity Units will be entitled to receive quarterly, contract adjustment payments at a rate of 5.95% per year of the
stated amount of $50 per Equity Unit, subject to the Company’s right to defer such payments.

For the remainder of the cash consideration, UTC utilized approximately $0.5 billion of cash and cash equivalents.

5. Preliminary Allocation of Consideration Transferred to the Net Assets Acquired:

The following summarizes the Goodrich assets acquired and the liabilities assumed by UTC in the merger, assuming the merger had been completed on
March 31, 2012, reconciled to the consideration transferred to Goodrich stockholders (in millions of dollars):
 

Cash   $ 704  
Accounts Receivable    1,428  
Inventories and Contracts in Progress    1,741  
Fixed Assets, net    2,271  
Identifiable Intangible Assets    10,100  
Other Assets    110  
Accounts Payable    (833) 
Accrued Liabilities    (1,328) 
Long-Term Debt    (2,958) 
Contractual Customer Obligations    (2,050) 
Other Liabilities    (3,429) 
Non-controlling Interest    (39) 
Goodwill    10,703  

    
 

Total Consideration Transferred   $16,420  
    

 

6. Adjustments to Unaudited Pro-Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Income:

Adjustments to the unaudited pro-forma condensed combined statements of income for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 and year ended December 31, 2011,
were as follows (all adjustments are in millions):
 

(a) Sales: The total adjustments detailed below reflects the elimination of sales between UTC and Goodrich that were previously third party sales and which
became intercompany sales as of completion of the merger. The net adjustments also reflect the elimination of sales associated with two Goodrich
businesses which are to be sold in accordance with regulatory requirements imposed in connection with the Company’s acquisition of Goodrich, and
adjustments to conform Goodrich’s revenue recognition accounting policy to UTC’s accounting policy related to a revenue sharing program. Finally,
Goodrich classified costs associated with guaranteed performance payments within cost of sales whereas UTC reflects such costs as reductions in sales.

 

   

Quarter
ended March

31, 2012   

Year ended
December
31, 2011  

Elimination of intercompany sales   $ (71)  $ (277) 
Elimination of sales of businesses to be sold    (88)   (349) 
Revenue sharing program    8    56  
Performance payment classification    —      (26) 

    
 

   
 

  $ (151)  $ (596) 
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(b) Cost of Sales: Adjustments to cost of sales are comprised of the following:
 

   

Quarter
ended March

31, 2012   

Year ended
December
31, 2011  

Elimination of intercompany Cost of sales   $ (47)  $ (172) 
Participation fees    —      59  
Pension & post-retirement adjustments    (9)   (30) 
Expensing of pre-production costs previously capitalized    —      5  
Conform excess & obsolete inventory policies    3    4  
Amortization of acquired Goodrich intangible assets    78    312  
Amortization of contractual customer obligation    (38)   (151) 
Elimination of cost of sales of businesses to be sold    (68)   (260) 
Performance payment classification    —      (26) 
Revenue sharing program accounting    8    56  
Depreciation of the step up in fixed assets value    10    37  
Elimination of Goodrich’s historical intangible amortization    (15)   (60) 

    
 

   
 

  $ (78)  $ (226) 
    

 

   

 

 
 Elimination of cost of sales between UTC and Goodrich that were previously third party sales and which became intercompany sales with the merger.
 Adjustments reflect UTC’s policy of expensing any program participation payments or entry fees when exclusivity is not obtained or recovery is not

contractually guaranteed. Goodrich historical policy was to capitalize and subsequently amortize such amounts over the related production revenues.
 Adjustments reflect the elimination of amortization of prior service cost and actuarial loss amortization, which was recorded by Goodrich, as a result of fair

purchase accounting, net of the impact of the revised pension and post-retirement expense as determined under UTC’s plan assumptions.
 Adjustments reflect the expensing of pre-production costs to align with UTC’s practice of expensing such costs as they are incurred. Goodrich capitalized

pre-production costs when those costs were expected to be recovered over the production contract.
 Acquired intangible assets are recognized at fair value in purchase accounting and then amortized to cost of sales and selling general & administrative

expenses over the applicable useful lives disclosed in Note 6(m). The customer relationship intangible assets are being amortized on a straight line basis as
it approximates the underlying economic pattern of benefit.

 UTC has recognized a Contractual customer obligation liability for the costs in excess of revenues expected plus a reasonable margin to meet customer
commitments on certain original equipment manufacturing (OEM) production contracts (see related Note 6(p)). The Contractual customer obligations
liability is estimated to be consumed in accordance with the underlying economic pattern of obligations, as reflected by the net cash outflows on the
underlying OEM contracts. Total consumption of the contractual customer obligation for the first five years is expected to be as follows: $286 million in
year one, $296 million in year two, $223 million in year three, $238 million in year four, and $223 million in year five. Pro-forma adjustments have been
recorded to cost of sales, research & development expense and selling, general & administrative expense in proportion to the cash flow nature of the
consumption of the underlying customer obligations.

 In accordance with regulatory requirements imposed in connection with UTC’s acquisition of Goodrich, UTC must dispose of two Goodrich businesses.
The results of these businesses have been removed from the pro-forma results of continuing operations.

 Goodrich classified costs associated with guaranteed performance payments within cost of sales. This adjustment reflects such costs as a reduction in sales,
consistent with UTC accounting policy.

 Adjustments align Goodrich’s revenue recognition policy to UTC policy related to a revenue sharing program.
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 Adjustment reflects the increased depreciation expense which results from the fair value step-up in fixed assets.
 Adjustment reflects the elimination of intangible asset amortization expense on the historical intangible assets recorded by Goodrich.

 

(c) Research & Development: Increases of $93 million and $226 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 and the year ended December 31, 2011,
respectively, to expense pre-production/non-recurring engineering and flight certification costs that were historically capitalized under Goodrich’s practices.
See related Note 6(i) discussion Research & development was reduced for the consumption of the contractual customer obligation by $32 million and $127
million for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 and year ended December 31, 2011, respectively. See related Notes 6(b) and 6(p) discussion.

 

(d) Selling, General & Administrative Expenses: Adjustments to selling, general and administrative expenses have been made to eliminate Goodrich’s
historical pension plan prior service cost and actuarial loss amortization; to eliminate non-recurring merger-related costs; and to eliminate the expenses of
two Goodrich businesses which UTC is required to sell:

 

   

Quarter
ended March

31, 2012   

Year ended
December
31, 2011  

Elimination of pension plan cost amortization   $ (16)  $ (37) 
UTC fees for advisory, legal and accounting services    (29)   (91) 
Goodrich compensation expense from increased share price as a result of the

deal announcement    —      (18) 
Depreciation/amortization of fair value adjustments to fixed assets, intangible

assets and contractual customer obligation    11    45  
Elimination of selling, general and administrative expenses of businesses to be

sold    (19)   (70) 
    

 
   

 

  $ (53)  $ (171) 
    

 

   

 

 

(e) Other Income, net: As noted below, adjustments to Other Income, net were $8 million and $21 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 and year
ended December 31, 2011, respectively. Adjustments were made to (1) accrete long-term discounted unbilled receivables associated with a revenue sharing
program, and (2) to eliminate Goodrich fees for advisory, legal and accounting services incurred as a result of the merger:

 

   

Quarter
ended March

31, 2012    

Year ended
December
31, 2011  

Long-term unbilled receivable interest accretion   $ 1    $ 3  
Goodrich fees for advisory, legal and accounting services    7     18  

    
 

    
 

  $ 8    $ 21  
    

 

    

 

 

(f) Interest Expense, net: Adjustments to Interest Expense, net were $68 million and $285 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 and the year ended
December 31, 2011, respectively, as follows:

 

   

Quarter
ended March

31, 2012   

Year ended
December
31, 2011  

Interest expense incurred on acquisition financing   $ 78   $ 329  
Additional interest on uncertain tax positions (ASC 740)    5    18  
Amortization of Goodrich debt fair value adjustment    (15)   (62) 

    
 

   
 

  $ 68   $ 285  
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As discussed in Note 4, the debt issued by UTC to finance the acquisition of Goodrich consists of both fixed rate and variable rate debt instruments. The
adjustments to interest expense utilized fixed rates where applicable and the current interest rate on the variable rate instruments. The LIBOR rate used to
calculate pro-forma interest expense is 0.4669%. A 1/8  percent variance in this rate would result in an increase (decrease) to the above noted interest
expense of approximately $0.5 million and $3.0 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 and year ended December 31, 2011, respectively. As
discussed in Note 6(q), historical Goodrich debt was recorded at fair value with this increase being amortized over the remaining term of the debt
instruments.

 

(g) Income Taxes: We have reflected the applicable tax provision on the pro-forma adjustments presented in the unaudited pro-forma condensed combined
statements of income. The pro-forma adjustments pertain primarily to the U.S. tax jurisdiction, and are subject to a 35% federal tax rate, plus applicable
state taxes. However, certain merger-related pro-forma adjustments, as well as financing costs that were added to the historical results, reflect limitations on
deductibility.

Adjustments to the unaudited pro-forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2012, were as follows:
 

(h) Accounts Receivable: UTC recorded an adjustment of $23 million to discount unbilled accounts receivable and conform Goodrich’s accounting associated
with a long-term revenue sharing program.

 

(i) Inventories and Contracts in Progress: The adjustments to inventories and contracts in progress are comprised of several elements: approximately $1.1
billion of inventoried pre-production costs, consisting primarily of tooling, design, and pre-production costs (including applicable overhead), were adjusted
to zero as UTC’s policy is to expense these costs as incurred. Goodrich averaged the production costs on programs over the long-term delivery forecast
under each program. As costs are high on early production units and then decline over time, actual costs on the earlier units produced are higher than the
average. UTC’s policy is to use a substantially shorter contract accounting period, generally defined by firm contractual orders. Inventory was reduced by
$220 million to reflect actual contract margins (versus targeted). An approximately $113 million net adjustment was made to record inventory at fair value.
A $64 million reduction of inventory was made to conform Goodrich’s accounting associated with a long-term revenue sharing program (see also Note 6(a)
and 6(h)).

 

(j) Other assets, current: UTC recorded an adjustment for the impact of pro-forma adjustments on deferred tax accounts, which includes a decrease in current
deferred tax assets of $529 million. This decrease is driven by an adjustment of $541 million to reflect the application of ASC 740 deferred tax netting on a
jurisdictional basis. See Note 6(o) for a related discussion. Two Goodrich businesses are to be sold in accordance with regulatory requirements imposed in
connection with the Company’s acquisition of Goodrich. UTC has recorded the net investment in these businesses within other assets, current. The net
investment in these businesses includes an adjustment of $300 million to increase the investment to fair value expected upon disposition of the businesses.
The net assets and liabilities of these businesses were eliminated from the historical Goodrich balance sheet and include $49 million of accounts receivable,
$88 million of inventory, $5 million of other assets, $63 million of net fixed assets, $125 million of net intangible assets, $9 million of short term debt, $40
million of accounts payable, $12 million of accrued expenses, $4 million of long-term debt and $15 million of other non-current liabilities.

 

(k) Fixed assets: UTC recorded an adjustment of approximately $593 million to increase fixed assets to the appraised fair value.
 

(l) Goodwill: Existing goodwill of Goodrich of $2,007 million was eliminated. The new goodwill recorded of $10,703 million is calculated as the difference
between the Merger Date fair value of the consideration transferred to Goodrich in the merger and the values assigned to the identifiable Goodrich assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized but rather is subject to impairment testing on at least an annual basis.
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(m) Intangible Assets: Existing net identifiable intangible assets of Goodrich of $919 million were eliminated. Acquired identifiable intangible assets were
measured at fair value determined primarily using the “income approach,” which required a forecast of all expected future cash flows either through the use
of the relief-from-royalty method or the multi-period excess earnings method. The estimated fair value of the identifiable intangible assets and their
weighted-average useful lives are as follows:

 
   Fair Value   Useful Life
Customer Relationships/Program Assets   $ 8,450    25 years
Trademark/Trade Names    1,550    Indefinite lived
Other customer relationships    100    10-25 years

    
 

  

  $ 10,100    
    

 

  

 

(n) Other assets: Adjustments include approximately $124 million to eliminate capitalized participation payments and entry fees that Goodrich recorded where
exclusivity or contractually guaranteed recovery did not exist, as required under UTC’s accounting policy. The adjustment to Other assets includes an
increase of $114 million to conform Goodrich’s accounting associated with a long-term revenue sharing program. (See also Notes 6(h) and 6(i)).
Adjustments were also made to write-off $12 million of capitalized debt issuance costs and $8 million of pre-production costs and to eliminate UTC’s pre-
existing cost-method investment in Goodrich of $64 million. An adjustment was made for the impact of pro-forma adjustments on deferred tax accounts
and includes a decrease in non-current deferred tax assets of $881 million. UTC recorded an increase of $1,522 million to non-current deferred tax assets
for the tax impact of fair value adjustments related to acquired liabilities, including pension, debt and the contractual customer obligations. This was offset
by a decrease of $2,403 million to reflect the application of ASC 740 deferred tax netting on a jurisdictional basis. See related Note 6(r) discussion.

 

(o) Accrued Liabilities: UTC recorded the following adjustments to accrued liabilities:
 

 
• Adjustment of $31 million to reflect an estimate of the remaining merger-related transaction costs that were incurred subsequent to March 31, 2012,

but which are reflected in the pro-forma financial statements based on the pro-forma March 31, 2012 merger date.
 

 • Accrual of $86 million for change in control payments due and paid to certain Goodrich management personnel shortly after acquisition.
 

 • Adjustment of $28 million to reduce other accrued liabilities to fair value.
 

 • Adjustment to increase interest payable by $66 million for ASC 740 related uncertainties.
 

 

• A net decrease of $109 million to Goodrich’s historical deferred tax liability and taxes payable. UTC recorded an increase for the tax impact on pro-
forma adjustments and the anticipated repatriation of unremitted earnings from non-U.S. subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2011, Goodrich had not
provided for income taxes on unremitted earnings of approximately $853 million from its non-U.S. subsidiaries. Concurrent with the merger, the
Company has made a determination to
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repatriate certain of these unremitted earnings, making such amounts subject to both U.S. income tax and foreign withholding taxes. Accordingly,
pursuant to ASC 740-30, a deferred income tax liability of $218 million has been provided on the March 31, 2012 balance sheet for the unremitted
earnings no longer considered permanently reinvested. A decrease of $541 million was recorded to reflect the application of ASC 740 deferred tax
netting on a jurisdictional basis. See Note 6(j).

 

(p) Contractual Customer Obligations: An approximately $2.0 billion obligation was established for the fair value of the expected costs in excess of revenues
required to meet commitments on certain customer OEM development and production contracts. Cash flows associated with OEM development and
production contracts tend to be negative in the early years and then marginally positive in later years. The present value of the expected OEM cash flows
aggregate to a net loss of approximately $2.0 billion over the expected life of the applicable contracts. The Contractual customer obligations liability will be
amortized in accordance with the underlying economic pattern of obligations, as reflected by the net cash outflows incurred on the OEM contracts. See
Notes 6(b) and 6(i) for further discussion.

 

(q) Long-Term Debt: Goodrich historical debt acquired was increased by $600 million to reflect its fair value as determined by reference to quoted market
prices. This increase will be amortized over the remaining term of the underlying debt instruments. See related Note 6(f). The remaining adjustment reflects
the issuance of debt and equity units as discussed in Note 4.

 

(r) Other Long-Term Liabilities: Adjustments were made to increase environmental reserves by $163 million based upon an assessment of these exposures and
remediation costs associated with the various properties acquired. Pension, post-retirement and workers compensation liabilities were increased by $694
million to reflect the actuarially determined value of the liabilities and the fair value of pension assets acquired as of the merger date. A net $7 million
reduction was made to fair value other long-term liabilities including deferred settlement credits. An adjustment was made for the impact of pro-forma
adjustments on non-current deferred tax liabilities and long-term taxes payable and includes a net increase of $214 million. This increase is primarily driven
by the tax impact of $2,617 million related to fair value adjustments for acquired intangibles and fixed assets. This was offset by a decrease of $2,403
million to reflect the application of ASC 740 deferred by netting on a jurisdictional basis. See Notes 6(n) and 6(j).

 

(s) Shareowners’ Equity: UTC recorded a net adjustment of $3,993 million to eliminate Goodrich’s historical shareowners’ equity. The amount is comprised of
a $2,665 million elimination of common stock, a $1,118 million elimination of treasury stock, a $3,342 million elimination of retained earnings and an
$896 million elimination of other shareowners’ equity.

7. Reclassifications:

Reclassifications made to the unaudited pro-forma condensed combined statements of income for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 and the year ended
December 31, 2011 were as follows:
 

(a) Sales: For the quarter ended March 31, 2012, amounts are comprised of a $2 million reclassification of royalty income from Sales to Other income, net, and
the segmentation of total sales into product sales and service sales, consistent with UTC policy, with a reclassification of $1,856 million to Product Sales
and $295 million to Service Sales. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, the reclassification adjustment is comprised of a $9 million reclassification
of royalty income from Sales to Other income, net; the segmentation of total sales into product sales and service sales, consistent with UTC’s policy, with a
reclassification of $6,883 million to Product Sales and $1,183 million to Service Sales; and adjustments to record reimbursed research & development of $2
million in Product Sales and $4 million in Service Sales.

 

(b) Cost of Sales: For the quarter ended March 31, 2012, the reclassification adjustment is primarily comprised of the segmentation of total cost of sales into
Cost of products sold and Cost of services sold, consistent with UTC policy, with a reclassification of $1,282 million to Cost of products sold and $185
million to Cost of services sold; a reclassification of $42 million from Cost of sales to separately state Research and development expense, and $25 million
of other reclassifications to Cost of sales. For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, the reclassification adjustment is comprised of the segmentation of
total cost of sales into Cost of products sold and Cost of services sold, with a reclassification of $4,667 million to Cost of products sold and $764 million to
Cost of services sold, a reclassification of $64 million from Cost of sales to separately state Research and development expense, and a reclassification of $8
million in foreign exchange losses from Cost of sales to Other income, net.
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(c) Research and development: Goodrich reflected research & development costs within Cost of sales and Selling, general and administrative expenses. This
reclassification includes $72 million and $185 million, to separately state Research & development, consistent with UTC presentation, for the quarter ended
March 31, 2012 and year ended December 31, 2011, respectively.

 

(d) Selling, general and administrative: As noted above, Goodrich reflected research & development costs within Cost of sales and Selling, general &
administrative expenses. For the quarter ended March 31, 2012 and the year ended December 31, 2011, $30 million and $116 million respectively, have
been reclassified from Selling, general and administrative expenses to Research & development, consistent with UTC presentation.

 

(e) Other income, net: The reclassification of foreign exchange losses on monetary assets and liabilities was offset by the reclassification of royalty income
from Sales to Other income for both the quarter ended March 31, 2012 and year ended December 31, 2011. See related Notes 7(a) and 7(b).

 

(f) Interest expense, net / Income tax expense: For the year ended December 31, 2011, the $19 million adjustment represents the reclassification of interest
expense related to income taxes to Interest expense, net, consistent with UTC presentation. There was no interest expense related to income taxes recorded
by Goodrich in the quarter ended March 31, 2012.

Reclassifications made to the unaudited pro-forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2012, were as follows:
 

(g) Accounts Receivable: Goodrich reported all accounts receivable associated with long-term contract accounting as current. Approximately $28 million of
accounts receivable that are in excess of one year have been reclassified to Other Assets.

 

(h) Rotable Assets: Rotable assets were included in Other Assets in Goodrich’s historical financial statements. Approximately $16 million of rotable assets
have been reclassified into Inventories and $74 million into Fixed Assets, as applicable.

 

(i) Income taxes: The adjustments represent the reclassification of long-term taxes payable to interest payable and related establishment of deferred income tax
asset, in connection with the ASC 740 assessment of tax uncertainties.
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